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Corporate Information
NAEIER

Registered Office

Cricket Square

Hutchins Drive
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COMPANY PROFILE
AL b

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code: 757, Taiwan stock
code: 9157.TT) is a leading supplier of upstream and downstream
vertically integrated solar energy services. Its products are not only
sold to customers in the upstream and mid-stream industries, but
also directly to end users.

During the vyear, the Group was mainly engaged in four main
businesses:

(@)  the manufacturing of, trading of and provision of processing
services for monocrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers;

(b)  the manufacturing and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar
cells;

(c)  the manufacturing and trading of photovoltaic modules; and
(d)  the construction and operating of photovoltaic power plants.

Currently, our integrated business model includes monocrystalline
silicon solar ingot production with annual capacity of approximately
1.2GW, solar wafer production with annual capacity of
approximately 1.2GW, as well as photovoltaic cells production and
modules production with annual capacity of approximately 400MW
and 1.2GW, respectively.

Through vertical integration and strategic partnerships, the Group
actively expanded the business of end-user market apart from its
efforts in stabilizing its upstream and midstream business
development, direct contact with end-users, thereby driving demand
for products from downstream to upstream, covering the entire
industry chain of the photovoltaic sector.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

B % 2

Five-Year Financial Summary TEMBEME
RMB'000 ARETT
2013 2014 2015 2016
—E-=F ZET-MFE ZT-1F ZT—RE
Revenue A 2,150,328 2,864,699 2,899,550 3,020,976 3,999,616
Gross profit EH 149,993 363,917 242,538 329,077 657,873
(Loss)/profit from operations ~ #&& % (j&518) /F| /8 (39,704) 171,085 152,548 (74,289) 251,595
(Loss)/profit attributable to R FEIS (F1E)
equity shareholders 7 H (135,504) (63,846) 15,653 (239,149) 107,462
Basic (loss)/earnings per share &L E AR (EE) /BT
(RMB cents) (ARER) (4.57) (1.99) 0.49 (7.45) 3.35
Non-current assets ERBEE 2,636,556 2,482,521 2,158,228 1,990,045 1,789,319
Current assets B A E 1,603,618 1,798,519 2,554,539 2,284,503 2,821,891
Current liabilities mE A A 2,176,101 2,477,881 2,949,853 2,937,233 3,170,491
Non-current liabilities EnBAE 825,277 627,141 600,051 458,627 405,290
Net assets BEFE 1,238,796 1,176,018 1,162,863 878,688 1,035,429
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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ETREHRES

Dear honourable shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of
Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (“Solargiga” or the
"Company”, together with its subsidiaries referred to
as the “Group”), | hereby present the annual report of
the Company for the year ended 31 December 2017.

BEUNEBRHRR:

RABRRBAEREZRAERLAA (BHBXERIH AT ]
ERAWBARAEE)ESSEC AFURREZL
RABE-F—tFE+- A=+ HLFEZ¥ERS -

TAN Wenhua,
Executive Director and Chairman

BXE JTEEREIE

v Y 1

Asia is still the main source of demand in the photovoltaic industry,
in which China continues to lead the market. China’s installed
capacity surged far beyond expectations and has ranked first in the
world for five consecutive years. Under the growing awareness of
the benefits of high-conversion efficiency monocrystalline
photovoltaic products, it has led to stronger demand for
monocrystalline photovoltaic modules. Its market share has grown
rapidly. In the future, the Group will continue to focus on the PRC,
Japan and other overseas markets, promoting the Group’s
monocrystalline photovoltaic products.

In 2017, with the Group’s improved efficiencies through
transforming manufacturing capacity and technology enhancements,
coupling with the successful expansion of the client base for its
downstream module business, as reflected by the significant growth
in both the number of customers and in the quantity of their
purchases. Consequently, external shipment volume has risen
significantly. The increase in external shipment volume led to
significant growth in the Group’s revenue that amounted to
RMB3,999.6 million, up 32% from RMB3,021.0 million in 2016, thus
continuing to maintain the trend of rapid growth.

During the Year, gross profit increased by 99.9% to RMB657.9
million, while gross profit margin rose strongly to 16.4%. The main
reasons behind such increases include the Group's ability to seize
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Chairman's Statement
FEREE

opportunities brought by the rapidly increasing market share of
monocrystalline silicon photovoltaic products in the end-user market
by employing its vertical integration strategy of monocrystalline
silicon photovoltaic products; the completion of the transformation
process and technology enhancement pertaining to upstream
monocrystalline silicon ingot and monocrystalline silicon wafer
production equipment resulting in improved production efficiency;
and the significant increase in external shipment volume of
monocrystalline photovoltaic modules. With the huge jump in
capacity utilisation, the Group’s bargaining power has improved
significantly and the Group has been able to enjoy the full benefit of
economies of scale. Furthermore, procurement contracts for high-
priced raw materials, polysilicon, have largely been completed in
2016. The Group's bargaining power has therefore improved and
unit purchase price has been lowered. Consequently, an operating
profit of RMB251.6 million has been recorded for 2017. The Group
has also recorded profit for the year of RMB123.8 million, thus
officially achieving a turnaround. Net asset value per share rose to
HKDO0.37.

As announced previously, the Group will invest in a project located
in Qujing City, Yunnan Province, China in two phases. Each phase
will have a capacity of 600MW, with total capacity at 1.2GW. The
first phase is expected to commence mass production by the end of
the second quarter of 2018. Qujing will become the new layout
point of the Group, facilitating expansion of its customer base and
further improvement in the Group's overall manufacturing costs. The
benefit of lower overall cost of ingots and wafers will be enjoyed by
its customers as the Group can provide customers with more
competitively priced products, hence creating win-win situations.

Further, the Group will also expand its annual photovoltaic module
production capacity by 1GW, and expects mass production to
commence by the end of the second quarter of 2018. Subsequent to
such expansion, i.e. the second half of 2018 onwards, the Group’s
monocrystalline silicon ingot and monocrystalline silicon wafer
production capacity will reach 1.8GW while module production
capacity will reach 2.2GW. Solar cell production capacity will
however remain at 400MW. In maintaining its leading technological
advantage in monocrystalline products, and adhering to the vertical
integration strategy, the Group will benefit from advantages at both
the upper and lower stream of monocrystalline silicon products
production.

As mentioned above, growing awareness of the benefits of high-
conversion efficiency monocrystalline photovoltaic modules has led to
stronger demand for modules. Its market share has grown rapidly. As
the Group specialises in monocrystalline photovoltaic products, and
has its own in-house support for high-quality self-manufactured
upstream monocrystalline silicon ingots and monocrystalline silicon
wafers, demand for the Group’s monocrystalline modules has
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Chairman's Statement
FEREE

increased annually. Correspondingly, the proportion of sales derived
from the Group’s monocrystalline modules has increased each year.
This goes to show that the Group’s adherence to its strategy of
vertical integration of monocrystalline products was truly visionary.

With regard to our capacity allocation strategy, we will direct
investments towards manufacturing upstream monocrystalline silicon
ingots/wafers and downstream modules, and plan to increase
downstream module capacity slightly above upstream monocrystalline
silicon ingot/wafer capacity. We will, however, maintain or only
modestly increase the manufacturing capacity of solar cells. Through
this capacity allocation strategy, the Group will be able to satisfy
external demand for its downstream end-user modules, of which the
Group has its largest manufacturing capacity, while boosting internal
demand for its upstream self-manufactured silicon ingots/wafers.
Furthermore, through the strategy of partly self-manufacturing and
partly procuring externally mid-stream solar cells under the
aforementioned strategy to drive the Group’s overall capacity
utilisation from bottom up, we will be able to better mitigate risks
arising from fluctuations in sales of upstream silicon wafers or
unstable supply of mid-stream solar cells. A perfect illustration of our
strategy at work is the recent decline in wafer prices. By satisfying
orders from downstream module customers with the Group’s self-
manufactured silicon wafers, we did not have to follow the market
trend of slashing wafer prices. We consequently were able to
effectively mitigate risks arising from market fluctuation, and protect
the interests of all manufacturing segments of the Group.

The Group will adhere to its strategy of vertical integration of
upstream and downstream monocrystalline products. By satisfying
external demand for its downstream monocrystalline modules, and
boosting internal demand for its upstream monocrystalline silicon
ingots/wafers, the Group will improve the overall gross profit margin
of its self-manufactured monocrystalline module products and
thereby strengthen its profitability. Looking forward, the advantage
of economy of scale will be even more obvious after the
commissioning of the expanded capacities. Photovoltaic module
capacity are allocated to be greater than that of upstream capacity.
This will strengthen the upstream and downstream supply and
demand stability. Further, with the continuing realisation of
advantages in better potential improvement in conversion efficiency,
stabler decay rate in its photovoltaic systems, continued reduction in
unit costs, etc, it is expected that the market share of
monocrystalline silicon products will increase significantly in the next
couple of years.

The Group will, as always, provide the best product application
development and one-stop services to the customers along its fully
integrated photovoltaic industry chain, and aim at becoming a global
leading supplier of one-stop services in solar power generation.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS
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Market Overview

In 2017, the global photovoltaic market experienced strong growth.
According to data from the China Photovoltaic Industry Association*
(FEYIRITEH E), the global newly-added volume of photovoltaic
power generation capacity reached 102 GW (2016: 73 GW), an
increase of over 40% vyear-on-year. Accumulated Photovoltaic
capacity reaches 405 GW. China’s installed capacity surged far
beyond expectations and has ranked first in the world for five
consecutive years. The United States suffered from a slight drop in
installed capacity due to policy risks but still ranked second in the
world. Emerging markets such as India have grown significantly and
have replaced Japan as the third largest in the world.

The installed capacity of China’s photovoltaic power generation
maintained its rapid growth. In the first half of the year, the "630"
installation rush drove the installed capacity of China’s photovoltaic
power stations to its peak, pushing up the annual global
photovoltaic market scale to exceed the 100 GW mark for the first
time. According to the latest data released by the National Energy
Bureau of China (FEIEI R &8 JR /), China’s newly installed capacity
for photovoltaic power generation in 2017 was 53.06 GW (2016:
34.54 GW), a year-on-year increase of 53.6%, a record high. Among
which, 33.62 GW was large-scale photovoltaic power plants, an
increase of 11%; distributed photovoltaic power plants accounted
for 19.44 GW, an explosive growth of 3.7 times. China’s cumulative
installed capacity reached 130.25 GW (2016: 77.42 GW), ahead of
and exceeding the installation target of 110 GW of solar energy for
the “13th Five-Year Plan for Solar Energy Development” ({A& B3 gt 8
‘EI+=A132%1)) by 2020.

* for identification only
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Market Overview (continued)

Looking ahead to 2018, the world’s new photovoltaic installation is
expected to reach 107 GW. According to Bloomberg New Energy
Finance* (Z1&#T8ERES4F) forecast, China’s photovoltaic power
generation industry will continue to maintain a strong growing
trend. Driven by policy incentives and capacity expansion, new
photovoltaic installation capacity will reach the range of 47 GW to
65 GW. Distributed photovoltaic power generation will continue to
develop at a relatively fast pace. It is expected that the proportion of
new distributed power generation installations in the total newly
installed capacity will increase from 38% in 2017 to around 60%.
Energy Trend predicts that China will formally reduce the feed-in-
tariff (FiT) of photovoltaic, and will strictly implement the current
year subsidies from 2019 onwards. This implies there will be two
waves of installation rush, “630” and “1230" this year, in order to
enjoy the higher subsidies. It is expected that by the end of 2020,
the cumulative installed capacity of photovoltaic power generation in
China will reach 250 GW. On the other hand, the analysis also
predicts that the European market will enter the recovery phase.
France, the Netherlands, Spain and other countries will resume on-
grid connection of large-scale ground power stations from the third
quarter of 2018. Further, the European minimum import price (MIP)
will be gradually phased out. After that, Europe will become a more
competitive market, and will become one of the main driving forces
for the global market size to maintain above 100GW in the next two
or three years.

* for identification only
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Market Overview (continued)

During the year, the Company’s capacity utilisation rate remained
high, and the market experienced periods of short supply. Although
the scale of the industry continues to expand, production technology
continues to improve. Production costs continue to decline, and
hence the industry’s overall gross margin remains stable. The
industry has become accustomed to annual “630” and "“930"
installation rushes. Even with the annual cycle of photovoltaic
installations, the annual total installed photovoltaic capacity was still
able to rise steadily.

Since its launch, the Photovoltaic Power Generation Top Runner
Program™ ($8 2% 5T &) has promoted healthy competition through
high standards of technical certification and efficiency requirements.
In addition, in response to the national policy, the National Energy
Bureau of China (FEIBIZ&EJRE) has launched an upgraded Super
Runner Program (8 #% <E #2%& 5T Zl), the program of application of
advance technology on construction of photovoltaic power
generating plants, to encourage and support enterprises with large-
scale and advanced technologies. The Super Runner Program focuses
on the development of high-efficiency products, which include the
Group’s N-type double-sided photovoltaic modules and other high-
end products. These products are expected to gain attention from
the market.

The Chinese government has also developed a special photovoltaic
poverty alleviation program* (3% {K#k & J5 %) to improve the lives of
the poor through photovoltaic power generation. This Program will
help conserve energy and reduce carbon emission. In 2017, China
has developed in excess of 1T0GW photovoltaic power plants under
this program and is expecting to develop a further 20GW per year in
both 2018 and 2019, and by 2020, the total scale will reach 60GW.
This will directly assist 10 million population in poverty, and strive to
get them out of poverty. This photovoltaic poverty alleviation
program places its focus on the distributed power plant market and
is also conducive to the continued growth in the Group’s market
share of the monocrystalline silicon products.

* for identification only
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Market Overview (continued)

On the technical side, as mentioned above, with the improvement of
production process technology and production efficiency, the average
selling price of photovoltaic products has declined in the past few
years, and the gross margin of the industry has remained stable. It is
expected that the Chinese market will maintain a relatively stable
developing trend. According to predictions by China Photovoltaic
Industry Association* (9 B¢ (X 82 )% 1% &), the global photovoltaic
market will maintain its growth momentum. The Guiding Opinions
on Energy-related Work for 2017 {=Z—tFaERTIEREZ R))
issued by the National Energy Bureau of China (BB 4ER B)
urged to stress on the development of solar energy while continuing
to implement the Photovoltaic Power Generation Top Runner
Program* (%82 #& 5t Zl) in order to drive down the costs of
photovoltaic power generation.

In the U.S. market, Energy Trend analysts pointed out that U.S.
Section 201 may impact the U.S. and even the global solar energy
industry supply chain, price and other aspects in the short run.
However, with the support for the photovoltaic projects in each
state, the cost competitive advantage will gradually become
apparent. The installed capacity is expected to maintain steady
growth over the long term. According to the latest research data
from GTM Research and the US Solar Energy Industry Association
("SEIA"), as of the end of 2017, the installed capacity of
photovoltaic power in the United States has exceeded 2GW for eight
consecutive quarters, and approximately 11.8 GW has been newly
connected to the grid in the United States in 2017. According to the
photovoltaic projects planned and currently under construction, more
than 10GW of photovoltaic capacity will be installed each year. By
2022, it is estimated that the annual newly installed photovoltaic
capacity in the United States will exceed 18GW. GTM Research and
SEIA estimate that the cumulative US solar market will increase by
nearly threefold over the next five years.

Energy Trend reported that India has replaced Japan as the third
largest market for photovoltaics in the world with the installed
capacity of 9.62 GW in 2017. India has been actively developing
renewable energy in recent years. The latest research report on the
green energy market shows that the Indian cumulative solar power
generation currently reaches 20GW, of which public utilities
accounted for 18.4GW and rooftop solar accounted for 1.6GW.
India has achieved its national solar power planned target of 20GW
solar power generation by 2022 well ahead of schedule. Hence, the
government has revised the target to 100 GW. The world’s largest
single solar power plant, the Rewa Ultra Mega Solar Project, has also
been through the bidding process and construction is expected to
begin in 2018. Encouraged by the policies, the overall installed
capacity of India in 2018 is expected to increase significantly.

> for identification only

MG E @)

BT - 0 E AT BEE A AR R ATEE - &
EMEERIEF ARERPHEBEREHSE
BEH TR TEEREEARBET it
AmEERERBENERESE - REHE KR
TEHBEHNERN  ERARTENERERES
o BREEREM(—E— L ER R T EREE
BY BRANBEABLE BERELCARTESE
BEZHE EHHREBRATE -

EE™IH A E - Energy TrendD i BifE i - 2 H
01X ERBARNABEHER B ER 2 RAL 4L
EXEOES BREFAERFE  BEERE
MAERFTE LT KABRFEZZEHBE KB
EHREBTDERFEBTEE R - BBGTM Research
MEB KRG aEE XM E ([ SEIA ) /A& 37 7t 2K
AR BE—_T—tFE SEAAXREKREEE
NEEE#BE2ER —E—+FEHHNE11.85
BRI HAAREE LR - RBEBEEEZMAEFH
WIRIBER  BEBLE10E LA L8 AR IR
HERE N _FBE-—F FEAEESELRT
A HEGE B 187 Bl © GTM Research K SEIAf& &1
FERRAF AN R EB K RET 5 8518 #8380
B =1

& B LR MEnergy Trend3R & - 20174 ENE BA
IEREREMEMERMNKRAAK AR LKRE =K
MG -HELFREBERBLELER  RITHOEL
BREBMEMNMERRESE T BATEEZF KRG
REREEEIN0ER AP A LETXEREKER18.45F
- -BIEKRGERI6ER BRERANERTER
ABRASZRNRE_E-__FBEAGLESE
REI05 R BE  BAEEHETBEZE100
#HE o B ATt R 248 & KA K5 86 E IhRewa Ultra
Mega Solar Projectth EBFEIE - BErE=_Z — N\
FHAIR - ZTHRXEH HE-_FT—N\FEE
HHBERBEIR -

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 ##

13



14

Management Discussion and Analysis
BIREwT am T

Market Overview (continued)

In the Japanese market, the government’s zero-energy residential
project “ZEH" is expected to continue to be the main catalyst for
growth in the residential solar installation market. ZEH was launched
in early 2016 to reduce the energy consumption of residential
buildings and enhance its energy efficiency. The target is to have
50% of new residential buildings to be zero-energy housing by
2020. In addition, Japan also introduced a solar bidding system in
October 2017. The overall demand has been stable. The Group has
been penetrating the Japanese market for more than ten years, and
is expected to maintain steady growth in order volume.

Emerging markets have begun to develop in scale, global demand
has been decentralised, and the “One Belt One Road” international
cooperation strategy has promoted the development of emerging
markets. According to predictions by the GTM Research report,
compared with only 8 gigawatt countries in 2017, there will be 13
countries reaching gigawatt status in its annual photovoltaic installed
capacity in 2018, indicating that emerging market demand for
photovoltaic products will lead the rise in overall global demand.
Analysts at Energy Trend predicts that the European market will
enter the recovery phase and become one of the main driving forces
for maintaining the annual global market size at levels above
100GW. France, the Netherlands, Spain and other countries will
resume on-grid connection of large-scale ground power stations from
the third quarter of 2018. Further, the European minimum import
price (MIP) will be gradually phased out. After that, Europe will
become a more competitive market. The Group has achieved success
in developing markets such as Taiwan and Southeast Asia, and will
diversify its sales channels in the terminal module market.

In summary, it is expected that the global photovoltaic market will
continue to grow in the next few vyears. By 2022, the global
cumulative installed photovoltaic capacity is expected to reach 470
GW.

Operations review

The Group is a leading supplier of upstream and downstream
vertically integrated photovoltaic products and services in the PRC.
We sell our photovoltaic products to upstream, midstream and end-
user customers in photovoltaic industry. We focus on the vertical
integration for photovoltaic monocrystalline products, providing one-
stop solutions for the photovoltaic industry ranging from the
manufacturing and sales of silicon ingots and wafers, photovoltaic
cells and photovoltaic modules, the installation of photovoltaic
system and the development, design, construction, operation and
maintenance of photovoltaic generation plants. Apart from not self-
manufacturing polysilicon, the scope of its business covers the whole
industry chain of photovoltaic industry.
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Operations review (continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the Group's production chain includes
1.2GW monocrystalline silicon ingot, 1.2GW monocrystalline silicon
wafer, 400MW solar cell and 1.2GW module production capacities.
However, although the Group possesses the capacities to
manufacture the aforementioned mono-crystalline silicon ingots,
mono-crystalline silicon wafers, solar cells and modules, the
production capacity of each is not exactly the same. The strategy
adopted by the Group is to focus its investments in upstream
monocrystalline silicon ingot/wafer capacities and in downstream
module capacity and to have its downstream module capacity slightly
greater than its upstream monocrystalline silicon ingot/wafer
capacities, while maintaining or only slightly increasing its
manufacturing capacity in solar cells. Therefore, through this capacity
allocation strategy, the Group will be able to satisfy the external
demands for its photovoltaic modules, of which the Group has its
largest manufacturing capacity, while, at the same time, boosting the
internal demands for its monocrystalline silicon ingots/wafers.
Further, through the strategy of partly self-manufacturing and partly
externally-procuring the mid-stream solar cells, under the
abovementioned strategy to drive the Group’s overall capacity
utilisation from bottom up, the Group is able to better mitigate the
market risks arising from fluctuant sales of upstream silicon wafers or
unstable supply of mid-stream solar cells.

Therefore, as mentioned in the announcement dated 25 September
2017, the Group will invest in a project located in Qujing City,
Yunnan Province, China in two phases, each phase representing
600MW capacity, with a total of 1.2GW. The first phase comprising
600MW of monocrystalline silicon ingot and monocrystalline silicon
wafer capacities is expected to commence mass production by the
end of the second quarter of 2018 (for further details, please refer
to the “Silicon Ingot and Wafer Business” section below). By then,
the Group’s manufacturing capacities of monocrystalline silicon ingots
and monocrystalline silicon wafers will each reach 1.8GW. In
addition, as mentioned in the announcement dated 1 March 2018,
the Group will expand the annual photovoltaic module production
capacity by 1GW and is also expecting to commence mass
production by the end of the second quarter of 2018 (for further
details, please refer to the “Module Business” section below). After
the above expansion, from the second half of 2018 onwards, the
Group's monocrystalline silicon wafer and monocrystalline silicon
wafer production capacity will reach 1.8 GW, the solar cell capacity
will remain at 400 MW, and the photovoltaic module production
capacity will reach 2.2 GW.
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Operations review (continued)

In terms of operating results, since upgrade and transformation work
on upstream ingot and wafer manufacturing capacities was
performed in 2016, utilisation ratio was relatively low and the
benefit from economy of scale could not be realised; higher prices
from long-term raw material, polysilicon, supply contract also led to
last year's losses. Since the turn of the year, upgrade and
transformation work on upstream ingot and wafer manufacturing
capacities has improved efficiencies, along with successful
development of the client base of downstream photovoltaic modules,
and external shipment volume increased from 1,543.6MW in 2016
to 2,427.8MW in 2017, representing an increase of 57%. Within
which, subcontracted processing volume also increased from
484.AMW in 2016 to 695.2MW in 2017, representing an increase of
43%. During the year, gross margin was significantly increased to
over 16.4%. Further, long-term supply contract of high-priced raw
material, polysilicon, has mostly been completed and with the huge
jump in capacity utilisation, the Group’s bargaining power has
improved significantly and the Group was hence able to enjoy the
full benefit of economy of scale. Due to the aforementioned reasons,
compared to the operating loss of RMB74.289 million in 2016, an
operating profit of RMB251.595 million was recorded for the year of
2017. The Group has officially turned around its losses.

While maintaining its own leading technological advantage in
monocrystalline products, and adhering to the vertical integration
strategy, through external demand for the Group’s downstream
modules driving the internal demand of its upstream ingots and
wafers, also through establishing and strengthening strategic
partnerships, the Group and its partners will be able to leverage
their respective strengths and experiences in laying a solid
foundation for broader co-operation in the future. For example,
particularly in our solar cell segment with a lower internal capacity,
under the vertical integration strategy of the Group, the Group has
established strong strategic alliances with local and overseas
manufacturers, through which the Group’s photovoltaic wafers are
sold to our strategic partners and the Group in turn purchase solar
cells from them. According to our needs, this arrangement provides
a stable sales channels for our photovoltaic wafers and a secure
source for our solar cells if there is any turbulence in the market. As
such, the Group is able to focus on manufacturing the upper stream
monocrystalline silicon ingots and wafers and also on developing the
markets and sales channels for the downstream photovoltaic
modules at the same time. Hence this becomes the Group’s
competitive advantage by benefiting from its vertical integration
strategy in upper and lower stream monocrystalline silicon products.
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Operations review (continued)
Silicon Ingot and Wafer Business

Apart from not producing its own polysilicon in the scope of
business, the Group's all-rounded photovoltaic industry production
chain with its vertically integrated business model covering both
upstream and downstream businesses allows external sales, which
mainly included sales to huge state-owned enterprises in China, such
as State Power Investment Corporation (FEIEIRE NiXEEE A F])
(“SPIC"), TW Solar Group (& A5 885 E), Motech Industries, Inc.
(MOTECH), etc., of its upstream products such as silicon ingots,
wafers and solar cells which are produced and processed in-house to
strengthen the competitiveness of external market, apart from being
provided to its downstream business.

During the vyear, demand for monocrystalline products had
continuously increased which led to rapid growing market share of
monocrystalline N-type products. Not only the traditional
monocrystalline P-type products, the shipment volume of
monocrystalline N-type products with higher conversion efficiencies
are also increasing. With the continued realisation of advantages in
better improvement in conversion efficiency, more stable decay rate
in its photovoltaic systems, continued reduction in unit costs, etc. of
monocrystalline products, it is expected that the advantages of
monocrystalline products will become more obvious in the field of
photovoltaic power generation, and the market share of
monocrystalline silicon products will further increase significantly.
Further, as mentioned above, through long-term strategic
partnerships with well-known solar cell-focused manufacturers, the
Group may enjoy priority distribution channels for the sales of its
monocrystalline wafers, and ensure long-term stable utilisation of the
Group's capacity and shipment volume.

The Group have consolidated its leading position in the
monocrystalline silicon solar ingot and wafer manufacture industry in
terms of technology and product quality. The quality stability of its
monocrystalline silicon products is amongst industry leading ratios.
During the year, the external shipment volume of monocrystalline
silicon ingots was 315.5MW, representing an increase of 34%
compared to 234.8MW in the corresponding period of 2016. The
increase was mainly due to the increase in the volume of
subcontracted processing of ingots. External shipment volume of
monocrystalline silicon wafers was 822.3MW, representing an
increase of 62% compared to 508.6MW in 2016. Sales increase is
mainly a result of the completion in the technological transformation
and renovation of production equipment. Production is returning to
normal operations and the benefits of economies of scale resuming.
However, while portions of the Group’s monocrystalline silicon solar
ingots and wafers are provided to the downstream solar cell
manufacturing company, the improvement may not be reflected in
the consolidated financial statements under the external sales.
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Operations review (continued)
Silicon Ingot and Wafer Business (continued)

In addition, as mentioned in the announcement dated 25 September
2017, the Group will invest in a project located in Qujing City,
Yunnan Province, China in two phases. Each phase invests 600MW
and the total investment will be 1.2GW in two phases. The first
phase of 600MW capacity is expected to commence mass production
in the end second quarter of 2018. Management believes that there
is local suppliers for raw material, polysilicon, required for the
project, which will significantly reduce the cost involved in raw
material transportation; the local water and electricity costs at the
new plant has to be lower than that at our major production base,
to facilitate the lowering of manufacturing cost of ingots and
wafers; strong support from the local government are available, in
particular financial support obtained for land, warehouses and a
variety of factory facilities, the construction and follow-up operation,
in order to improve the operating efficiency of the new plant. After
careful assessment of the location for capacity expansion, Yunnan
Quijing satisfies all these requirements and was hence selected to be
the location for this investment project. The Group expects the
Qujing Project will become the new layout point of the Group,
expand the customer base for the Group and further improve the
Group's overall manufacturing costs. Reflecting the above benefits in
the lowering of overall costs of our ingots and wafers, transferring
to our customers, the Company will provide our customers with
more competitive products, and as a result creating a win-win
situation.

Solar Cell business

The Group’s production lines of solar cells are located at the Group's
manufacturing base in Jinzhou, Liaoning. During the year, the annual
production capacity of solar cells was 400MW (2016: 350MW). Solar
cells are mainly provided internally to the downstream module
business of the Group, only a small portion is sold to the customers in
China and Japan. The Group's solar cell manufacturing capacity is
highly flexible, products range is hence extensive, which includes
monocrystalline, multicrystalline, P-type high end, N-type double-sided
solar cells, etc. Focusing on the implementation of the vertical
integration strategy on monocrystalline products, most of the solar
cells being main products are mainly provided to the Group’s
downstream solar modules companies.
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Operations review (continued)
Solar Cell business (continued)

Besides, in terms of solar cell production process, in addition to the
current mass production capacity of monocrystalline P-type solar cells
and the mainstream of the future of monocrystalline N-type solar
cells, the Group also possesses the technology reserves including
P-type mono-crystalline solar cell Passivated Emitter and Rear Cell
(PERC) technology, which is gradually gaining market share, multi-
crystalline black silicon solar cell technology, etc. In addition, the
Group has also been collaborating with university teams of the
highest levels in the field of global perovskite (5 §4%&) research in
projects to jointly develop perovskite solar cells, in order to pave the
way for solar cell development in the next decade and keep abreast
of the latest trends in the photovoltaic industry.

Module business

During the year, demand for solar modules has grown rapidly and it
led to an increase in photovoltaic module sales. External shipment of
the Group reached 1,252MW, compared to 769MW for 2016,
representing an increase of 62%. The increase in external shipment
was mainly the result of the successful development of the client
base, reflected in the significant growth in both the number of
customers and in the quantity of their purchases. External sales was
mainly made to huge Chinese state-owned enterprises and Japanese
multinational composite enterprises, such as CGN New Energy
Holdings Co., Ltd. (FF Bl E#Z #T6E0R ?Hﬁﬁﬁi@ﬁj) (“CGN"), China

Huadian Corporation (4 B # & & B A 7)) (“Huadian”), Beijing
Enterprises Holdings Limited (il:)?\ ?%%‘%ﬁﬁﬁ’&ﬂ) (“BEGCL"),

SHARP Corporation and SANSHIN ELECTRONICS CO., LTD. etc..
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Operations review (continued)
Module business (continued)

Following the increasing awareness of the benefits of high
conversion efficiency solar modules is a stronger demand for high
conversion efficiency solar modules and a rapid growth in this
market. With the introduction of the “Top Runner Program”, “Super
Runner Program” and other favourable policies, coupled with the
further growth in the market share of monocrystalline silicon
products with higher photovoltaic conversion efficiencies, demand for
N-type monocrystalline photovoltaic modules has surged. As the
Group specialises in monocrystalline silicon photovoltaic products,
with its own in-house support of high-quality self-made upstream
monocrystalline silicon ingots and monocrystalline silicon wafers,
customer demand for the Group’s high conversion efficiency solar
modules increases every year. The proportion of sales of the Group’s
monocrystalline silicon photovoltaic modules climbed from 58%:42%
mono-to-multi-crystalline in 2016 to that of 75%:25% in 2017. In
addition to flexibly supporting the manufacturing of mono- and
multi- crystalline photovoltaic modules, the Group will continue to
expand and strengthen the development and sales of
monocrystalline silicon high-efficiency module products such as
N-type double-sized glass photovoltaic modules, half-cell photovoltaic
modules, P-type monocrystalline solar cell Passivate Emitter and Rear
Cell (PERC), smart photovoltaic modules, and Super Runner Program-
related high-end products.

With the Group’s focus on vertical integration of upstream and
downstream monocrystalline photovoltaic products, demand for
downstream monocrystalline photovoltaic modules not only drives the
internal demand for the Group’s upstream ingots and wafers, but
also helps to realise the benefits of the Group’s competitive
advantage of its vertical integration and improve the Group’s
consolidated gross profit margin.

In addition, as mentioned in the announcement dated 1 March
2018, the Group will expand the annual photovoltaic module
production capacity by 1TGW and is also expecting to commence
mass production by the end of the second quarter of 2018. After
the expansion, the photovoltaic module production capacity will
reach 2.2 GW. By directly satisfying the demands for its downstream
photovoltaic modules by end user customers, the Group is able to
boost production of its self-manufacturing wafers. It is able to better
mitigate the market risks arising from fluctuant sales of upstream
silicon wafers or unstable supply of mid-stream solar cells.
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Operations review (continued)

Construction and operation of photovoltaic system
business

To consolidate its advantages of the business model of vertical
integration, the Group actively expanded the business of end-user
market apart from its efforts in stabilising its upstream and
midstream business development, thereby driving demand for
products from downstream to upstream. As such, in respect of the
business opportunity derived from the construction of distributed
power plants, apart from establishing internal photovoltaic power
plant system companies of the Group, the Group also plans to
establish joint venture companies with companies from other
industries, in order to share the profits and also provide extra
distribution channels for the Group’s module sales. In respect of
large-scale centralised power plants, the Group will, through
investing as minority shareholders, seek construction opportunities as
an EPC service provider and help drive the sales of the Group’s
modules.

Financial Review
Revenue

The cost of photovoltaic power generation must continue to decline
as technology continues to improve in order to replace traditional
petrochemical energy in a larger scale and to effectively achieve the
goal of green and clean energy. As such, although the average
selling price during the year declined substantially over last year, as
a result of successful customer development, the size of the
customer base and the purchases by individual customers are
showing strong growing trends. The external shipment volume
increased significantly by 57% compared to last year. As a result, for
the year ended 31 December 2017, the Group recorded revenue of
RMB3,999.616 million, which was an increase of 32% from
RMB3,020.976 million in 2016, and continued to maintain a rapid
growth trend.

Cost of sales

For the year ended 31 December 2017, cost of sales increased by
24% to RMB3,341.743 million from RMB2,691.899 million of last
year. The increase in cost of sales was mainly due to the increase in
external sales volume. Cost of sales represented 83.6% of total
revenue, representing a decrease of 5.5 percentage points from
2016. The decline in this ratio was made possible by the completion
of the transformation of machinery and equipment during the year,
which resulted in a significant increase in utilisation of production
capacity with significant improvement in production efficiency. This
highlighted the benefits of economies of scale.
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Financial Review (continued)
Gross profit and gross profit margin

The Group recorded a gross profit of RMB657.873 million and a
gross profit margin of 16.4% in 2017, as compared to a gross profit
of RMB329.077 million and a gross profit margin of 10.9% in 2016.
The significant improvement in the gross profit and the gross profit
margin was mainly driven by the following reasons:

(1)

With the rapid increase in the end-user market share of
monocrystalline silicon solar products, the Group’s
consolidated gross profit margin has been significantly
improved as a result of the Group’s strategy focusing on the
vertical integration of upstream and downstream
monocrystalline silicon solar product lines through the entire
production chain;

as transformation and upgrade of the upstream monocrystalline
silicon ingot and monocrystalline silicon wafer production
equipment have been completed, production efficiency has
improved. With the increase in the utilisation of production
capacity during the year, the advantage of economy of scale of
monocrystalline silicon ingot and monocrystalline silicon wafer
is shown;

due to successful customer development of the downstream
modules customer base, the number of the customers and the
size of each purchase by individual customers are showing
strong growing trends. The external shipment volume of
monocrystalline photovoltaic modules increased significantly.
The demand for downstream monocrystalline photovoltaic
modules not only drives the internal demand for the Group’s
upstream ingots and wafers, but also helps better mitigate the
market risks arising from fluctuant sales of upstream silicon
wafers or unstable supply of mid-stream solar cells;

long-term procurement contracts for high-priced raw materials,
polysilicon, have mainly been completed in 2016. With high
utilisation of production capacity coupling with the increase in
the Group's purchases during the year, the Group’s bargaining
power improved. Unit purchase price was lowered as a result.

Selling and distribution expenses

Selling and distribution expenses mainly comprised packaging

expenses,

freight charges and insurance expenses. Selling and

distribution expenses increased to RMB67.701 million in 2017 from
RMB30.471 million in 2016. The increase in selling and distribution
expense was mainly due to the increase in volume of external
shipment in 2017.
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Financial Review (continued)
Administrative expenses

Administrative expenses mainly comprised staff costs and research
and development expenses. The administrative expenses in 2017
amounted to RMB410.995 million, increased by 26% as compared to
RMB326.304 million in 2016. The increase was mainly due to the
continuous enhancement of manufacturing process and existing and
new products, which resulted in an increase in research and
development expenses. In turn, it led to an increase in administrative
expenses.

Finance costs

Finance costs represented mainly bank loan interests. The Group's
finance costs increased from RMB117.102 million in 2016 to
RMB121.702 million in 2017, a slight increase of 3.9%. As
mentioned above, revenue of the Group has grown increased
significantly from RMB3,020.976 million in last year to
RMB3,999.616 million in this year, representing an increase of
32.4%. Given the significant increase in corresponding purchases, no
noticeable increase in the Group’s finance cost was recorded. It was
a result of better financial control on the use of funds during the
year. With a turnover in profit, the financial structure of the Group
has been further improved, creating more room for negotiation of
finance costs. The Group expects to continue reducing finance costs
in the future and will obtain various different financing channels.

Income tax

Income tax credit was RMB8.86 million in 2017, while an income tax
expense amounted to RMB17.442 million was recorded in 2016.
Income tax credit recorded in 2017 was mainly due to the
recognition of the Group’s deferred tax assets.

Profit attributable to the equity holders

The Group recorded a profit attributable to the equity shareholders
of RMB107.462 million in 2017, as compared to a loss attributable
to the equity shareholders of RMB239.149 million in 2016.
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Financial Review (continued)
Inventory turnover days

In order to replace traditional petrochemical energy in a larger scale
and to effectively achieve the ultimate goal of green and clean
energy, continuous technological advancement has driven down the
prices of photovoltaic products over the years. This led to declining
trends in prices of many related raw and auxiliary materials for
production and finished products. Hence, in terms of inventory
reserve strategy, the Group has been focusing its efforts in raising
inventory turnover and lowering the inventory turnover days in order
to mitigate the risk of a sudden decline in inventory prices, help
reduce committed capital and, at the same time, further strengthen
the Group’s operation working capital. As a result, the Group's
inventory turnover days has been lowered to 58 days during the year
(2016: 86 days).

Trade receivable turnover days

The Group completed the vertical integration of upstream and
downstream monocrystalline silicon products in 2011. Apart from not
producing polysilicon in-house, the scope of the Group’s business
covers self-production of monocrystalline silicon ingots,
monocrystalline silicon wafers, solar cells and solar modules.
However, due to the large capacity of upstream products in earlier
years, external sales were at the time dominated by monocrystalline
silicon wafers. Hence, to get closer to the customer needs of the
module end-user market, the capacity of module production
gradually increased from 400 MW in 2013 to 1.2 GW in 2017.
Under the rapid growth of the capacity of module production, the
solar modules sales accounted for over 70% of the Group’s overall
sales. According to the terms of the industry’s general module sales
contract, the recovery of module receivable depends on the
construction progress of the photovoltaic power plant. For instance,
some trade receivables can only be recovered after the customer’s
photovoltaic power plant is connected to the grid. In addition, 10%
of the total amount of receivable are retained as a warranties. This
warranty will generally be recovered in around one year. As a result,
the trade receivables turnover days of module business are generally
longer. From the rapid growth of the ratio of revenue in modules
sales of the Group, the trade receivables turnover days of the Group
increased to 96 days (2016: 63 days) in 2017.

Trade payable turnover days

The trade payables turnover day was 96 days (2016: 102 days)
during the year. Compared with 102 days of last year, the turnover
days was kept at around the same level and has met the Group's
target in payable payment days.

SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 aERIZIRBIR A A

Bt %% B B8 (@)

FEIEBEAH

BTREBBREFALER REXEREEE
RERNXKER XREREEOFREZR
MR MFEE TR BURBEEMS N R
MEMERDOEBREAZERERNBE A
I AEBEFTENREREL TERRESH
ERAEERMBRETESEEAS R LNHBRT
EERRAETHRNER  BRIINAIRDESER
ME—FTRELERAES WFRALAEBRFER
#EEEESSH (T — /<4 :86H) °

EWE SR EEH

AREBR T —FHERTERERLTHE
EEABILBALEERN EXBKEER T X
BITHEEZRMEN BERfEE - ERER S
HHEEERTEE BEUHERENERRAE
BERA WMEREINEEDNDUNERERFAE A
- ABTEELREXRAETEORRLF K
AU EREH - T — = F400JK L B0 48 14 FE 52 3% 1R
FAE_ZT—tEMI2E5 R EAGELHRIERK
ET #HAHHEHELSEOHEEREBHE Z70%5
FoRBBTE-—RAGFHESRKR  AHEIK
R E W EBRN B ERAEE - flin: F
PEKREZERFERELNEMHAEZIREKE -
BEoh - R B A EBRIR R AREMI0%ERERS -
HERSEBEBRH —FAOU  SAFEBRER
EORFBBALTERK ARAEEHAGHESES
HEERALERERE ER-_T—tF4E
EEKEZE SRR BEAEMNEISH (ZT—RF :
63H) °

JENE SEREFEEH

AEENE SEREFBEEH A6EEEN L2102
BELEIK EFAEEEEZNRRENETE
Bz



Management Discussion and Analysis
BIRE SR kT

Financial Review (continued)
Liquidity and financial resources

The principal sources of working capital of the Group during the
year were cash flows from bank borrowings. As at 31 December
2017, the current ratio (current assets divided by current liabilities) of
the Group was 0.89 (31 December 2016: 0.78). The Group had net
borrowings of RMB1,636.798 million as at 31 December 2017
(31 December 2016: RMB1,538.358 million), including cash in bank
and on hand of RMB191.185 million (31 December 2016:
RMB293.628 million), pledged deposits of RMB219.097 million
(31 December 2016: RMB384.661 million), bank loans due within
one year of RMB1,922.322 million (31 December 2016:
RMB2,036.867 million) and non-current bank and other loans of
RMB124.758 million (31 December 2016: RMB179.78 million). The
net debt to equity ratio (net debt divided by total equity) was
158.1% (31 December 2016: 175.1%). Further details on the capital
structure of the Group are set out in note 44 of Note to
Consolidated Financial Statements of this Annual Report.

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and
amortisation (“EBITDA")

Earnings before interest, taxes, depreciation and amortisation
(“EBITDA") for the year was RMB433.734 million (10.8% to revenue)
which showed solid improvement from RMB130.913 million (4.3% to
revenue) in 2016. The driving force behind the improvement in
EBITDA was the improvement in the Group’s manufacturing process
efficiency. Machinery and equipment after technical upgrade has
gradually resumed production, illustrating economy of scale. Results
of research and development has also come to fruition in 2017.

Foreign currency risk

The Group is exposed to foreign currency risk primarily through sales
and purchases, cash, bank deposits and bank loans that are
denominated in a currency other than the functional currency,
Renminbi, of the operations to which they relate. The currencies
giving rise to this risk are primarily the US Dollar and Euro. The
Directors do not expect any significant impact from the change in
exchange rates since the Group uses foreign currencies received from
customers to settle the amounts due to suppliers which naturally
mitigates the exchange rate risk. In addition, the Group will consider
the difference in interest rates and fluctuations in the exchange rates
of foreign currency-denominated and local currency-denominated
loan balance, and the need to mitigate the risk through low-risk
forward contracts, in order to strike a balance between the exposure
to the variations in interest costs and fluctuations in foreign
exchange rates.
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Financial Review (continued)
Human resources

As at 31 December 2017, the Group had 3,565 (31 December 2016:
3,664) employees. Remuneration packages including salaries, bonuses
and share options are granted to employees according to individual
performance and are reviewed according to general market
conditions every year. Training programmes were provided to
employees on an ongoing basis.

Future prospects and strategies

In accordance with the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan of China, the
installed solar capacity is targeted to reach over 110GW by the end
of 2020 including an installed photovoltaic capacity of over 105GW,
market confidence was greatly boosted, creating favourable
conditions for photovoltaic growth and development in China. As at
the end of 2017, China has exceeded the installation target set out
in the Thirteenth Five-Year Plan well ahead of schedule. Analysts
expect that, by the end of 2020, culminated installation will surge
above 250GW. Under the improving environment in the global
photovoltaic industry and the frequent launches of favourable
policies and plans by the PRC government, the advantage of high
conversion ratios, stable decay rate in its photovoltaic systems,
continued reduction in unit cost, etc. of monocrystalline products are
highlighted. In addition, with the increased attention by national
policy on distributed solar power plants, markets of monocrystalline
products are expected to grow continually. Hence, monocrystalline
products are becoming the popular choice in solar projects and the
market share of monocrystalline products is improving. The
proportion of solar plants installing monocrystalline PV systems and
the monocrystalline products used by distributed power plants have
increased as a result. Further, since the introduction of the “Top
Runner Program” (the “Program”), the Program has promoted
healthy competition through high standards of technical certification
and efficiency requirements. Further, in view of this, the National
Energy Bureau launched an upgraded version of the national “Top
Runner Program”, the program of application of advance technology
on construction of photovoltaic power generating plants, also known
as the “Super Runner Program”, focusing and promoting large-scale
and advanced technology companies. “Super Runner Program”
considers efficient product development as its main focus, this
includes double-sided photovoltaic modules, black silicon
photovoltaic modules, half-cell photovoltaic modules and smart
modules. The Group’s high-end product, N-type double-sided
photovoltaic modules, is expected to gain attention from the market.
Amongst all solar products, by focusing on the development of
monocrystalline products, the Group commands industry-leading
technology for the production of monocrystalline products. Through
vertically integrating its upstream and downstream manufacturing
capacities, apart from not self-producing polysilicon, the Group
covers the whole industry chain of the photovoltaic industry, fully
leveraging the synergy among different business segments of the
Group.
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Future prospects and strategies (continued)

The strategy adopted by the Group is to focus its investments in
upstream monocrystalline silicon ingot/wafer capacities and in
downstream module capacity and to have its downstream module
capacity slightly greater than its upstream monocrystalline silicon
ingot/wafer capacities, while maintaining or only slightly increasing
its manufacturing capacity in solar cells. Therefore, through this
capacity allocation strategy, the Group will be able to satisfy the
external demands for its photovoltaic modules, of which the Group
has its largest manufacturing capacity, while, at the same time,
boost the internal demands for its monocrystalline silicon ingots/
wafers. Further, through the strategy of partly self-manufacturing
and partly externally-procuring the mid-stream solar cells, under the
abovementioned strategy to drive the Group’s overall capacity
utilisation from bottom up, the Group is able to better mitigate the
market risks arising from fluctuant sales of upstream silicon wafers or
unstable supply of mid-stream solar cells.

In addition, detailed strategy of each business segment is also
discussed as follow:

1. Monocrystalline ingots and monocrystalline wafers

The Group is a leading supplier of monocrystalline ingots and
monocrystalline wafers. As the market share of
monocrystalline products continues to grow, the Group will
continue to assess suitable locations to expand its capacities to
manufacture more competitive monocrystalline ingots and
monocrystalline wafers (eg. the Group’s monocrystalline ingot
and monocrystalline wafer expansion project in Qujing, Yunnan
province as previously announced, with a scale of 1.2GW,
which will better utilise the local conditions, in order to lower
its manufacturing costs), hence allowing the Group to continue
to strive to maintain its status as a top five manufacturer of
monocrystalline wafers. Expansion of capacities will be funded
by the internal resources of the Group and/or bank financing
if necessary.

2. Solar cells

Under the Group's vertical integration strategy, solar cell is the
segment with less production capacity. The Group hence
formed strong long-term strategic partnerships with local and
overseas well-known solar cell-focused manufacturers, which
strengthens the mutual working relationship. As a result, the
Group will sell its upstream wafers to the strategic partners
and in turn the strategic partners will provide the Group with
the solar cells needed for module manufacturing. As such, the
Group will be able to focus its resources in developing its
monocrystalline ingots, monocrystalline wafers or photovoltaic
modules. On the other hand, to the solar cell-focused
manufacturers, they will be able to obtain a stable supply of
monocrystalline wafers and also a stable sales channel of solar
cells, and achieving a win-win target.
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Future prospects and strategies (continued) ARBERKE &

3. Photovoltaic modules 3. A
As a result of successful customer development, the size of the BEEAMGEFPHNAEEN  BFHE BEKE
customer base and the purchases by individual customers are HEHERKAREN MATREE,®
showing strong growing trends. In order to satisfy further ko g REETAGER  AEEPER T
customer needs, the Group will expand its module capacity at RNEGHERE 2] o o TEABEB TN
the opportune moment and aim to become a top 10 module AHHESEM  UEBARERE iR 8
provider of China. Further, the increase in sales of BREBXR - MAlEBEEENNSmEREMNT
downstream modules and also the increase in the proportion EmEELEEM E—FPRALXEEES
of sales of high-end module, which earns higher gross profit MERERMETHEEEAERE  E—FIE
margins, not only drive the internal demand for the Group's FEHEFE-

upstream ingots and wafers, but also improve the Group's
consolidated gross profit margin under its vertical integration
strategy.

=2

4.  Construction and Operating of Photovoltaic Systems 4. RH

Business

In respect of the business opportunity derived from the ERAELE BEEZXGEE - flan: E)
construction of distributed power plants, apart from 1ﬁ?¥¢3|57%’ié$iﬂ1¢§%%ﬂ@’&ﬂé\ﬁﬁiﬁ
establishing internal photovoltaic power plant system subsidiary RFEHBEPO) AR HXRAFAZE S HA BN
companies, the Group also plans to establish joint venture B EUDZERY Eﬁ%’*%f’{ﬂﬂ?l\ - IR Al 3
companies with companies from other industries, in order to MEEBAMFHEELEO - MEtHRALF
share the profits and also provide extra distribution channels XEW AFEBRINRRIEESARAR
for the Group’s module sales. In respect of large-scale SREPCHAB EHZ S B RMAMHENEE -

centralised power plants, the Group will, through investing as
minority shareholders, seek construction opportunities as an
EPC service provider and help drive the sales of the Group's

modules.
Audit Committee EREES
The Company’s Audit Committee has reviewed the accounting ARREZZECEEBEAEERMNGTIRA
principles and practices adopted by the Group and the Group's RKERUERAEEHZ T ti‘?‘ A=+—

annual results for the year ended 31 December 2017, and has HBIFFEME2FE£LE EnREAKREIR RIPEL
discussed and reviewed the risk management, internal control and NMEREEE T HLERH -
reporting matters.

Dividend HQEL
No final dividend was paid in 2017 (2016: Nil). The Directors do not —tFERTEIRNRPRE (= NE
recommend the payment of a final dividend for 2017 (2016: Nil). 71:) EETERER =T — ‘tix)ﬁﬁéifi,ﬁﬂ ,m(f
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Closure of Register of Members

The register of members of the Company will be closed from
15 June 2018 to 21 June 2018, both days inclusive, during which
period no transfer of shares will be effected. In order to be eligible
to attend and vote at the forthcoming annual general meeting of
the Company, all transfers accompanied by the relevant share
certificates must be lodged with the branch share registrar of the
Company in Hong Kong, Computershare Hong Kong Investor
Services Limited at Rooms 1712-16, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre,
183 Queen’s Road East, Wanchai, Hong Kong not later than 4:30
p.m. on 14 June 2018.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TERERMSE

Overview

The Board strived to uphold good corporate governance and
adopted sound corporate governance practices. This report outlines
the principles and the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”), as contained in Appendix 14 of the
Rules (the “Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities on The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) which
have been adopted by the Group.

The Company has established the audit committee (the *“Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Code to oversee the financial
reporting procedures and internal controls of the Group so as to
ensure compliance with the Listing Rules. The Company has also
established a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”)
and a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”)
(collectively, the “Board Committees”) with defined terms of
reference. The terms of reference of the Board Committees have
been posted on the websites of Stock Exchange and the Company.

The Group has implemented a compliance manual which covers areas
such as ongoing compliance obligations of the Company and the
Directors, business operations of the Group, financial management
systems, human resources management systems, internal control
systems, quality assurance and property management systems. In the
opinion of the Board, all the code provisions set out in the Code
were met by the Company throughout the financial year ended
31 December 2017.

Compliance with the Model Code for
Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules as the standard for securities
transactions entered into by Directors. The Company has made
specific enquiries of all the Directors and all the Directors confirmed
that they have complied with the required standards as set out in
the Model Code and its code of conduct regarding Directors’
securities transactions throughout the financial year ended
31 December 2017.
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The Board of Directors

The Board takes the responsibility to oversee all major matters of the
Company, including the formulation and approval of overall business
strategies, internal control and risk management systems, and
monitoring the performance of the senior management. The
Directors have the responsibility to act objectively in the interests of
the Company. The Directors also assume the following
responsibilities for corporate governance as set out in code provision
D3.1 of the Code:

(@) to develop and review an issuer’s policies and practices on
corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b)  to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of directors and senior management;

(c) to review and monitor the issuer’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
directors; and

(e)  to review the issuer’s compliance with the code and disclosure
in the Corporate Governance Report.

As at 31 December 2017, the Board comprises seven Directors,
including three executive Directors: Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman),
Mr. TAN Xin (Chief Executive Officer) and Mr. WANG Junze (formerly
known as WANG Chunwei) (Chief Financial Officer), one non-
executive Director: Mr. HSU You Yuan, and three independent non-
executive Directors: Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert, Ms. FU Shuangye
and Mr. ZHANG Chun. The names and biographical details of the
Directors are set out on pages 43 to 46 of the annual report. The
Board has a strong independent element in its composition with over
half of the board members being non-executive Directors to ensure
that all decisions of the Board are made in the best interest of the
Group's long-term development.

The Board has delegated various responsibilities to the Board
Committees. Further details of these committees are set out below
on pages 36 to 38.
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Board Meetings

The Company holds Board meetings regularly, at least four times a
year at approximately quarterly intervals. Ad-hoc meetings will also
be convened if necessary to discuss the overall strategy as well as the
operation and financial performance of the Group. Notice of Board
meeting will be sent to all Directors at least 14 days prior to a
regular Board meeting. Reasonable notices will be given to the
Directors for ad-hoc Board meetings. Directors may participate either
in person or through electronic means of communications. The
Company will provide relevant materials to all the Directors relating
to the matters brought before the meetings. All the Directors will be
provided with sufficient resources to discharge their duties, and,
upon reasonable request, the Directors will be able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at the
Company’s expenses. All Directors will have the opportunity to
include matters in the agenda for Board meetings.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, 6 Board meetings and 1
Shareholders meeting were held and the attendance of individual

Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Attendance/Number of Meetings

Board Shareholders
Name of Directors meetings meetings
Executive Directors
Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman) 6/6 01
Mr. TAN Xin 6/6 171
Mr. WANG Junze (formerly 6/6 1N
known as WANG Chunwei)
Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan 6/6 0/1
Independent non-executive
Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 6/6 01
Ms. FU Shuangye 5/6 0/1
Mr. ZHANG Chun 6/6 0/1
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Independent non-executive Directors

All independent non-executive Directors possess a wealth of
professional and industry expertise and management experience and
have provided their professional advices to the Board. They have
played a significant role in the Board by virtue of their independent
judgment and their views carry significant weight in the Board'’s
decision. In particular, they bring impartial views to the Board on
issues of the Company’s strategy, performance and control. The
Board also considers that independent non-executive Directors
provide independent advice on the Company’s business strategy,
results and management so that all interests of shareholders are
taken into consideration, and the interests of the Company and its
shareholders are taken into account in all business decisions. The
Company has received from each of the independent non-executive
Directors an annual confirmation of his/her independence pursuant to
Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company considers that all the
independent non-executive Directors are independent in accordance
with the Listing Rules.

Appointments, Re-election and Removal of
Directors

Each of Mr. TAN Wenhua and Mr. TAN Xin has been appointed as
an executive Director for a specific term of three years commencing
from 28 June 2017, and Mr. WANG Junze (formerly known as
WANG Chunwei) has been appointed as an executive Director for a
specific term of three years commencing from 29 June 2016. Such
terms are subject to re-appointment by the Company at an annual
general meeting upon retirement.

Mr. HSU You Yuan has been appointed as non-executive Director for
a specific term of three years commencing from 29 June 2016. Such
terms are subject to re-appointment by the Company at an annual
general meeting upon retirements.

Mr. ZHANG Chun has been appointed as an independent non-
executive Director for a specific term of three years commencing
from 29 June 2016, Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Ms. FU
Shuangye has been appointed as an independent non-executive
Director for a specific term of three years commencing from 28 June
2017 and 29 June 2015 respectively. Such terms are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election in accordance with the articles
of association of the Company.

In accordance with the provisions of the Company's articles of
association, Mr. WANG Junze (formerly known as WANG Chunwei),
Mr. HSU You Yuan and Ms. FU Shuangye will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting and being eligible, and will
offer themselves for re-election at the annual general meeting.
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Training and Professional Development

All Directors should participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. The
Directors have been given relevant guideline materials to ensure that
they are apprised of the latest changes in the commercial, legal and
regulatory requirements in relation to the Company’s businesses, and
to refresh their knowledge and skills on the roles, functions and
duties of a listed company director.

All Directors had provided a record of training they received during
the year to the Company. According to the training records provided
by the Directors, the trainings attended by them during the
reporting period is summarised as follows:

Trainings on corporate
governance and
Directors regulatory development
Executive Directors
Mr. TAN Wenhua (Chairman)
Mr. TAN Xin
Mr. WANG Junze (formerly known as
WANG Chunwei)

ANENEN

Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan v

Independent Non-executive Directors
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert

Ms. FU Shuangye

Mr. ZHANG Chun

<SS
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Chairman and Chief Executive Officer

Under code provision A.2.1 of the Code, the roles of the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer ("CEQ") should be separated and
should not be performed by the same individual.

Mr. TAN Wenhua since 1 October 2015 served as both the
Chairman and the CEO, such practice deviates from code provision
A.2.1 of the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14
to the Listing Rules (the “Code”), following Mr. Hsu You Yuan's
stepping down from the position of CEO, so as to maintain the
continuity of the policies and the stability of the operations of the
Company. In order to alleviate the workload from the dual roles of
Chairman of the Board and CEO and better comply with the
principles and the code provisions set out in the Corporate
Governance Code in Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing
of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited, Mr. TAN
Wenhua, has stepped down from the position of CEO of the
Company and Mr. TAN Xin has been appointed as the CEO of the
Company with effect from 6 October 2016.

The overall management of the Company was performed by the
CEO, executive Directors and senior management of the Company.
The executive Directors (Mr. TAN Wenhua, Mr. TAN Xin and
Mr. WANG Junze (formerly known as WANG Chunwei)) who have
extensive experience in the solar energy industry and their respective
areas of profession, spearhead the Group’s overall development and
business strategies.

EFERITHRAR
BT R BEA2E - E R RAT B R (77 B
CEDEEY ShEEN RN 12

ERAMTERTERRITER B —4F
TA—BR BXEAEREIEREERTE
BERMEARBELTRRME T OFAHEEELT
AL([=F AL A2 MEST AR - B R EREM
BIOBABEYBNAEARRRERNS Al A%
FHRENEEUEARKRRBEENBEL - Rl
BITREREEEEIFERARANERFATE
([EFEATEDNIEE URETEHERCE
BHERXZMARARES ETARRDME+ M
(EEERTDZRAR TG EXERE
BEARANERAUTE 2B MESELEE
REREBREATE B-ZE—R"EF+ARARE
R o

THREH ARAHTEERSREEEERR
REIERBEF - NTEFTEXERLE EEXL
REBZERBERR)EE RABREERS
BEEXEETHRELEENER SASEERHE
REEBREEEFIEAE -

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 ##

35



36

Corporate Governance Report

/\L/‘vﬁr AN

E/EI:F&IZI

Board Committees
Audit Committee

The Company has established the Audit Committee with written
terms of reference in compliance with Rules 3.21 to 3.23 of and
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the Audit
Committee include overseeing the financial reporting processes and
internal control procedures of the Group, reviewing the financial
information of the Group and considering issues relating to the
external auditor. Currently, the Audit Committee consists of three
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Dr. WONG Wing Kuen,
Albert (Chairman), Ms. FU Shuangye and Mr. ZHANG Chun.

In 2017, the Audit Committee met 2 times and the attendance of
individual Directors at these meetings is set out below:

Attendance/

Number of

Name of Directors meetings
Independent non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (Chairman) 2/2

Ms. FU Shuangye 1/2
Mr. ZHANG Chun 2/2

The Audit Committee has reviewed the Group’s interim financial
report for the six months ended 30 June 2017 and annual
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017, including the accounting principles and practices adopted by
the Group, and has also discussed auditing, internal control and
financial reporting matters with the management. The Audit
Committee also monitored the Company’s progress in implementing
the Code as required under the Listing Rules.

Remuneration Committee

The Company established the Remuneration Committee pursuant to
a resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 pursuant
to Rules 3.25 to 3.27 of and Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The
primary duties of the Remuneration Committee include making
recommendations to the Board on the Company’s structure for
remuneration of Directors and senior management and on the
establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing
policy on such remuneration. Currently, the Remuneration
Committee consists of four members; three of whom are
independent non-executive Directors, namely, Ms. FU Shuangye
(Chairman), Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and Mr. ZHANG Chun,
and one is an executive Director, namely, Mr. TAN Wenhua.

SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 aERIZIRBIR A A

EEZEE

%ﬁ ZEeg

AAFCER EHRBIE3.2123.2316 LK 8+
mﬁm& EREES WAZEIHAHBES
B -EZZEeNIEREQEEBRALSENG
BRERBFRADELREF ZHAEEHEE
BoUAREEERIINEZHMNET -BZEE
CHRENH=-BBLIERTEEHAMN BT kEE
:ﬂi%%ﬁ%%ﬁi&%%%io

R-ZT—tF ERZEQLRT2REE " ME
EEHFERERNBEREINT

HER
EEHS SERE
JFBITES
FoxEBL(EE) 2/2
FRELL 1/2
RHESTE 2/2
EZLEEeRENAEEEEZ T —+FA=1
E¢AMHZ¢%Wﬁﬁ¢&a —T—+tF+=
A=+ HBLEFEZFEZKAUBRE  BIEL
SERMAN S ERNRESN  TEHAEEER

V% NMEERMERRERE - ERZE SN
ELAN/N Tﬁﬁimﬁ%zXﬂﬂv%ZEﬁo

TET S = A
FMEE=

BiE FHRAIFE3.2583.2716 K M+ MAIEF
AABEREBEER=_ZZNF_A=-+tAHB
BRRERAUTHEZEE S - FTHEESHNEE
BEPERARAIEERaREEABNET NG
BURRFGTZEFHRRILEAREERAE
WEF MESSHELEBER Bl FMEE
Am@%ﬁﬂﬂﬂ ER =R ABYIERITES
B RELT(EFE) EkEBLIRRELEEN
R—BPITEBEELLE -



Corporate Governance Report
(SEERRE

Board Committees (continued)
Remuneration Committee (continued)

In 2017, the Remuneration Committee met once and the attendance
of individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Attendance/
Number of
Name of Directors meetings
Independent non-executive Directors
Ms. FU Shuangye (Chairman) 171
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 11
Mr. ZHANG Chun 1Al
Executive Director
Mr. TAN Wenhua 11

The Remuneration Committee has made recommendations to the
Board regarding the remuneration policy of the Company. In
addition, it has also reviewed and approved management’s
remuneration proposal and directors’ service contracts by reference
to corporate goals and objectives resolved by the Board, and ensured
that no Director or any of his/her associates is involved in deciding
his/her own remuneration.

Nomination Committee

The Company established a Nomination Committee pursuant to a
resolution of the Directors passed on 27 February 2008 pursuant to
Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules. The primary duties of the
Nomination Committee include making recommendations to the
Board on the Company’s policy and structure for recruiting Directors
and senior management and on the establishment of formal and
transparent procedures for nomination procedures and process and
criteria adopted by the Nomination Committee to select and
recommend candidates for directorship and senior management.
Currently, the Nomination Committee consists of four members;
three of whom are independent non-executive Directors, namely,
Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman), Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert and
Ms. FU Shuangye, and one is a non-executive Director, namely,
Mr. HSU You Yuan.

In 2017, the Nomination Committee met once and the attendance
of individual Directors at the meeting is set out below:

Name of Directors Attendance
Independent non-executive Directors

Mr. ZHANG Chun (Chairman) 1/1
Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert 171
Ms. FU Shuangye 171
Non-executive Director

Mr. HSU You Yuan 11
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Board Committees (continued)
Nomination Committee (continued)

The Nomination Committee has discussed matters relating to the
appointment of senior management members during the year. The
Nomination Committee also considered and resolved that all the
existing Directors shall be recommended to be retained by the
Company.

Board Diversity

The Board has a board diversity policy which is available on the
Company’s website. In order to achieve a diversity of perspectives
among members of the Board, it is the policy of the Company to
consider a number of factors when deciding on appointments to the
Board and the continuation of those appointments. Such factors
include gender, age, cultural and educational background, ethnicity,
professional experience, skills, knowledge, length of service and the
legitimate interests of the Company’s principal shareholders. The
Board considered the Company has achieved the objective of board
diversity during the year.

Remuneration of Directors and Senior Management

Particulars of the Directors’ remuneration for the year ended
31 December 2017 are set out in note 9 to the Financial
Statements.

Pursuant to code provision B.1.5 of the CG Code, the remuneration
of the members of the senior management (other than the Directors)
whose particulars are contained in the section headed “Directors and
Senior Management” in this annual report for the year ended
31 December 2017 by band is set out in note 10 to the Financial
Statements.

Financial Reporting and Internal Control
Financial Reporting

The Board, supported by the Chief Financial Officer and the Finance
Department of the Company, is responsible for the preparation of
the financial statements of the Company and the Group. In the
preparation of financial statements, Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards have been adopted and the appropriate accounting
policies have been consistently used and applied. The Board aims to
present a clear and balanced assessment of the Group’s performance
in the annual and interim reports to the shareholders, and make
appropriate disclosure and announcements in a timely manner.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control (continued)
Auditors’ Remuneration

The performance and remuneration of the external auditors of the
Company, Ernst & Young, have been reviewed by the Audit
Committee. For the year ended 31 December 2017, the fees paid
and payable to Ernst & Young and other external auditors in respect
of audit services amounted to approximately RMB2,641,000 (2016:
RMB2,790,000). In addition, approximately RMB387,000 (2016:
RMB275,000) was charged for other non-audit services.

Risk management and internal control

The Board is responsible for the risk management and the internal
control of the Group and for reviewing its effectiveness. The
Company conducted regular review to monitor the Company’s
internal management and operation during the year. Procedures have
been designed to review the risk management functions and to
ensure maintenance of proper accounting records for the provision
of reliable financial information for internal use or for publication,
ensure compliance of applicable laws, rules and regulations.

During the year, the Board supervised the management’s design,
implementation and monitoring of the risk management and internal
control systems, and reviewed the adequacy and effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems of the Group; such
review covered all major control aspects of the Group, including
financial, operational and compliance controls.

The Group's internal audit team plays an important role in
monitoring the internal governance of the Company. The internal
audit team mainly monitors and reviews the matters relating to the
internal control and compliance of the Company, and provides
regular risk-oriented internal audits for its subsidiaries. The internal
audits cover sales, financial reporting and information security and so
on. The internal audit team reports to the Board once a year. The
review covered each of the twelve months of 2017.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control (continued)
Risk management and internal control (continued)

In order to fulfil their fiduciary duties and duties of skill, care and
diligence, the Directors will constantly seek advice and assistance
from the Company’s internal legal team and if necessary, seek advice
from external legal advisors in Hong Kong and the PRC. The
Company also adopted internal control procedures relating to,
among others, signing authority and procedures since February
2007. The Company has an Audit and Legal Department consisting 3
members with extensive experience in the legal field. The main duties
of the Audit and Legal department include:

o providing legal advice on major business decisions

o reviewing and drafting legal documents

o handling legal disputes

o advising on legal issues related to daily operations

o conducting internal training for compliance matters

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the Board considered that
the Group's risk management and internal control systems are
adequate and effective and the Company has complied with the
Corporate Governance Code.

Directors’ responsibility on the financial statements

The Directors acknowledged their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2017, which
were prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards.

The reporting responsibility of the external auditor of the Company,
Ernst & Young, on the consolidated financial statements of the
Group are set out in the independent auditor’s report on pages 69
to 74.

Going concern

Other than the events stated in note 2.1 to the Financial Statements
on pages 88 to 90, there are no material uncertainties relating to
events or conditions that cast significant doubt upon the Group’'s
ability to continue as a going concern.
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Financial Reporting and Internal Control (continued)
Investors Relations

The Company places strong emphasis on its communications with
investors, and considers that maintaining on-going and open
communications with investors can promote investors’ understanding
of and confidence in the Company. The Company disclosed all
necessary information to the Shareholders in compliance with the
Listing Rules and met with media, securities analysts, fund managers
and investors on a regular basis to respond to their enquiries so as
to provide them with a clearer picture of the Company’s
achievements in business management and other aspects.

The general meeting of the Company is also an effective
communication channel between the Board and Shareholders. The
Company will meet with the Shareholders and respond to their
enquiries in the general meetings. The executive Directors attended
the annual general meeting of the Company held on 28 June 2017.

Shareholders’ Rights

Convening an extraordinary general meeting of the
Company (“EGM")

Pursuant to article 58 of the articles of association of the Company,
Shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not
less than one-tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying
the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all
times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the
Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called by the Board for
the transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and
such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of such
requisition.

There are no provisions allowing Shareholders to move new
resolutions at general meetings under the Cayman Islands Companies
Law (2011 Revision) or the articles of association of the Company.
Shareholders who wish to move a resolution may request the
Company to convene a general meeting following the procedures set
out in the preceding paragraph.
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Shareholders’ Rights (continued)
Enquiries from Shareholders

Shareholders may send written enquiries, either by post or by
facsimile, together with his/her contact details, such as postal
address, email or fax, addressing to the Board at the head office of
the Company at the following address or facsimile number:

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited

Room 1402, Harbour Centre

25 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

Attention to: Board of Directors/Company Secretary

Fax: 852 3416 2111

Changes to Constitutional Documents

During the year ended 31 December 2017, there was no significant
change in the Company’s constitutional documents, and these
documents are published on the websites of the Company and the
Stock Exchange.

SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 aERIZIRBIR A A

BREREF &

% R 2 3
BREASEEEN(THBEREE)ER LA
488 K (I TB 25 H0 3~ {8 B 5B B dR A T o dt
FEERBEEIRAATNERER T ESS -

B% St sEIRIERR AR 2 )

BE
AT
785 VE JE 2555

BARLI402E
EMA BB/ DNaE

EESRH © 852 3416 2111

BEXHED
RBE-F—+F+-A=+-BILEER &
RAZBEXHLREARD  KEBEXHT
5 A2 R R B 3% B 4B O



DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT PROFILE

EENSHREEAEGTE

Directors
Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua (#% X ), aged 61, an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Board. He was one of the founders of the Jinzhou
Plants in 2001. He was conferred various honours including the
Model for the Labour of the Building Materials Systems of the
Nation, the medal of [ May 1st] Labour of Liaoning Province, the
Builders Merit award of Liaoning Province, the Outstanding Member
of the China Communist Party, the Outstanding Entrepreneur of the
Building Materials Industry of the Nation, the Venture Entrepreneur
of the Liaoning Province and First Prize Entrepreneur of Jinzhou. He
is also a guest professor of Liaoning University of Technology and
Vice President of Bohai University. Prior to the founding of Jinzhou
Plants, he was the Chairman of SR E A XKW (EE) BEREF
A\ (Jinzhou Xinhua Quartz Glass (Group) Co., Ltd.) and the
Director of #®J—FA AM (Jinzhou 155 Factory), a state-owned
factory engaging in quartz crucibles manufacturing. He has been
granted a special subsidy by the State Council in 2004 for his
contribution in engineering technology. He is the father of Mr. Tan
Xin, the executive Director of the Company and Chief Executive
Officer of the Company.

Mr. TAN Xin (i&%%), aged 34, is an executive Director and the Chief
Executive Officer of the Company. He joined the Group in July
2005. He holds a bachelor’s degree of Marketing from the Macau
University of Science and Technology, and a master's degree of
Business Administration from University of East Anglia, the U.K.
Mr. Tan is also the representative at the 11th and 12th member
congress of the National Association of Industry and Commerce (&
B T P 8t), Representative at the 17th National Congress of the
Communist Youth League (& &), Standing Committee Member of
the 11th and 12th Liaoning Province Association of Industry and
Commerce (EEA TH ¥ A ), and the Vice President of the
Liaoning General Chamber of Commerce (EZ 4 #7 &), Standing
member of the 10th and 11th Liaoning Province Youth Federation
(BELSFHASEBEZEFMHE), Member of the 12th and
Standing Member of the 13th Jinzhou Municipal Committee of the
Chinese People’s Political Consultative Conference (8811 % + = J&
BWEZE, F+=[EHHEHKZE), and President of the Jinzhou
Youth Chamber of Commerce. Mr Tan was awarded the Liaoning
“Excellent Entrepreneur” (835 (&% %K), the 4th Constructors’ Medal
(V0 fE 2R E ), the “May 1st Labour Medal” (L — % 848 5),
the Jinzhou “Model Workers” (5812 £3), “Meritorious Entrepreneur
“(D B> %K), "Outstanding Private Entrepreneurs” (BFRE D%
%) and “Top 10 New Industrial Enterprises” (I %+ K # i > ¥ %)
and “Top Ten Young Entrepreneurs” (+E& F %K) and other
honorary titles. Before taking the role of the Chief Executive Officer,
Mr. Tan also worked in other subsidiaries within the Group and
accumulated plenty of experiences from his prior positions. He is the
son of Mr. TAN Wenhua who is an executive Director and the
Chairman of the Company.
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EEMEREEABRKE

Directors (continued)
Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. WANG Junze (E %92 (5178 £ & {&)) (formerly known as WANG
Chunwei), aged 46, is an executive Director and the Chief Financial
Officer of the Company. He joined the Company on 1 January 2007
and was the Company is deputy general manager of China region,
who was responsible for the accounting and finance matter of the
Group. He obtained a Master of Business Administration from the
State University of New Jersey (Rutgers). He is a certified public
accountant in Maryland, the United States. Prior to joining the
Group, he was a Special Assistant to President & Deputy Spokesman
of The Office of General Manager of WWX, the Spokesman and
Chief Financial Officer of Panram International Corp., a company
listed on the Gre Tai Securities Market in Taiwan.

Non-executive Director

Mr. HSU You Yuan (FF#h i), aged 63, a non-executive Director of
the Company. He joined the Group on 6 February 2007 and was
appointed an executive Director on the same date. He graduated
with a master degree in Business Administration from the Chinese
Culture University in 1980. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. HSU was
the Managing Director of Wafer Works Corp. ([ WWX |) from 1998
to 2003 and later became the Vice-Chairman of WWX in 2003.
WWX is a manufacturer of silicon wafer for the semiconductor
industry and is listed on the Gre Tai Securities Market in Taiwan in
2002. He was the managing director of Silicon Technology
Investment (Cayman) Corp. and was appointed the Chief Executive
Officer of Solar Technology Investment (Cayman) Corp., responsible
for overseeing, amongst others, WWX'’s investment in the solar
energy industry. In March 2006, he was appointed a director and he
was subsequently appointed as the Chairman of the board of
Jinzhou Youhua in September 2006. Mr. HSU’s previous work
credentials also include acting as Deputy General Manager of Mosel
Vitelic Inc., a company listed on the Taiwan Stock Exchange and as
a director and Executive Vice-President of Mosel Vitelic (Hong Kong)
Limited, a subsidiary of Mosel Vitelic Inc. Mr. HSU had also made
contributions to non-commercial sectors in the past. He served as a
researcher, a deputy director, and the director of Business
Department of the Executive Yuan Development Fund of Taiwan
(Note: Executive Yuan Development Fund is now known as National
Development Fund, Executive Yuan). He was also a lecturer of
Statistics and Managerial Mathematics for the Business
Administration department at the Chinese Culture University.
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Directors and Senior Management Profile
EENRREEABBE

Directors (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert (E5k#E), aged 66, was appointed an
Independent non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Dr. Wong is
a fellow member of The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and
Administrators, The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries,
The Taxation Institute of Hong Kong, Chartered Institute for
Securities and Investments, UK, Association of International
Accountants, Society of Registered Financial Planners, Hong Kong,
The Institute of Certified Public Accountants in Ireland, UK, as well
as a member of Hong Kong Securities Institute, The Chartered
Institute of Arbitrators, Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants and an associate member of The Chartered Institute of
Bankers in Scotland, UK. Dr. WONG had been a director and Chief
Executive Officer of Minghua Group International Holdings Limited, a
listed public company in the United States, until 30th September
2004. Dr. WONG had also been an independent non-executive
director of Rare Earths Global Limited, a company listed on the
London Stock Exchange — AIM Market, since March 2012, and
retired as an independent non-executive director on 2 May 2014
because of the cancellation of admission on AIM of the Ordinary
Shares of Rare Earths Global Limited. According to the filings made
available to public through the EDGAR database in U.S., for the
quarterly period ended 30 September 2005, Minghua Group
International Holdings Limited was [ a small business issuer | and [ a
development stage company |. Dr. WONG was the Chief Consultant
of KND & Co. CPA Limited. KND & Co. CPA Limited was
deregistered on 31 December 2017. Since 1 January 2018,
Dr WONG was appointed as the Principal Consultant of KND
Associates CPA Limited. Dr WONG has been an independent non-
executive director of APAC Resources Limited, a company listed on
the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange, since July 2004,
an independent non-executive director of China Merchants Land
Limited, a company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange, June 2012; an independent non-executive director
of China VAST Industrial Urban Development Company Limited, a
company listed on the main board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange in August 2014; an independent non-executive director of
China Wan Tong Yuan (Holdings) Limited, a company listed on the
GEM board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange in September 2017;
and an independent non-executive director of Capital Finance
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the GEM board of the Hong
Kong Stock Exchange in January 2018.

Ms. FU Shuangye (FFFE %), aged 49, was appointed an independent
non-executive Director on 12 January 2008. Ms. FU graduated from
Wuhan University with a bachelor degree in English Literature in
1990 and obtained her further legal studies certificate in the Law
School of China Politics and Law University in 1997. She was
qualified as a PRC lawyer in 1998. She was a partner of Zhong Lun
W&D Law Firm in Beijing. Ms. FU is now the Managing Director
Partner of Zhong Hao Attorneys-at-Law.
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EEMEREEABRKE

Directors (continued)
Independent Non-executive Directors (continued)

Mr. ZHANG Chun (55#5), aged 85, an independent non-executive
Director, joined the Group on 12 January 2008. Mr. ZHANG
graduated from Tianjin University in 1955 and conducted research on
semiconductor silicon material in It RE G & B FTEL (Beijing
Non-Ferrous Metal Research Institution) in the same year. During
1965 to 1979, he was involved in the establishment of the semi-
conductor materials factory in Emei and the monocrystalline silicon
factory in Luoyang and their production and technological
management. During 1979 to 1998, he was the supervisor of a
semi-conductor material research unit of Beijing Non-Ferrous Metal
Research Institution, the supervisor of the [ 5% 3 & 82 i1k} TF2 A 52
fLy (State Semi-conductor Material Engineering Research Centre)
and he also acted as the general manager of & & ;B & L AR
A~ A (Jinxin Semi-conductor Material Company Limited). The (a)
project on 3 to 4 inches monocrystalline silicon for the use in
integrated circuit and (b) the research project on the manufacture of
125mm monocrystalline silicon wafer for the use in 2 to 3um
integrated circuit organized and led by Mr. ZHANG received Rl
fiTsE 2 — % 22 (the Science and Technology Progress First Prize) by
the China National Non-Ferrous Metals Industry Corp. Mr. ZHANG
was granted a special subsidy of government from the State Council
since 1992, was awarded the title of Supreme Model for the Labour
of the Non-ferrous Metals Industry of the Nation in 1993 and was
awarded as a =Bl Jt# T{EZ% (National Pioneer) by the State
Council in 1995.

The Directors’ interest or short positions in the shares or underlying
shares in the Company within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO") are set out in the section
headed “Interest and Short Positions of the Directors and the Chief
Executives of the Company in the Shares, Underlying Shares and
Debentures of the Company and its Associated Corporations” in this
annual report. Each Director has been appointed for a term of three
years. The Directors’ emoluments, the basis of determining the same
(including any bonus payments, whether fixed or discretionary in
nature, irrespective of whether the Director has or does not have a
service contract) and the Directors’ fees are set out in note 9 to the
Financial Statements and the section headed and “Report of the
Directors — Emolument Policy” of this annual report. Save as
disclosed above, each Director confirmed that there are no other
matters that need to be brought to the attention of the
shareholders of the Company and there is no other information
which is required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51(2) of the
Listing Rules.
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Senior Management

Mr. YUEN Kin Shan (= 1l), aged 36, is the Financial Controller,
Company Secretary and Investor Relations Director of the Company.
He holds a Bachelor of Commerce in Finance and Accounting from
the University of New South Wales in Australia and a Master of
Business Administration from The Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is also a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and CPA Australia. He joined the
Company in September 2014 and has over 10 years of experience in
auditing, accounting, financial management and corporate finance.

Mr. LI Hongbang (Z3& %), aged 45, the General Manager of Ingot
Pulling and Wafer Slicing Business Department of the Group. He
joined the Group in 2003. He graduated from Zhejiang University in
2010 with a bachelor’'s degree in marketing. From 2005, Mr. LI
served as the office supervisor. Mr. LI was the head of Sales
Department since 2007 and the supervisor of Shanghai Marketing
Center and the head of Sales Department since 2009. Later, he
became the director of Group Production Planning Department in
2013. He has served as the General Manager of Ingot Pulling
Business Department since May 2014, and also served as the General
Manager of Wafer Slicing Business Department since August 2015.

Mr. WANG Lixin (£32%f), aged 50, the General Manager of Cell and
Module Business Department of the Group. He graduated from the
Party School of Liaoning Province in 2000. Prior to joining the
Group, Mr. WANG was the Chief Engineer of Jinzhou Thermal Power
Corporation (3% M ZE 422 &) from April 1990 to May 2008. He
joined the Group as the head of Cell Business Department and
Equipment Department in 2008 and later became the plant head of
Cell Business Department since 2012 and the general manager of
Cell Business Department since 2014. He also served as the General
Manager of Module Business Department since January 2018.

Mr. ZHANG Hai (588), aged 35, the Vice General Manager and
general manager of R&D quality assurance centre of the Group. He
joined the Group in May 2009. He graduated from Northeastern
University in 2006 with a bachelor’'s degree in information
technology and business management and is an electrical engineer.
In 2010, Mr. ZHANG was employed by Huachang Photovoltaic
Technology Co., Ltd (& AR B R A7) as the head of Quality
Assurance Department. He served as the head of Group Quality
Control Department in 2012 and the director of Group Quality
Management Department in February 2014. In August 2014, he
became the general manager of Module Business Department. Since
January 2018, he served as the Vice General Manager and General
Manager of R&D Quality Assurance Centre of the Group.
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Senior Management (continued)

Ms. CHEN Linlin (BR#K#H), aged 40, is the General Manager of the
Group’s Service Assurance Center. She graduated from Dalian
University of Technology in 2000 with a bachelor's degree in
chemical engineering. She obtained a Master of Business
Administration from Dalian University of Technology in 2006. She
joined the Group in 2006 and has held various positions including
project manager, project director, production planning director,
planning director, and administrative director. Since February 2018,
she serves as General Manager of the Group’s Service Assurance
Center.

Dr. LIU Aimin (BIE R), aged 49, is a member of the Group's
Corporate Strategy Committee. He joined the Group in 2017. He
graduated from Lanzhou University in 1990 with a bachelor’s degree
in Physics and, in 1997, obtained a Ph.D. in Semiconductor Materials
and Devices from the Institute of Semiconductors, Chinese Academy
of Sciences. Thereafter, he studied abroad in Israel, Japan and New
Zealand. After returning to China in 2002, Dr. Liu was appointed
professor at the School of Physics of Dalian University of Technology
and also the Director of its Solar Cell Research Centre. In 2014, co-
operating with the Group’s companies, they accomplished the “863"
Black Silicon Solar Cell Technology Project (“863" i AF5 & it
first 2l)(the “Project”) under the National High-Tech Development
Research Program (B R ili2 E 3551 El) of the Ministry of
Science and Technology (%} £ # 17 #). The Project covers the
research on improving solar cell efficiency through nano-structures
and passivation of the surface of black silicon. Dr. Liu was the Chief
Scientist of the Project. He is also a Review Expert for the National
Science and Technology Progress Award.

Mr. LUO Qian (#%2), aged 49, the General Manager of Solargiga
Energy (Qinghai) Co., Ltd of the Group. He is a delegate of the 15th
People’s Congress and the 16th National People’s Congress Standing
Committee of Xining City. He joined the Group in 2010. He
graduated from the Faculty of Chinese of Qinghai Normal University
in 1992. From 1992 to 1997, he worked in the labour service
company of Qinghai Provincial People’s Political Consultative
Conference (584 B 17 # 4 8) IR %5 2 7]). He served as General
Manager of Xining Zhanging Electronics Co., Ltd. (FAZESE T A
R~ 7A]) from 1997 to 2009. In 2009, Mr. Luo invested in Qinghai
Chenguang New Energy Co., Ltd.(FERNHFHEREREERQF)
("Qinghai Chenguang”). In 2010, the Group acquired Qinghai
Chenguang and changed the name to Solargiga Energy (Qinghai)
Co., Ltd. He then was appointed by the board of directors of the
Company as the General Manager of Solargiga Energy (Qinghai) Co.,
Ltd.
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Senior Management (continued)

Mr. ZHANG Yubo (3K £1&), aged 37, is the General Manager of
Qujing Yangguang Energy Silicon Materials Co., Ltd. of the Group.
He joined the Group in 2005. He graduated from Shenyang Ligong
University in 2004 with a bachelor’'s degree in Metalic Materials.
Mr. Zhang became the Group’s Head of Technical Department in
2007 and then the Head of the Group’s Yangguang manufacturing
plants in Jinzhou in 2009. Later in 2014, he served as the Production
Planning Director. Since 2017, he was appointed General Manager of
Qujing Yangguang Energy Silicon Material Co., Ltd. (B8 Y55 )¢ 2R
EMEERADR).

Mr. SATO Masanobu (B IEiE), aged 48, is the Quality Director of
Solar Cell Business Department and Technology and Quality Director
of Module Business Department of the Group. Prior to joining the
Group, he worked in Sharp Corporation from 1988 and had worked
in the semiconductor field for 18 years. After which, for 10 years
from 2006, he served as the Quality Manager in the Department of
Photovoltaic Systems in Sharp Corporation. Since 2016, he serves as
the Quality Director of Cell Business Department and Technology and
Quiality Director of Module Business Department of the Group.

Changes in Information of Directors

The changes in Directors’ information for the year ended
31 December 2017, as required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule
13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, are set out below:

Name of Director Details of Change
Mr. WANG Junze

(formerly known as
WANG Chunwei)

Mr. WANG Chunwei adopted the name
Mr. WANG Junze with effect from
31 January 2018.
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The Directors present the annual report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December
2017.

Principal Activities

The Company acts as an investment holding company of the Group.
The principal activities of the Group are the trading of,
manufacturing of and provision of processing services for polysilicon
and monocrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers, and the producing of
and trading of photovoltaic cells and modules, the installation of
photovoltaic systems and the operating of photovoltaic power plants.
The analysis of the principal activities and geographical locations of
the operations of the subsidiaries during the financial year are set
out in note 1 to the financial statements. Further discussion and
analysis of these activities, including a description of an indication of
likely future development in the Group’s business, can be found in
the Management Discussion and Analysis set out on pages 10 to 29
of this annual report. This discussion forms part of this directors’
report. The description of the Group’s Environmental, Social and
Governance aspects during the financial year can also be found in
the Environmental, Social and Governance (the “ESG"”) Report set out
on pages 62 to 68 of this annual report.

Major Customers and Suppliers

The Group's top five customers are mainly silicon solar wafer, cell or
modules manufacturers or traders. In aggregate, the largest and five
largest customers did not exceed 21% (2016: 40%) and 53% (2016:
73%) of the Group’s total sales in 2017 respectively.

The Group currently procures raw materials from about 123 major
suppliers (2016: 95). In aggregate, purchases from its largest and five
largest suppliers did not exceed 30% (2016: 27%) and 53% (2016:
49%) of the Group's total purchases in 2017 respectively. Save for
WWX, at no time during the year have the Directors, their close
associates or any shareholder of the Company (which to the
knowledge of the Directors owns more than 5% of the Company’s
share capital) had any interest in these major suppliers and/or
customers.

Financial Statements and Dividends

The profit of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2017 and
the Group’s financial position as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 75 to 184. The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016.
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Transfer to Reserves

Profit attributable to shareholders of the Company for the year
ended 31 December 2017 was RMB107,462,000 (2016: loss of
RMB239,149,000) had been transferred to reserves. Other
movements in reserves are set out in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity on page 79.

As at 31 December 2017, distributable reserves of the Company
amounted to approximately RMB1,136,979,000 (2016:
RMB1,139,160,000).

Charitable Donations

Charitable donations made by the Group during the year amounted
to RMB427,000 (2016: RMB222,000).

Bank Loans and Other Borrowings

Particulars of bank loans and other borrowings of the Group as at
31 December 2017 are set out in note 28 to the financial
statements.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Details of acquisitions and other movements in property, plant and
equipment are set out in note 14 to the financial statements.

Share Capital

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company during
the year are set out in note 35 to the financial statements.

Five-year Financial Summary

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years is set out on page 5 of the
annual report.
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EFRHLE
Directors

The Directors during the financial year and up to the date of this
report were:

Executive Directors

Mr. TAN Wenhua, Chairman
Mr. TAN Xin
Mr. WANG Junze (formerly known as WANG Chunwei)

Non-executive Director
Mr. HSU You Yuan

Independent Non-executive Directors

Dr. WONG Wing Kuen, Albert
Ms. FU Shuangye
Mr. ZHANG Chun

In accordance with the provisions of the Company’s articles of
association, Mr. WANG Junze (formerly known as WANG Chunwei),
Mr. HSU You Yuan and Ms. FU Shuangye, will retire by rotation at
the forthcoming annual general meeting. Mr. WANG Junze (formerly
known as WANG Chunwei), Mr. HSU You Yuan and Ms. FU
Shuangye, being eligible, and will offer themselves for re-election at
the annual general meeting.

Directors’ Service Contracts

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service agreement with
the Company which is not determinable by the Company within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.
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Related Party Transactions

During the year ended 31 December 2017, transactions with the
following parties are considered to be related party transactions:

BB X5
E=T—tF+=A=t+—BRILFE BT
AEMR B BB TS -

Name of party &5 &% Relationship %
Jinzhou Changhua Carbon Products Company Limited Controlled by Tan Wenhua, Chairman of the Company
BMEERRERERDA RN EE A
Jinzhou Huarong Property Management Company Limited Controlled by Tan Wenhua, Chairman of the Company
BMEXMEERERDA AN A EEE EE
Jinzhou Youlin Semi-Conductor Material Co., Ltd. Controlled by spouse of Tanxin, an executive director of the Company
BMERFERBMBERA A RERRNAHTESI RN BES
Jiangsu Oriental Huida New Energy Technology Co., Ltd. Associate of the Group

("Huida")
IHRFBENERNEARAA ([EE]) AEEMEE QA

Details of the related party transactions are disclosed in note 42 to
the financial statements.

Continuing Connected Transactions

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure
requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules in
respect of the Company’s continuing connected transactions.

Connected Transaction

For the year ended 31 December 2017, the related party transactions
disclosed in note 42 to the financial statements did not constitute
connected transactions or continuing connected transactions under
Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules.
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Share Option Scheme

The Company has conditionally approved and adopted the share
option scheme on 27 February 2008 (“Share Option Scheme”) in
which certain participants, including (i) any full-time or part-time
employees, executives or officers of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; (i) any directors (including non-executive directors and
independent non-executive directors) of the Company or any of its
subsidiaries; and (iii) any advisors, consultants, suppliers, customers
and agents to the Company or any of its subsidiaries, may be
granted options to subscribe for the ordinary shares in the share
capital of the Company with a nominal value of HK$0.10 each
(“Shares”). The purpose of the Share Option Scheme was to
recognise and acknowledge the contributions the eligible participants
had or may have made to the Group. The Share Option Scheme shall
expire on 27 February 2018. The Directors believe that the Share
Option Scheme is important for the recruitment and retention of
quality executives and employees.

The subscription price for the Shares to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme will be determined by the Board and will be the
highest of:

(i) the official closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock
Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the date of grant, which
must be a day on which the Stock Exchange is open for the
business of dealing in securities;

(i) the average of the official closing prices of the Shares as stated
in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for the five
business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and

(iii)  the nominal value of a Share.

The maximum number of Shares in respect of which options may be
granted under the Share Option Scheme and under any other share
option schemes of the Company must not in aggregate exceed 10%
of the total number of Shares in issue immediately following
completion of the listing of the Company’s shares on the Stock
Exchange (“the Listing”) (but taking no account of any Shares which
may be sold pursuant to the exercise of the over-allotment option in
connection with the Listing) and capitalisation issue, being
169,076,650 Shares which represents 5.26% of the existing issued
share capital of the Company.
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Share Option Scheme (continued)

The total number of securities available for issue under the Share
Option Scheme as at 31 December 2017 was 158,186,650 Shares
which represents 4.93% of the existing issued share capital of the
Company (after deducting the grant of options to subscribe for
42,269,163 Shares on 29 December 2008 and adding back the
number of options to subscribe for 10,285,000 Shares and
21,094,163 Shares lapsed on 30 April 2009 and 31 December 2010,
respectively).

No option may be granted to any person such that the total number
of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of all options
granted and to be granted to each participant in any 12-month
period up to the date of the latest grant under the Share Option
Scheme exceeds 1% of the number of Shares in issue.

A participant shall pay HKD1.00 upon acceptance of the option.
There is no minimum period for which an option must be held
before it can be exercised. An option may be exercised in
accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time
during a period as determined by the Board, which must not be
more than 10 years from the date of the grant.

No share option was granted or outstanding under the Share Option
Scheme during the year.

Save as otherwise disclosed, at no time during the year was the
Company, or any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of Shares in or
debentures of the Company or any other body corporate.

Purchase, Sale Or Redemption of the
Company’s Listed Securities

There was no purchase, sale or redemption by the Company or any

of its subsidiaries of the Company’s listed securities during the year
ended 31 December 2017.
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Interest and Short Positions of the Directors
and the Chief Executives of the Company in
the Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures
of the Company and its Associated
Corporations

As at 31 December 2017, so far as the Directors are aware, the
Directors and the chief executives of the Company and their
associates had the following interests in the shares, underlying
shares and debentures of the Company and its associated
corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance (“SFO")), as recorded in the register required to
be kept under Section 352 of the SFO or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code:

EERARFAESTHRAERAR
ARERABEZENKRG HERD
RESFHEERAR

R=ZFE—tF+=-_A=+—H
%&Zﬁﬂﬂ?%ﬁﬁw\%&?ﬂi ZHBEALTRA
RAIREBEER(ERAE %&Hﬁ 5 &5 ([F35
RHEEHEAD EXVE)RRD  BERH RESH
FoEBERERBRIBEES KRB G E3I52&5
EFENECMIABRBEELETNESTHAEARAR
AIRBERFTR ST

CBEEME B

Approximate

Number of ordinary percentage of

shares held shareholding
(Note 1) (%)
Name of Director Nature interest FEEEREE BABERBES X
BEEnE ERME (B 3ET) (%)
Mr. TAN Wenhua Beneficial interest (Note 2) 556,924,443 (L) 17.34%
B X E KA B 1 (T 5E2)
Interest of a controlled corporation (Note 2) 155,320,308 (L) 4.84%
A E R (T EE2)
Mr. WANG Junze Beneficial interest 100,500 (L) 0.01%
(formerly known as B
WANG Chunwei)
T892 (FIEERR)
pirke=)
Mr. HSU You Yuan Beneficial interest 13,861,346 (L) 0.43%
S 40 0 o A EnEn
Interest in options (Note 3) 239,835 (L) 0.01%
R B R R ) M (P E3)
Security interest (Note 3) 239,835 (L) 0.01%
AR = (P 5E3)
Trustee’s interest 7,252,085 (L) 0.23%
Rt A=

(1) The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.

(2) As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Tan Wenhua is interested in an aggregate
of 712,244,751 Shares, of which (i) 556,924,443 Shares are directly
held by Mr. Tan Wenhua; and (i) 155,320,308 Shares are held by You
Hua Investment Corporation, which is wholly-owned by Mr. Tan
Wenhua.
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(3) As at 31 December 2017, Mr. Hsu You Yuan had security interest in
these Shares pursuant to a share charge granted by the relevant
employees and consultants to secure their obligations to pay for the
purchase price of the Shares and their obligations to comply with the
relevant regulatory requirements to which they are subject to (if any).

Substantial Shareholders’ Interests and Short
Positions in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2017, so far as the Directors are aware, save as
disclosed above, the following substantial shareholders (not being a
Director or chief executive of the Company) had interest or short
positions in the shares and underlying Shares of the Company as
recorded in the register required to be kept under section 336 of the
SFO or have otherwise notified to the Company:

B RIZE—tF+-A=+—8 SFHREERE
R E & K B R IR 0 AR (0 4K 38 R B R % R D
M HERIER - ARERINZE BT (T A ) BB A
RERFSEZERGNEBRERE(WE) WA
£

TERRRBROREBERSD R HE
mRRE

E-T—t&E+-A=+—H BEEFE-
BEXHEBEN UTXERF(LHESHAL
AIREITHRAE)RARRIKG REBEKRGD S - %
FRRGRREEAR BT EIIE3B6EREEE
MEBERMRAE RITNEAA SN BREIAR

Approximate

Number of ordinary percentage of

shares held shareholding

(Note 1) (%)

Name Capacity FrEEBEREE BABERBES X

= -Ye X g2 (B 5E1) (%)

Hiramatsu International Corp. Beneficial owner 354,261,692 (L) 11.03%
Exnla A

Hiramatsu Hiroharu (Note 2) Interest of a controlled 354,261,692 (L) 11.03%
(B 5E2) corporation

REREE R

Notes:
1. The letter “L" denotes the person’s long position in such securities.
2. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having

made all reasonable enquiry, Hiramatsu International Corp. is wholly-
owned by Hiramatsu Hiroharu as at the date of this report. By virtue of
the SFO, Hiramatsu Hiroharu is deemed to be interested in the Shares
held by Hiramatsu International Corp.

B -
1. FERILIEZATIRZEEFNIEA -

2. BEETNELE A BERAEMFRN 28
& HEfE - R A% B B - Hiramatsu Hiroharu%
& # A Hiramatsu International Corp. ° R E 75 &
HE & 1% - Hiramatsu Hiroharu# 18 /& 7 Hiramatsu
International Corp.3¥ B KR KD R EH #m o
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Other Persons’ Interests and Short Positions’
in Shares and Underlying Shares

As at 31 December 2017, so far as the Directors are aware, save as
disclosed above, the persons or corporations (not being a Director,
chief executive or substantial shareholder of the Company) who have
interest or short positions in the shares and underlying Shares of the
Company as recorded in the register required to be kept under
section 336 of the SFO or have otherwise notified to the Company
were as follows:

Hitt AT RGO RAEBER G+ E#E
BRARE

BE-T—tF+-A=+—8 BEEFRE-
B EXHEBEN  UTALTSEELHEEE - A
NAREITBRABREBRRR) RAR A5 &8
BRHT EARDENRIEE AR GHE
3T FEOSRMAR BTN AR 7404
ERKE

Approximate

Number of ordinary percentage of

shares held shareholding

(Note 1) (%)

Name Capacity FEEBEREE BHAERBES

Bl A 52 (Mg7E1) (%)

Wafer Works Investment Corp. Beneficial owner 248,759,822 (L) 7.75%
("WwWIC") ERBEE A

Wafer Works Corp. (“WWX") (Note 2) Interest of a controlled 248,759,822 (L) 7.75%

corporation
SEmBEBROARARA(TEREBE]) T EE#ER
(M 5£2)

Notes:
1. The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in such securities.
2. To the best of the Directors’ knowledge, information and belief having

made all reasonable enquiry, WWIC is wholly-owned by WWX as at the
date of this report. By virtue of the SFO, WWX is deemed to be
interested in the Shares held by WWIC.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 December 2017, the Directors are
not aware of any other person or corporation having an interest or
short position in shares and underlying shares of the Company
which fall to be disclosed under the provisions of Division 2 and 3 of
Part XV of the SFO.
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Report of the Directors
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Directors’ Interest in Potentially Competing
Businesses

Mr. TAN Wenhua, being the executive Director, is interested in other
related businesses, particulars of which are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2017, Mr. Tan held approximately
40% interest in Jinzhou Changhua. Jinzhou Changhua is engaged in
the manufacturing of graphite and graphite related products. The
business of Jinzhou Changhua does not compete with that of the
Group. Jinzhou Changhua, as a company which manufactures
graphite and graphite related products, is not a competitor of the
Group because (a) the Group is not engaged in the manufacturing
of graphite or any graphite related products; and (b) graphite is not
a substitute for polysilicon in the manufacturing of solar products
currently produced by the Group.

Non-competition Undertaking

The Directors confirm that they have no interest in any business
(apart from the Group’s business) which competes or is likely to
compete, either directly or indirectly, with the Group’s business. The
Directors have also signed a non-competition undertaking with the
Company.

Disclosure on how the non-competition undertaking has been
complied with and enforced would be consistent with the principles
of making voluntary disclosures under the Listing Rules.

Pursuant to the non-competition undertaking dated 27 February
2008, Mr. TAN Wenhua shall continue to be bound by the terms of
the non-competition undertaking in the event that he ceases to be a
Director but remains a substantial shareholder of the Company.

The interested Director shall abstain from the meeting where there is
actual or potential conflict in interest.

Directors’ Interests in Contracts

No contract of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries was a party, and in which a
Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly,
subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.

Permitted Indemnity Provision

During the year ended 31 December 2017 and as at the date of this
report, the Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover
for Director’'s and officers’ liabilities in respect of legal actions
against its Directors and senior management arising out of corporate
activities.

EEREERFXBENER
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Pursuant to the Company’s Articles of Association, the Directors shall
be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the
Company from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses,
damages and expenses which they shall or may incur or sustain by
reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted in or about the
execution of their duty.

Emolument Policy

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set out by
the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the Directors are decided by the Remuneration
Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating results,
individual performance and comparable market statistics.

Retirement Benefit Schemes
Particulars of the retirement benefit schemes of the Group are set
out in note 34 to the financial statements.

Pre-emptive Rights

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
articles of association, or the law of Cayman Islands, being the
jurisdiction in which the Company is incorporated under which
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

Model Code for Securities Transactions by
Directors

The Company has adopted the Model Code as set out in Appendix
10 of the Listing Rules as the code of conduct regarding securities
transactions by the Directors. Special enquiries have been made by
the Company to confirm that all Directors have been complied with
the Model Code for the year ended 31 December 2017.

Corporate Governance
Principal corporate governance practices adopted by the Company
are set out in the corporate governance report on pages 30 to 42.

Audit Committee

The Company established an Audit Committee with written terms of
references adopted in compliance with the Code set out in
Appendix 14 of the Listing Rules. The members of the Audit
Committee are the three independent non-executive Directors, and
Mr. Wong Wing Kuen Albert, an independent non-executive
Director, is the Chairman of the Audit Committee.

SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 aERIZIRBIR A A

REBEARR 2ABERRZMA ARAREFATLR
RAZEEESRE IRRZIFESF]EEZ
BEATHBRES2XEEL - BEZTTRIE
RERIT RN R AEERARIZABEFRR
ER WE BX BERAXMEXZEE -

#r B BUR
FHEBRRBEARE ABELES HEAS
5B 0% B2 # BB -

FHEZEE2RARANEERE EFEMNEK
BRALEBRTIZRAEE  REEFOHH -

iR 1k 18 7 5t &
AR BB EIE  BRM S RKM 34

BrRBERE
RARZABERMAALFSHS (BIARR B M
FBRIEYRDEERDEPISEEBEEBREZ K
X BREARBAERFREAIARERRIEZN
% o

ESETESZXREN

RABEERM L™ H RN+ AR ETRER
EFTETESFXHNERTTR - RRABHEHFE
EHEER 2REENBE_FT—tF+=-A
=t+—BIEFEDETRESTH -

RE Al

¥ EA
ARAREPANETZLEERFR N FE30E42
BEHCEBARARE -

BEREES
ARFERUERZE S ARMARRBLETHA
fiex T A ETRIGIEN S EBERE - BRE
BEeXBEM=2BYFATESAR MBILF
HTESETABREERERZES®TIR -



Report of the Directors
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The Audit Committee is to serve as a focal point for communication
between other Directors, the external auditor and the internal
auditor (where an internal audit function exists) of the Company as
regards their duties relating to financial and other reporting, internal
controls, external and internal audits and such other financial and
accounting matters as the Board determines from time to time.

The Audit Committee is to assist the Board in providing an
independent review of the effectiveness of the financial reporting
process, internal control and risk management system of the Group,
overseeing the audit process and performing other duties and
responsibilities as may be assigned by the Board from time to time
and the Company considers these systems effective and adequate.
The audit committee has reviewed the Group’s interim and annual
consolidated financial statements for the year 2017, including the
accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group.

Sufficiency of Public Float

As at the date of this annual report, the Company has maintained
the prescribed public float of not less than 25% of the issued share
capital of the Company pursuant to the Listing Rules and as agreed
with the Stock Exchange, based on the information that is publicly
available to the Company and within the knowledge of the
Directors.

Confirmation of Independence

The Company has received from each of the independent non-
executive Directors an annual confirmation of independence pursuant
to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and considers all the independent
Non-Executive Directors to be independent.

Auditors

For the preceding three years, the following changes in the auditors
of the Company took place: (i) the resignation of KPMG as auditors
of the Company on 29 June 2015; and (ii) the appointment of Ernst
& Young as the auditors of the Company on 29 June 2015 to fill in
the vacancy.

Ernst & Young was appointed by the Directors to conduct audit on
the financial statements of the Company for the year ended
31 December 2017. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting to reappoint Ernst & Young as
the auditors of the Company.

By Order of the Board
TAN Wenhua
Chairman

Hong Kong, 21 March 2018
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ABOUT ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERRR - S RERERSE

This report is the first Environmental, Social and Governance (the
"ESG") Report published by the Group in accordance with the
Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide issued by the
Stock Exchange (the “ESG Reporting Guide”). This ESG report mainly
covers the policies, initiatives and performance of the Group’s
business for the year ended 31 December 2017. The Company
confirms that it has complied with the “comply or explain”
provisions set out in the ESG Reporting Guide for the year ended
31 December 2017.

Environmental
Aspect A1: Emissions

As for environmental protection, the Group continues to invest in
energy-saving equipment and emphasize green production while
constantly advancing its technology in energy saving, emissions
reduction and clean production. The Group also controls stringently
the emission of wastes. According to its waste management policy,
wastes have to be minimized, reused and recycled before the last
resort of disposal. The Group regularly keeps track of the latest
national and regional environmental laws and regulations, complies
with relevant laws and rules such as the Environmental Protection
Law of the People’s Republic of China (Ff#E A R H B IRBIREE),
the Environmental Impact Assessment Law of the People’s Republic
of China (F#EARLMBIRITFZTEE) and the Law of the
People’s Republic of China on Prevention and Control of
Environmental Noise Pollution (A ZE A R A0 B R H M5 20008
/%), and takes various measures to achieve better performance in
environmental protection amid daily office activities and specific
business operations. During the year, the Group was not subject to
any fines or related litigation in relation to environmental pollution.

Air pollutant emissions

Air emissions include NOx, SOx, and other pollutants regulated under
national laws and regulations. Pollutants are primarily emitted from
the raw material cleaning process. The fumes produced during the
acid treatment of silicon feedstock by hydrofluoric acid and nitric
acid are eventually treated and emitted through the acid mist
towers.

During the year, air pollutant emissions of the Group are detailed
below:

Fluorochemicals 1t 43
Hydrogen fluoride &1t &
Hydrogen chloride % {t &
Chlorine gas & &,
Nitrogen oxides & &1t 4D
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Greenhouse gas emissions

Greenhouse gas emissions reflect the impact of our businesses on
climate change. Greenhouse gases include carbon dioxide, methane,
nitrous oxide, hydrofluorocarbons, perfluorocarbons and sulphur
hexafluoride. During the year, our greenhouse gas emissions were
mainly attributable to the indirect emissions from purchased
electricity.

Indirect greenhouse gas emissions (scope 2):

carbon dioxide (CO,) equivalent emissions
Approximately 273,045 tonnes

Note: An emission factor of 0.88 tonnes CO,-e/MWh was used for calculating
electricity consumption.

Hazardous wastes

During the year,
mainly included:

the hazardous wastes generated by the Group

Spent activated carbon felt cartridges & & I ik BE 8 %

Waste EVA\TPT edge strips EEEVA\TPTZ f&

Spent activated carbon felt cartridges are generated during the solar
cell etching process and contain mainly activated carbon. Filtration
through the activated carbon-based organic gas flaring towers gives
rise to fluorochemical residues. Ethylene vinyl acetate (“EVA”) is
produced by our module assembly companies during the trimming of
redundant edge strips in the process of module encapsulation. Tedlar
polyester tedlar (“TPT”), a solar panel material, is also produced by
our module assembly companies during the trimming of redundant
edge strips in the course of module encapsulation, involving
materials such as polyvinylidene fluoride and PMMA copolymers,
polyethylene terephthalate and tetrafluoroethylene/vinyl ester
copolymers.

Non-hazardous wastes

During the year, the non-hazardous wastes generated by the Group
mainly included:

Xylene — BB

Waste steel wire [ 8 47
Packaging waste EE £ 4
Plastic waste ¥8 £l & &
Waste oil &5
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Xylene is used in module experiments primarily for cleaning filters,
upon which waste materials are left behind as residues. Waste steel
wire is the major consumable used for cutting during the wafer
slicing process, and the waste materials left behind are recovered by
professional recycling companies. The Group's four major production
operations all involve packaging equipment, raw materials, auxiliary
raw materials and so forth, which produce paper, wood and plastic
packaging waste, among others. Plastic waste is produced during
plastic packaging in the production process. Waste oil is mainly a
result of the replacement of air compressor lubricants, in particular
during the ingot pulling process.

Prevention of emissions

We pursue to utilize energy efficiently and take this as the primary
approach to reducing greenhouse gas emissions. In order to
continuously improve energy performance and lower carbon
footprint, we have implemented various energy-saving as well as
emission and waste reduction measures such as the air compressor
frequency conversion transformation and air compressor heat
recovery projects. Frequency conversion transformation of air
compressors can ensure not only the effective controls of frequency
conversion in air compressors but also real-time monitoring of
pressure conditions in production systems, therefore saving energy
while coping with systems’ energy demands. This can save us
approximately RMB400,000 on electricity fee per year. Likewise, the
air compressor heat recovery project can ensure effective recovery of
heat energy and reduce energy use by recovering approximately
24,000 tonnes of hot water every year.

Reduction of hazardous wastes and
non-hazardous wastes

The Group has specially set up the Environmental and Safety
Department for monitoring and administering its various eco-friendly
facilities to ensure compliance with national standards for pollutant
and waste emissions. All wastes shall be minimized, reused and
recycled before the last resort of disposal. As for the hazardous
wastes generated during the production process, industry
professionals are engaged to handle their recovery and transposition,
whereas non-hazardous wastes are sold to external parties to
minimise disposal volume.
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Aspect A2: Use of Resources

The Group strictly executes the policies, regulations and standards on
energy conservation provided by national, local and industrial
authorities, such as the Law of the People’s Republic of China on
Energy Conservation (F#EARKEFMEIELEERE). In order to
achieve better efficiency of resources, the Group emphasizes on
saving energy, water, materials and land, comprehensive use of
resources, and development of circular economy. The Group also
facilitates its sustainable development with better management
measures, an enhanced awareness of saving resources, and efficient
and cyclic use of resources. It strictly manages its use of resources to
ensure reasonable use of resources in the course of operation and
avoid waste. Upon assessment by our Environmental and Safety
Department, there is no significant impact brought by the Group’s
environmental and natural resource use. The Group is active in
practicing the concept of green development and promoting the
green development of the production chain.

Electricity

In 2017, electricity consumption of the Group totaled 310,278
MWh. Electricity consumption of our four major production
operations is detailed below:

EEA2 : EIREH
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Approximate

Power average

consumption consumption

(MWh) (kWh/unit)

BREEE FHEED

2017 (KEK) (TR EAN)
Ingots i 223,427 28.27/kg A fr
Wafers & A 27,725 0.16/piece v
Solar cells &7 27,163 70.6/kWF E,
Modules #8 £ 30,891 27/kWF E

Water

We are committed to using water in a responsible manner and have
developed relevant strategies to reduce raw water consumption and
meanwhile to review the relevant processes and perform regular
monitoring. The Group’s production plants use municipal water as
their primary water source. The use of water is regulated in
accordance with the prevailing energy management rules.
Management of second-tier energy consumption is rationalized and
measuring devices are installed to save water. The Group had no
issue in sourcing water during the vyear. Concentrated water
produced by ultrapure water equipment for production purpose is
reused, with the annual reuse volume reaching 120,000 tonnes. Both
ultrapure water production techniques and equipment are refined to
increase pure water output and reduce consumption of raw water.
During the year, the Group consumed a total of 1,653,848 tonnes of
raw water. Water consumption density was 681.2 tonnes/MW.
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Packaging material consumption

The main packaging material consumed by the Group in 2017 is
carton boxes. These are in line with main customers’ standard
packaging requirements. The total weight of carton boxes used in
2017 was approximately 3,854 tonnes. Packaging material
consumption density is 1.59 tonnes/MW.

Aspect A3: The Environment and Natural Resources

To minimise the aforementioned impact on the environment from
our business operations, the Group implements measures for
environmental protection, including using energy-efficient equipment
to achieve additional energy savings and reduce waste. To reduce
energy use, circulating water instead of coal boiler is used to provide
heating in winter seasons. Further, sewage treatment stations, acid
mist treatment towers, purification towers and so on have been
developed to achieve environmental sustainability. In future, we will
continuously contribute to environmental protection and strive for a
greener environment, in an effort to fulfill our duties as part of a
sharing community.

Social
Aspect B1: Employment

Employees are the important value of our Group. In 2017, the
Group has complied with all relevant labour laws and regulations in
respective countries and regions. The Group offers competitive
remuneration, promotional opportunities, compensation and benefit
packages to attract and retain talents. Salaries are reviewed regularly
in reference to performance appraisals and market trends.

All employments are based on personal capabilities and qualifications
regardless of race, religion, sex, age, national origin, citizenship or
any other grounds of discrimination. The Group strictly prohibits
discrimination among the employees in all business operations and
also provides equal opportunity to all employees. Stringent and
cautious measures such as training have been implemented by our
human resources department in order to prevent cases of
discrimination.

Total number of employees by age group
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As of 31 December 2017, the Group had a total of 3565 W-_ZT—+F+_-_A=+—H AEFHBERETA
employees as categorized below: H A3,565A F FRAAWMT ¢
56 or
Under 25 26-35 36-45 46-55 above
565% &
255 LT~ 26-355% 36-455% 46-555% HE
Number of employees N 593 1,578 1,024 333 37
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Aspect B2: Health and Safety

The Group has complied with all relevant laws and regulations in
respective countries, especially those related to its production
processes. A series of health and safety policies is in place to ensure
the overall safety of our working environment. All employees strictly
comply with all the health and safety codes and manuals of their
production processes and departments. The Group also inspects its
plants regularly to monitor and enhance the safety levels inside.
During the year, the Group did not have any noncompliance with
any laws and regulations in respect of employees’ health and safety.

Aspect B3: Development and Training

Training and development always serve as the key factors for
business success. The Group has provided various tailor-made
training programs covering corporate culture, occupational safety,
laws and regulations, professional skills and other aspects for
employees from different departments to cope with their business
needs. The training programs are evaluated regularly to review the
effectiveness and compared to the business needs. The Group also
updates its employees from time to time on the latest information of
the industry and laws and regulations which is essential to the
Group's operations and their job responsibilities.

Aspect B4: Labour Standards

The Group has complied with all relevant local labour laws and
regulations in respective countries. In PRC, the Group regularly keeps
track of the latest laws and regulations such as the Labor Law of the
People’s Republic of China (FF# A R £ F1 B & &)%) and the Labor
Contract Law of the People’s Republic of China (% A & H£ A E &
)& [F)%). The Group strictly prohibits the use of child or forced
labour in its business operations.

Aspect B5: Supply Chain Management

The Group is committed to effectively managing its supply chain and
providing customers with premium products and services, in an
effort to meet and even exceed customers’ expectations. When
purchasing products and services, the Group complies with all
applicable environmental laws, regulations and rules. Comprehensive
assessment of suppliers is performed on an ad hoc basis to
benchmark against customers’ expectations of product quality. Most
of the key suppliers maintain a close and long-term partnership with
the Group. During the year, the Group maintained good and stable
relationships with its suppliers.
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About Environmental, Social and Governance Report

Aspect B6: Product Responsibility

The quality of products is the important key to customers’ loyalty.
The Group performs high quality controls in every production
operation. Procedures and policies are established to govern all sorts
of claims and complaints. If the Group receives any claims or
complaints regarding its products and services, it will conduct
investigation in order to provide immediate and appropriate
responses to customers. This strengthens product quality and
consequently enables us to stay competitive in the market.

Aspect B7: Anti-Corruption

The Group is committed to achieving the highest possible standards
of openness and integrity. Hence, it strictly implements various
operating procedures and codes of conduct to regulate the work
ethic of the Group’s senior management and general staff.
Employees are required to declare potential conflicts of interest.
Further, a whistle-blowing policy is also in place to minimise the risk
of fraudulent acts or criminal offences occurring in the workplace.
During the year, the Group did not find any cases in breach of the
relevant laws and regulations relating to corruption, bribery,
extortion, fraud or money laundering.

Aspect B8: Community Investment

Over the years, the Group has focused on community activities and
placed great emphasis on both physical and mental health of
employees. The Group continuously organizes activities such as
badminton, billiards, basketball and table tennis, with an expectation
of enriching employees’ healthy and cultural life and building a good
corporate culture.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B M % BAD

Ernst & Young
/ 22nd Floor
CITIC Tower
1 Tim Mei Avenue
EY Central, Hong Kong
&k

To the shareholders of Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Solargiga
Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (the
“Group”) set out on pages 75 to 184, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December
2017, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the
consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the consolidated
statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement of
cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting
policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at
31 December 2017, and of its consolidated financial performance
and its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in
accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards
(“HKFRSs"”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in
compliance with the disclosure requirement of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs"”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in
accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these
matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR GRS

Key audit matters (continued)

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key Audit Matter
BREBASEHE

BARETEE

KD BT AR [ E AT Bt 2 R EF
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PS5 A BT 75 3R 5 P A0 BB A 48 SRR R L s R0 2T
fh o BRMWBEIZF (B AEE T 5518 HER
MIZF) &R ARPHMIGAMEREREE
HEH BRI TR

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EMNESFNAEERRETSE

Impairment of prepayment to supplier and provision for onerous contract

BN THRERFNTERELEEEIEE

A subsidiary of the Group entered into a long-term supply contract
(the “Supply Contract”) with one of its suppliers in 2010. According
to the current terms of the Supply Contract, the subsidiary shall
need to pay a total of non-refundable advance payment of
US$34,500,000 and to purchase the agreed quantities of polysilicon
for the period from 2012 to 2020 with a total amount of
US$348,000,000. As at 31 December 2017, the non-refundable
prepayment amounted to US$11,500,000. The Group has not
purchased the agreed quantities from the supplier since 2012.
Consequently, the subsidiary recognised a provision for impairment
of RMB75,143,000 for the non-refundable prepayment and a
provision of RMB46,539,000 for the onerous contract. The provision
balances were material to the consolidated financial statements and
the recognition and measurement involved significant management
judgements and estimates.

The accounting policies and disclosures of the impairment and
provision are included in note 2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies, note 3 Significant accounting judgments and estimates,
note 18 Prepayments for raw materials and note 31 Provisions to the
consolidated financial statements.
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We obtained and reviewed the relevant documents
involved in management’s analysis and judgement,
including the Supply Contract and its
supplementary agreements, and the memorandum
signed by the subsidiary and its supplier. We also
reviewed management’s analysis on the cost of
fulfilling the onerous contract and any
compensation or penalties arising from failure to
fulfil it, and communicated the related legal issues
with the Company’s lawyers, and at the same time
obtained formal confirmation from them. Based on
the documents reviewed, the analysis made on
management’s judgement, together with the
confirmation from the lawyers, we assessed
whether the impairment and provision is made
appropriately and at the same time whether the
matter is properly disclosed in the notes to the
consolidated financial statements.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR GRS

Key audit matters (continued)

Key Audit Matter
BREREBSHEE

FARETEE

How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter
EPNESFNAEERREETSE

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

YWE - BERRERE

The property, plant and equipment accounted for a significant
portion of the Group's assets as at 31 December 2017. Although the
Group achieved certain profit in year 2017, some subsidiaries were
still in losses and there was an indication of impairment of property,
plant and equipment of subsidiaries in 2017 due to the uncertainty
in the future.

Management performed impairment test accordingly by comparing
the net present value of the forecasted future cash flows with the
carrying amount of identified cash-generating units as at
31 December 2017. Estimating the recoverable amount requires
critical management judgement including estimates of future sales,
gross margins, operating costs, terminal value, growth rates and the
discount rate.

The accounting policies and disclosures of the provision are included
in note 2.4 Summary of significant accounting policies, note 3
Significant accounting judgments and estimates and note 14
Property, plant and equipment to the consolidated financial
statements.
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We evaluated management’s assessment on the
impairment indicators for property, plant and
equipment and management’s identification of
cash-generating units.

We reviewed management’s valuation model and
assessed the key assumptions used, such as
estimates of future sales, gross margins, operating
costs, terminal value, growth rates and the
discount rate by comparing them to the historical
performance, the entities’ financial budget, the
analysis on industry and market trend and the
entities’ development plans. We also involved our
valuation specialists to assist us in assessing the
valuation methodology and some key model
parameters.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
BB EM RS

Other information included in the Annual
Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon. The Annual Report is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditor’s
report.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
identified above when it becomes available and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge
obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially
misstated.

When we read the Annual Report, if we conclude that there is a
material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the
matter to the Group’s Audit Committee.

Responsibilities of the directors for the
consolidated financial statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee

in discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group's
financial reporting process.
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Independent Auditor’s Report
VR GRS

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely
to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the
contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of
these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise

professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:
J Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the

consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those
risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

o Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the

going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to
draw attention in our auditor's report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such
disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the
consolidated financial statements (continued)

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be
expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Tong Ka Yan, Augustine.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

21 March 2018
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

S A4S 22
:%/T\I:I =iy

Year ended 31 December 2017 HE=-T—+F+=-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R %I&)

2017 2016
SEBIl = 7
Notes RMB’000 RMB’000

ot 5 ARBT T ARBTT

Revenue I &= 5 3,999,616 3,020,976
Cost of sales 5 & AR (3.341,743) (2,691,899)
Gross profit EF 657,873 329,077
Other income and gains, net Em AR F5E 6 72,418 (46,591)
Selling and distribution expenses HERDHAX (67,701) (30,471)
Administrative expenses 1THR X (410,995) (326,304)
Profit/(loss) from operations LEFE (FE) 251,595 (74,289)
Share of profits less losses of associates [& 1k B 2 /X &) K| & el /&5 18 (14,996) (18,573)
Finance costs A& KA 8 (121,702) (117,102)
Profit/(loss) before tax BREBLATRE,(EE) 7 114,897 (209,964)
Income tax credit/(expense) Frisfiie, (F) 1 8,860 (17,442)
Profit/(loss) for the year EERE(FE) 123,757 (227,406)
Attributable to: LR AT

Equity holders of the Company RAREEREEA 107,462 (239,149)

Non-controlling interests FE 2 i) 15 5 16,295 11,743
Profit/(loss) for the year FEEFNE(FHE) 123,757 (227,406)

Basic and diluted earnings/(loss) AATFERRERSTEAELMER

per share attributable to EXxR#BERA(HR)
ordinary equity holders (AR 5)
of the Company (RMB cents) 13 3.35 (7.45)
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Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE_-ZT
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R 5II&)

AEEZEWAR

—tF+tA=t+—BLFE

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

2017 2016
—E—tF ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® TR ARETTT
Profit/(loss) for the year FEANB(EE) 123,757 (227,406)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) for FEHMtZEFNE(EHE)
the year (after tax and reclassification (BBMEREH>EAER)
adjustments):
Items that may be reclassified subsequently ARHEEEFTHSEZERN
to profit or loss: BH :
— Changes in fair value of available-for-sale —AIHEEREATFEEY
investments - (4,443)
— Currency translation differences — B E =y 32,984 (21,576)
Total comprehensive income/(loss) for the FEZEMNB (BB EHE
year, after tax (MBRBiEER) 156,741 (253,425)
Attributable to: BT AL
Equity holders of the Company KARE=FEAA 140,446 (265,168)
Non-controlling interests FE 5 ) 14 2 16,295 11,743
Total comprehensive income/(loss) FEZEANB (BB AHE
for the year 156,741 (253,425)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
A R &

31 December 2017 R=T—+tF+=A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi) (JA A R %I&)

2017 2016
—E—+tE —E—REF
Notes RMB’000 RMB'000
B 5% AR¥ TR ARET T
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment NS & 14 1,531,099 1,696,321
Prepayments for acquisitions of BEWME BELREREDN
property, plant and equipment T8 < 5018 14,245 25,143
Land lease prepayments T H AR EFE AT RIR 17 146,233 120,050
Prepayments for raw materials R 47 KR T A 3R 18 18 55,298 66,223
Investments in associates REZERANIEE 19 5,251 41,148
Available-for-sale investments AIHEERE 20 2,430 -
Deferred tax assets FEERIEE E 21 34,763 19,516
Other non-current assets HihEmeBE 22 = 21,644
Total non-current assets EMBE EBRE 1,789,319 1,990,045
Current assets REBEE
Inventories rE 23 403,531 670,749
Trade and bills receivables BKE ZERKREER 24 1,648,608 485,910
Prepayments, deposits and other TE FRIE - 1R E K CH th fE W SR IE
receivables 25 347,327 436,296
Current tax recoverable BN HA AT Y [0 F¢ 18 12,143 13,259
Pledged deposits EHEAFR 26 219,097 384,661
Cash and cash equivalents RERBEESFED 27 191,185 293,628
Total current assets MEEEMAS 2,821,891 2,284,503
Current liabilities RBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE 28 1,922,322 2,036,867
Trade and bills payables ERNEZERARER 29 1,055,536 728,247
Other payables and accruals Hib e RIEREHEZ 30 134,476 115,673
Current tax payable Eﬂ,ﬁﬂlféﬁ 1A 3,618 2,038
Provision for inventory purchase FEEERERE
commitments 31 46,539 49,408
Finance lease payables BEMEEEMNRIEA 32 8,000 5,000
Total current liabilities mEAEARE 3,170,491 2,937,233
Net current liabilities REBEEFHE (348,600) (652,730)
Total assets less current liabilities ZEZERRBDERE 1,440,719 1,337,315
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

Are B R

31 December 2017 R—ZE—+&+—-—F=+—AH
(Expressed in Renminbi) (A A R#51/{8)

2017 2016
—tF —E—KF
Notes RMB'000 RMB'000
B E AREET T ARET T
Non-current liabilities kRBEE
Interest-bearing borrowings SFEEE 28 124,758 179,780
Deferred tax liabilities EEFRIEAE 21 2,781 2,851
Deferred income % & g A 33 163,272 180,963
Finance lease payables MERERENMS A 32 1,840 10,840
Other non-current liabilities HEfIEmsaE 31 112,639 84,193
Total non-current liabilities FRBERARH 405,290 458,627
Net assets EEFE 1,035,429 878,688
Equity P =
Equity attributable to equity ARAREBEFFA
holders of the Company FE fk R =
Share capital [N B5 276,727 276,727
Reserves 1 36 673,612 533,769
950,339 810,496
Non-controlling interests FEFIMER 85,090 68,192
Total equity Emm 1,035,429 878,688
WANG Junze
TAN Wenhua (formerly known as WANG Chunwei)
B E ITHEFBEER)
Director Director
EFE EZE
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

n\/-_]_\

Year ended 31 December 2017 HE_-Z
(AAR 5 E)

(Expressed in Renminbi)

= N7/ —
1: 5 s

2 E) R

—tEFEF+TA=1T—HLFE

Attributable to equity shareholders of the Company

ARAEERFELES
General Non-
Share Share  reserve Capital  Exchange Other Accumulated controlling Total
capital  premium fund reseve  reserve reserve losses Total interests equity
ke RHEE -REEE EARE EXRE  HMRRE  2dEE Bt FRAHERE BEAR
RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000  RMB'000
BT ARETT ARETR ARBTR ARETT ARETR ARETR ARETT AR%Tn ARETR
As at 1 January 2016 RZE-~"E-A-H 216,727 1,731,645 208,735 42,768 (47,514) (66,989)  (1,074,632) 1,070,740 92123 1,162,863
Loss for the year EREE 7 = = = = - (39149 (239149 1178 (227400
Other comprehensive EREMZE
loss for the year: BE:
Changes in fair value of It EREATH
avallable-for-sale 29 (NRHER)
investments,
net of tax - - - - - (4443) = (4443) a (4443)
Exchange differences related A BN EIE A
to foreign operations NEZE = = = - (2157) = - (157 - (157
Totd comprehensve oss~ 2EEALE - - - ST M 0909 08568 18 (5340
Acquisition of non-controlling ~ YB& 7E 2 4
nterests - 2 = a - 4924 = 4924 (35,674) (30,750)
Appropriation to reserves ALERE - = 8,089 = = - (8,089) - - -
Asat 31 December 2016 RZF-AE
tZBz1+-A 216,727 1,731,645 216,824 42768 (69,090) (66,508)  (1,321,870) 810,4% 68,192 878,688
As at 1 January 2017 RZE-tE-A-H 206,721 1,731,645 216,824 42,768 (69,090) (66,508) (1,321,870) 810,49 68,192 878,688
Profit for the year EEHE = = = = = - 1074682 107462 16205 123,757
Other comprehensive income £ EE 127
for the year A
Exchange differences related BRI EF
to foreign operations NEES = = = - 9 - - 9 - 9
Total comprehensive income 2 F A 45 = = - - 9 - 107462 140,446 16,205 156,741
Disposal of a subsidiary HE-HHBAT = - (2,456) - - - 2,456 - - -
Capital contribution from 345 R E
non-controlling interests - - - - - - - - 5,000 5,000
Acquisition of non-controlling Wi ZE B B
interests S = S = S (603) S (603) (4:397) (5,000)
Appropriation to reserves ARERE = - 4,19 - - - (4,196) - - -
As at 31 December 2017 H=E-tF
tZR=1-H 216,721 1,731,645 218,564 42,768 (36,106) (67,111)  (1,216,148) 950,339 8509 1,035,429
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/_.]_\ Iﬁrﬁ/ﬂbgﬁ

Year ended 31 December 2017 HZE_-ZT
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R 5II&)

—tF+tA=t+—BLFE

2017 2016
—E—tfF —E-RF
RMB’'000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTFT
Cash flows from operating activities RE EFEHESRE
Profit/(loss) before tax BEAAE,(EE) 114,897 (209,964)
Adjustments for: T
Depreciation and amortisation TE REHE 7(c) 197,135 223,775
Loss on disposals of property, HEDE BERZEENAR
plant and equipment, and THAE BN FIBEREE
land lease prepayments 7(c) 1,053 27,219
Gain on previously held equity interest RiFxEHRERIKER A FE
remeasured at acquisition-date B EZ K
fair value 6 (8,819) -
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition U HE I BB & 7] b5 40 B8 B &
of a subsidiary 6 (159) =
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B E KB A A W 6 (32,520) (220)
Share of profits less losses of FEAG B & A B R B R & 18
associates 14,996 18,573
(Reversal of write down)/write-down FE (MUREE) #E
of inventories 23(b) (4,282) 825
Impairment losses on trade and FEUE 5 BR 3R K H th fE I
other receivables RIBR AR KRR 24, 25 18,900 36,617
Finance costs BE KR 8 121,702 117,102
Provision for warranties RAEE 31 28,446 22,306
Interest income from bank deposits B R 177 e F B WA 6 (9,144) (5,826)
Investment income from AEHERENKRERA
available-for-sale investments 6 = (6,205)
Net foreign exchange gain bE 5 W as % 58 366 (709)
Changes in working capital: LﬁA“”“ B :
Decrease/(increase) in inventories Em A, (38 n) 271,690 (58,404)
(Increase)/decrease in trade receivables, Fﬁﬂﬁl‘féf%ﬁﬁzﬁ TR KA -
prepayment, deposits and other & kA M EWRFIE
receivables () /> (940,983) 187,667
Decrease in prepayments for raw JR A4 %} B T8 - FRIE R
materials 10,925 16,961
Increase/(decrease) in trade and FHE%%M&E@fﬁM
other payables BN (R 248,147 (96,884)
Decrease in deferred income 3@@”&)\5)&9\ (17,691) (6,202)
Cash generated from operations RETEMBRS 14,659 266,631
The PRC income tax paid ENFEAER (3,910) (29,595)
Net cash generated from operating K& EZEFIESHESTFHE
activities 10,749 237,036
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
n/\ Eﬁi/ﬂbii‘%

Year ended 31 December 2017 HE=-T—+F+-A=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Renminbi) (LA A R# 3] E)

2016
—E—RF
Notes RMB’'000
B & AR T T
Cash flows from investing activities BREZHHEESRE
Payments for the purchase of HEBEME BER
property, plant and equipment R T HFRIE (126,794) (141,407)
Purchase of a shareholding in BE QR RE
an associate (1,500) =
Net cash outflow from acquisition of Wi — KB A 7
a subsidiary & FRE 37 11,229 =
Proceeds from disposals of land lease & + it 7 & I8 {~f 7K 1A
prepayments, property, plant and ME - BEREE
equipment Fr 1S 318 33,059 4,044
Purchases of available-for-sale B A A
investment (2,430) =
Proceeds from disposals of e ERE
available-for-sale investments Fr 18 518 = 125,705
Disposal of a subsidiary g — Pﬁ%”&ﬁj 38 (1,194) (112)
Interest received 2 F 2 9,144 5,826
Net cash used in from REZTHFMARSFE
investing activities (78,486) (5,944)
Cash flows from financing activities BMEZFEBHHESRE
Placement of pledged bank deposits BEFEHEBIEITFER (1,031,725) (891,720)
Release of pledged bank deposits ﬁﬁ&%ﬂ?ﬁﬁ RITHER 1,197,289 966,230
Proceeds from bank loans and RITERREME R
other loans W% IR 2,497,413 3,098,193
Repayment of bank loans and MBRTERR LB R
other loans (2,565,480) (3,161,539)
Repayment of finance lease payables EEBEMSENKIE (6,000) (1,000)
Acquisition of non-controlling interests U B 3F #2° 4 14 # %5 (5,000) (30,750)
Capital contribution from b R A
non-controlling interests 5,000 -
Interest paid 2 AT H B (121,702) (117,102)
Net cash used in financing activities BEFEFTAE S FH (30,205) (137,688)
Net (decrease)/increase in cash and Iﬁ.ﬁ&ﬁﬁ%’ﬁ%
cash equivalents W) iR (97,942) 93,404
Cash and cash equivalents at the ﬁf?ﬂiﬁﬁﬁ
beginning of the year REZEY 293,628 193,953
Effect of foreign exchange rate EEZEMH
changes, net FERE (4,501) 6,271
Cash and cash equivalents at FREER
the end of the year REeEEY 27 191,185 293,628
Analysis of balances of cash and ReRAELZEEY
cash equivalents HEeRDW
Cash and bank balances ReRBITEER 27 191,185 293,628
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

B 5 7R & MY &

31 December 2017 R=F—+F+=A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B A sERAE 4N » LA A REEFIH)

1. Corporate and group information 1.

Solargiga Energy Holdings Limited (the “Company”, together
with its subsidiaries, the “Group”, Hong Kong stock code:
757, Taiwan stock code: 9157.TT) is a leading supplier of
upstream and downstream vertically integrated solar energy
services. During the year, the Group was mainly engaged in
the following four main businesses:

(@) the manufacturing of, trading of and provision of
processing services for monocrystalline silicon solar
ingots/wafers;

(b)  the manufacturing and trading of monocrystalline silicon
solar cells;

(c) the manufacturing and trading of photovoltaic modules;
and

(d)  the construction and operating of photovoltaic power
plants.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company’'s principal subsidiaries are as

AR REEEH

MY aeRIZERBRAR([ARA] ERE
MEBAmSEIAER] HERSG KR :
757 BERKRHNRR :9157.TT) B LETHE
BEESANGRRGEHNELHER FA K
SEETZEREUATHEBEBEEER

(@) ABrEEAR T%/ﬁ%)#@?ﬁ CBER
REKRGEEEREERE R TR

(b)) RER AR ERIEEM

I
il
[HH

(B

(0 RERBEBEARAMF K

d HEEREEXRAKRE-

BRI B AR E R
ARAREBZMBARMNFEBNT

follows:
Proportion of ownership interest
fERERLA
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary Principal activities Legal form
ERAL/ B-8
RIBERAH £/ iR/ ASEN mELH il |
kS FEE ok BH/CRER ERES K& NERE IERE EERR
% % %

Jinzhou Rixin Silicon The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited liability company
Materials Co., Ltd. 9 May 2007, of RMB190,000,000 monocrystaline ingots/ EREEAH
("Rixin") Mainland China HBREGER wafers

BMASHMHERAR P& AR 190,000,007 HEREEERNE/HR
(1B&)) Z3%+¢E

EANA
HEAE

Jinzhou Yangguang The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 = 100 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited liability company
Energy Co., L1d. 15 December 2004, of RMB1,151,565,479 monocrystaline and BREMAH
("Yangguang") Mainland China HREHES multicrystalline ingots/waters

PHEXRRERAA 98 ARH1,151,565,47970 REREEERRIRER/

(&) k3 Bh
+ZA+aA
mEXE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R BT 5E

31 December 2017 R=ZT—+tF+=A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk B sEBAE SN - LAA REEDIE)

AEIREBER 3
EANBARBNER (&)

1. Corporate and group information (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Proportion of ownership interest

it 404
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a

Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form
AREL/ B-B
RILEREH /iR ASEN HELR il |
AAER REEHY B4 /ERTEX BRER K8 DAKE IEXH EERR
% % %
Jinzhou Youhua The PRC Registered and paid-in capital of 100 = 100 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited liability company
Silicon Materials 12 September 2008, RMB320,000,000 monocrystalline ingots/ ~ EREAAH
Co., Ltd. ("Youhua Mainland China HRREHEAARE wafers
Siicon”) G 320,000,0007C QEREBRERRE/ER
BMEEENHER ZERN\E
AA(ThER]) MATZR
HEAKE
Shanghai Jingji The PRC Registered and paid-in capital of 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited liability company
Electronic 16 March 1998, 556,950,000 polysiicon and EREARR
Materials Co., Ltd. Mainland China HRRESER monocrystalling ingots/
("lingji") q: 6,950,000% 1T wafers
LEREETFHHE “MANE REREESRER
RAR(TEK]) =R+7iB ERER/HhH
HEAK
Solar Technology Cayman Islands 15 Authorised capital of 100 100 = Investment holding Limited liability company
Investment December 2006 HK$400,000,000 of HKS0.10 REBR EREARA
(Cayman) Cop*** ~ HEHE each and issued share capital
(rsmc) “RRRE of HK$167,895,494
TZATEA T 7 & 400,000,000 7
SHEEIETR
BE{TRA167,8954948 T
Wealthy Rise Hong Kong HK§1 100 = 100 Trading of polysilicon and Limited liability company
International 21 June 2007 BT monocrystalline ingotsy  BREMAF
Limited % wafers/photovoltaic modules
EABRERAA “25+E BESRERERER/
AA=t-A Bh/RREH
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

BT #RAR IR

31 December 2017 H=F

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1. Corporate and group information (continued)

—tF+=-A=t+—H
(BREHEEBEN -

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

AARESIE)

Proportion of ownership interest

1.

PRAIREBER @®

B RN B A F &R (8

it 4 04
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary ~Principal activities Legal form
HaL/ B-B
RILHREH e/ 2R/ AREH AARE WE
S R EH/BROEX BRER ke LARE IERE EERR
% % %

Jinzhou Yangguang The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 9% = 9  Manufacturing of photovoltaic  Limited liability company
Jinmao Photovoltaic 17 July 2009, of RMB140,000,000 maodules EREFAF
Technology Co., Ltd.* Mainland China HAREHES gEtiRan
(*Jinzhou Jinmao") M AR %140,000,0007

M R SR R ZESNELRTLE
R AR hE AR
(M%)

Solargiga Energy (Hong Hong Kong HK$1 100 100 - Trading of ingots/wafers/ Limited liability company
Kong) Company 13 June 2008 1B polysilicon and BREALH
Limited &b monocrystalline photovoltaic

BraR (ER)ERAR “EE/\ERATZR modules
BERE/HH/%28ER
ERARAH

Silicon Solar Materials Hong Kong HKS1 100 - 100 Investment holding Limited liability company

Company Limited*** 26 November 2008 1787 RERR BEREAAH
ABREH Bk
ﬁﬂﬁ i “E3ENE

+-A=tAH

Solargiga Energy (Qinghai) ~ The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 51 - 51 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited liability company
Co., Ltd. ("Qinghai") 31 December 2008, of RMB90,000,000 monocrystalline ingots AREFAF

Bk (58 AR AR Mainland China HRESES HERERERKRE
([&8)) il A 190,000,007

“3E)NE
+=A=t+-H
HEXRE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

BT ¥R IR

31 December 2017 R=_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

1.

(BRBBEEBEN  AARKGIE)

Corporate and group information (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ATFREBER @

BB R RHE R (@)

Proportion of ownership interest

FERRRLA
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form
AL/ B-B
RILEREH R/ ER/ AZEH AXAR WE
LRER RiBgHY EH/DRTER ERER K8 LERE IEER EERR
% % %
Sino Light Investments British Virgin Islands Authorized capital of 100 100 = Investment holding Limited liability company
Limited*** 2 December 2009 US§500,000 of US$0.001 REBR EREARA
ERRTEE each and issued share
“EENETZAZH capital of US$53,920
% B 85000005 7T
GREB0IETR
B#17RA53,920% T
You Xin Investments Hong Kong HK$100,000 100 - 100 Investment holding Limited liability company
Limitegh+* 29 July 2009 100,000% 7T RE#ER AREEAF
HEREBRA R )
S YIRS
tAZthA
Jinzhou Huachang The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing and trading of  Limited liability company
Photovoltaic 23 October 2006, of RMB130,000,000 solar cells EREARA
Technology Company Mainland China A RELES HEREEARHE)
Limited i AR 130,000,007
ANEEARBR Z3%5E
ERAR +A-t=H
hEXE
Jinzhou Solar Technology ~ The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing of solar Limited liability company
Company Limited 18 August 2011, of RMBS1,000,000 modules and import of  BREFEAF
BHEXABERRER Mainland China HfREHER related equipments
A hE AR 51,000,000 HEAGRATRED
“E--¥\AT/R BERE

hERE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR KRBT 5F

31 December 2017 R=—Z—tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B B A EBEE N - LA AR K FIE)

1. Corporate and group information (continued) 1. 2T R EEE H (@)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

BB AR HE R (E)

Proportion of ownership interest

it 4 04
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary ~Principal activities Legal form
HaL/ B
RILHREH e/ 2R/ AREH AARE HE
AAER REERE BN/ ER7ER ERER WA LERE IERE EEFA
% % %

Jinzhou Xinyangguang The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 = 100 Construction of photovoltaic  Limited fiability company
Photovoltaic 24 September 2007, of RMB30,000,000 power plant BREALH
Application Co., Ltd. Mainland China HAREHES BEEREY
("Xinyangguang") HE ALK 30,000,000

BNFE L RER ZETtE
BRAR(HEx) AB-TEA

hEAE

Jinzhou Xinfin Solargiga The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Trading of solar cells and solar  Limited fiability company
Industrial and Trading 26 June 2014, of RMB100,000 modules BREFAF
Co., Ltd. (*finzhou Mainland China ARRESER BEARHE D RABHEAL
Xinlin”) HE AR 100,000

ANEREXIZAR ZE-mE
Rl ([sME) ABZTAH

hERE

Jinzhou Jiuxin Solargiga The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Trading of solar cells and solar  Limited fiability company
Technology and 26 June 2014, of RMB100,000 maodules EREFAF
Trading Co,, Ltd. Mainland China HMRESER BEARRE L RAREAL
(*linzhou Jiuxin") M AR #100,00070

BNNERXHEAR ZE-mE
Rasmnzl) ABZTAH

hEAE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

BT ¥R IR

31 December 2017

R=ZF—tH+-_A=+—H
(BmAEFEREN

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

AARESIE)

1. Corporate and group information (continued) 1.
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

ATFREBER @

BB R RHE R (@)

Proportion of ownership interest

it 430401
Place and date of Authorised/
incorporation/ registered/ Group's Held Held
establishment and paid-in/ effective by the by a
Name of company place of operation issued capital interest Company subsidiary  Principal activities Legal form
AL/ H-
RItERAH EE/ iR/ AZEN AXRR WE
NALH JEE R Bl /BRMER ERER K8 LERE IEER EEFA
% % %
Jinzhou Yangguang The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 81 - 81 Manufacturing of photovoltaic  Limited liability company
Motech Renewable 26 October 2015, of RMBG0,000,000 modules BREEAH
Energy Co., Ltd Mainland China HMREGER HEkREs
("Motech") i AR 60,000,000
PNER KR RRER Z2-1%
AA(TREl) tA=fAH
mERE
Jinzhou Chuanghui The PRC Registered and paid-in capital 100 - 100 Manufacturing of multicrystalline Limited liability company
New Energy Co. 17 December 2010, of RMB200,000,000 ingotsiwafers EREEAA
Ltd.** (*Chuanghui”) Mainland China HRRESEL RESREERER
EH RS A A i AR 200,000,000
ERAR(EE) Z2-%%
TZAtTtA
mERE
Jinzhou Yiyang The PRC Registered capital of 100 - 100 Manufacturing and Limited liability company
New Energy Co ., Lid. 19 January 2017, RMB25,000,000 and trading of monocrystallne ~ EREEAA
("Jinzhou Yiyang") Mainland China paid-in capital of ingots/wafers
B ER R i RMB5,730,000 RERREERRBER
BRAR ZE-tf AR
(5N ER) ~AthH AR 25,000,007
hEXE RE&ER
AR5,730,0007
Qujing Yangguang The PRC Registered capital of 100 & 100 Manufacturing and Limited liability company
Energy Silicon 29 August 2017, RMB73,500,000 and trading of monocrystalline AR EEA
Materials Co., Ltd. Mainland China paid-in capital of ingots/wafers
("Quiing Yangguang”) & RMB30,000,000 HEREEEREREMER
3 K AR R AT Z5-tf AR
BRAR MNAZthA AR 73,500,007
(&5 t]) hERE RESER
AR 30,000,000
Beizhen Yangguang Jiaxi  The PRC Registered capital of 51 = 51 Construction of photovoltaic  Limited liability company
New Energy 21 November 2017, RMB500,000 power plant BREFAH
Co., Ltd. ("Beizhen Mainland China AR BRAKER
Yangquang') i AR 500,000
FEBREERER Bt
BRAT t-A=t-H
([e&BEx]) hEXE
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR KRBT 5F

31 December 2017 R=_ZT—+tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk A EHEIN - LA REZIE)

Corporate and group information (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

* Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd. was renamed
as Jinzhou Yangguang Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd.
during the year ended 31 December 2017.

it During the year, the Group acquired Jinzhou Aoke New Energy
Co., Ltd. from Liaoning Oxiranchem, Inc.. Further details of this
acquisition are included in note 37 to the financial statements.
Jinzhou Aoke New Energy Co., Ltd. was renamed as lJinzhou
Chuanghui New Energy Co., Ltd. during the year ended 31
December 2017.

***  Apart from investment holding, the subsidiary did not have any
operation during the year ended 31 December 2017.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of
the Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the
opinion of the directors, result in particulars of excessive
length.

2.1 Basis of preparation

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
(which include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards,
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and
Interpretations) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants(“HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention. These financial statements
are presented in Renminbi (“RMB”) and all values are rounded
to the nearest thousand except when otherwise indicated.

As at 31 December 2017, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB348,600,000. As at 31
December 2017, the Group had cash and cash equivalents of
RMB191,185,000 and short-term bank loans, including current
portion of long-term bank loans of RMB1,922,322,000. The
liquidity of the Group is primarily depending on its ability to
maintain adequate cash flows from operations, to renew its
short-term bank loans and to obtain adequate external
financing to support its working capital and meet its
obligations and commitments when they become due.
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2.1 REEE%E )

2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

The Group has carried out a review of its cash flow forecast
for the twelve months ending 31 December 2018. Based on
such forecast, the directors believe that adequate sources of
liquidity exist to fund the Group’s working capital and capital
expenditure requirements, and to meet its short term debt
obligations and other liabilities and commitments as they
become due in the twelve months ending 31 December 2018.
In preparing the cash flow forecast, management has
considered historical cash requirements of the Group, as well
as other key factors, including anticipated sales in the twelve
months ending 31 December 2018, unutilised banking facilities
as at 31 December 2017 from the Group’s major banks with
an amount of RMB461,790,000 which will be expired on 31
December 2020 and an amount of RMB45,206,000 which will
be expired on 31 December 2019.

Based on the above factors, the directors are confident that
the Group will have sufficient funding to enable the Group to
operate as a going concern and meet its financial obligations
as and when they fall due for at least 12 months from the
reporting date. Accordingly, the financial statements have been
prepared on a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”) for the year ended 31 December
2017. A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity),
directly or indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable
returns from its involvement with the investee and has the
ability to affect those returns through its power over the
investee (i.e., existing rights that give the Group the current
ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the
Group considers all relevant facts and circumstances in

assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders
of the investee;

(b)  rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting rights.
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2.1 Basis of preparation (continued)

2.2

SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED B53%

Basis of consolidation (continued)

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for the
same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue
to be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the parent of the
Group and to the non-controlling interests, even if this results
in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. All
intra-group assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described in the
accounting policy for subsidiaries below. A change in the
ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary;
(i) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest; and (iii)
the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity; and
recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received; (ii)
the fair value of any investment retained and; (iii) any resulting
surplus of deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share of
components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the
Group had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRSs for the
first time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 7 Disclosure Initiative

Amendments to HKAS 12 Recognition of Deferred Tax
Assets for Unrealised Losses
Disclosure of Interests in Other
Entities: Clarification of the

Scope of HKFRS 12

Amendments to HKFRS 12
included in Annual
Improvements to HKFRSs
2014-2016 Cycle

None of the above amendments to HKFRSs has had a
significant financial effect on these financial statements.
Disclosure has been made in note 39 to the financial
statements upon the adoption of amendments to HKAS 7,
which require an entity to provide disclosures that enable users
of financial statements to evaluate changes in liabilities arising
from financing activities, including both changes arising from
cash flows and non-cash changes.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 2.3 EfEMGEERERZE B K
financial reporting standards HEER
The Group has not applied the following new and revised REBWERZENBHREANEATIIE R
HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in MR ARERZ T RSB BB ERE
these financial statements. AR o

Amendments to
HKFRS 2

Amendments to
HKFRS 4

HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 9
Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011)
HKFRS 15
Amendments to
HKFRS 15
HKFRS 16
HKFRS 17
Amendments to
HKAS 28
Amendments to
HKAS 40
HK(IFRIC) — Int 22

HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

Annual Improvements
2014-2016 Cycle
Annual Improvements
2015-2017 Cycle

Classification and Measurement of Share-
based Payment Transactions’

Applying HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments with
HKFRS 4 Insurance Contracts’

Financial Instruments’

Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation’

Sale or Contribution of Assets between an
Investor and its Associate or Joint Ventur

Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

Clarifications to HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers’

Leases?

Insurance Contracts’

Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint
Ventures’

Transters of Investment Property’

Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance
Consideration’
Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments’

Amendments to HKFRS 1 and HKAS 28’

Amendments to HKFRS 3, HKFRS 11, HKAS
12 and HKAS 232

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2018

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019

g Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021

- No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (continued)

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to
be applicable to the Group is described below. Of those
standards, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 15 will be applicable for the
Group's financial year ending 31 December 2018 and are
expected to have a significant impact upon adoption. Whilst
management has performed a detailed assessment of the
estimated impacts of these standards, that assessment is based
on the information currently available to the Group, including
expectations of the application of transitional provision options
and policy choices. The actual impacts upon adoption could be
different to those below, depending on additional reasonable
and supportable information being made available to the
Group at the time of applying the standards and the
transitional provisions and policy options finally adopted.

The HKICPA issued amendments to HKFRS 2 in August 2016
that address three main areas: the effects of vesting conditions
on the measurement of a cash-settled share-based payment
transaction; the classification of a share-based payment
transaction with net settlement features for withholding a
certain amount in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation
associated with the share-based payment; and accounting
where a modification to the terms and conditions of a share-
based payment transaction changes its classification from cash-
settled to equity-settled. The amendments clarify that the
approach used to account for vesting conditions when
measuring equity-settled share-based payments also applies to
cash-settled share-based payments. The amendments introduce
an exception so that a share-based payment transaction with
net share settlement features for withholding a certain amount
in order to meet the employee’s tax obligation is classified in
its entirety as an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction when certain conditions are met. Furthermore, the
amendments clarify that if the terms and conditions of a cash-
settled share-based payment transaction are modified, with the
result that it becomes an equity-settled share-based payment
transaction, the transaction is accounted for as an equity-
settled transaction from the date of the modification. On
adoption, entities are required to apply the amendments
without restating prior periods, but retrospective application is
permitted if they elect to adopt for all three amendments and
other criteria are met. The Group will adopt the amendments
from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (continued)

In September 2014, the HKICPA issued the final version of

HKFRS 9, bringing together all

phases of the financial

instruments project to replace HKAS 39 and all previous

versions of HKFRS 9. The

standard introduces new

requirements for classification and measurement, impairment
and hedge accounting. The Group will adopt HKFRS 9 from 1

January 2018. The Group will
information and will

not restate comparative
recognise any transition adjustments

against the opening balance of equity at 1 January 2018.
During 2017, the Group has performed a detailed assessment
of the impact of the adoption of HKFRS 9. The expected
impacts relate to the classification and measurement and the
impairment requirements and are summarised as follows:

(a)

Classification and measurement

Upon adoption of HKFRS 9, the Group expects that there
will be change in the current classification and
measurement of the financial assets. It expects to
continue measuring at fair value all financial assets
currency held at fair value. Equity investments currently
held as available for sale will be measured at fair value
through other comprehensive income as the investments
are intended to be held for the foreseeable future and
the Group expects to apply the option to present fair
value changes in other comprehensive income. Gains and
losses recorded in other comprehensive income for the
equity investments cannot be recycled to profit or loss
when the investments are derecognised.

Impairment

HKFRS 9 requires an impairment on debt instruments
recorded at amortised cost or at fair value through other
comprehensive income, lease receivables, loan
commitments and financial guarantee contracts that are
not accounted for at fair value through profit or loss
under HKFRS 9, to be recorded based on an expected
credit loss model either on a twelve-month basis or a
lifetime basis. The Group will apply the simplified
approach and record lifetime expected losses that are
estimated based on the present values of all cash
shortfalls over the remaining life of all of its trade
receivables. Furthermore, the Group will apply the
general approach and record twelve-month expected
credit losses that are estimated based on the possible
default events on its other receivables within the next
twelve months. The effect of adoption on the Group's
financial statements is not expected to be material.
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2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and
its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in the
investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for
adoptlon now.

HKFRS 15, issued in July 2014, establishes a new five-step
model to account for revenue arising from contracts with
customers. Under HKFRS 15, revenue is recognised at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which an entity
expects to be entitled in exchange for transferring goods or
services to a customer. The principles in HKFRS 15 provide a
more structured approach for measuring and recognising
revenue. The standard also introduces extensive qualitative and
quantitative disclosure requirements, including disaggregation of
total revenue, information about performance obligations,
changes in contract asset and liability account balances between
periods and key judgements and estimates. The standard will
supersede all current revenue recognition requirements under
HKFRSs. Either a full retrospective application or a modified
retrospective adoption is required on the initial application of
the standard. In June 2016, the HKICPA issued amendments to
HKFRS 15 to address the implementation issues on identifying
performance obligations, application guidance on principal
versus agent and licences of intellectual property, and transition.
The amendments are also intended to help ensure a more
consistent application when entities adopt HKFRS 15 and
decrease the cost and complexity of applying the standard. The
Group plans to adopt the transitional provisions in HKFRS 15 to
recognise the cumulative effect of initial adoption as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1
January 2018. The Group's Principal activities in year 2017 and
years before are mainly the manufacturing of, trading of and
provision of processing services for monocrystalline silicon solar
ingots/wafers, and the manufacturing of and trading of
monocrystalline silicon solar cells and photovoltaic modules, and
the construction and operating of power plants. The Group
expects that the transitional adjustment to be made on 1
January 2018 upon initial adoption of HKFRS 15 will not be
material. This is mainly because the Group recognizes revenue
upon the transfer of significant risks and rewards, which
coincides with the fulfilment of performance obligations.
Additionally, the Group’s contracts with customers generally has
only one performance obligation. However, the Group is in the
process of identifying appropriate changes to its business
processes and controls to ensure that all future customer
contracts are properly evaluated under the new standard.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R BT 5E

31 December 2017 R=_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& 3B =EBR&E I+ LA RESI(E)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 2.3 B i
financial reporting standards (continued) &2 Al o)

(a)

Presentation and disclosure

The presentation and disclosure requirements in HKFRS
15 are more detailed than those under the current
HKAS 18. The presentation requirements represent a
significant change from current practice and will
significantly increase the volume of disclosures required
in the Group’s financial statements. Many of the
disclosure requirements in HKFRS 15 are new. In
particular, the Group expects that the notes to the
financial statements will be expanded because of the
disclosure of significant judgements made on
determining the transaction prices of those contracts
that include variable consideration, how the transaction
prices have been allocated to the performance
obligations, and the assumptions made to estimate the
stand-alone selling price of each performance obligation.
In addition, as required by HKFRS 15, the Group will
disaggregate revenue recognised from contracts with
customers into categories that depict how the nature,
amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash
flows are affected by economic factors. It will also
disclose information about the relationship between the
disclosure of disaggregated revenue and revenue
information disclosed for each reportable segment.
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31 December 2017 R=—Z—tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BB iERR &SN » U AR ¥ 51{E)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong

financial reporting standards (continued)

HKFRS 16, issued in May 2016, replaces HKAS 17 Leases,
HK(IFRIC)-Int 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease, HK(SIC)-Int 15 Operating Leases — Incentives and
HK(SIC)-Int 27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions
Involving the Legal Form of a Lease. The standard sets out the
principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and
disclosure of leases and requires lessees to recognise assets
and liabilities for most leases. The standard includes two
recognition exemptions for lessees — leases of low-value
assets and short-term leases. At the commencement date of a
lease, a lessee will recognise a liability to make lease payments
(i.e., the lease liability) and an asset representing the right to
use the underlying asset during the lease term (i.e., the right-
of-use asset). The right-of-use asset is subsequently measured
at cost less accumulated depreciation and any impairment
losses unless the right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property in HKAS 40. The lease liability is
subsequently increased to reflect the interest on the lease
liability and reduced for the lease payments. Lessees will be
required to separately recognise the interest expense on the
lease liability and the depreciation expense on the right-of-use
asset. Lessees will also be required to remeasure the lease
liability upon the occurrence of certain events, such as change
in the lease term and change in future lease payments
resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine
those payments. Lessees will generally recognise the amount of
the remeasurement of the lease liability as an adjustment to
the right-of-use asset. Lessor accounting under HKFRS 16 is
substantially unchanged from the accounting under HKAS 17.
Lessors will continue to classify all leases using the same
classification principle as in HKAS 17 and distinguish between
operating leases and finance leases. HKFRS 16 requires lessees
and lessors to make more extensive disclosures than under
HKAS 17. Lessees can choose to apply the standard using
either a full retrospective or a modified retrospective approach.
The Group expects to adopt HKFRS 16 from 1 January 2019.
The Group is currently assessing the impact of HKFRS 16 upon
adoption and is considering whether it will choose to take
advantage of the practical expedients available and which
transition approach and reliefs will be adopted. As disclosed in
note 41 to the financial statements, at 31 December 2017,
the Group had future minimum lease payments under non-
cancellable operating leases in aggregate of approximately
RMB2,324,000. Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, certain amounts
included therein may need to be recognised as new right-of-
use assets and lease liabilities. Further analysis, however, will
be needed to determine the amount of new rights of use
assets and lease liabilities to be recognised, including, but not
limited to, any amounts relating to leases of low-value assets
and short term leases, other practical expedients and reliefs
chosen, and new leases entered into before the date of
adoption.
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31 December 2017 R=ZT—+tF+=A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A sERAZE 4N - LA REEFI(E)

2.3 Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong 2.3

financial reporting standards (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 40, issued in April 2017, clarify when
an entity should transfer property, including property under
construction or development, into or out of investment
property. The amendments state that a change in use occurs
when the property meets, or ceases to meet, the definition of
investment property and there is evidence of the change in
use. A mere change in management’s intentions for the use of
a property does not provide evidence of a change in use. The
amendments should be applied prospectively to the changes in
use that occur on or after the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies the
amendments. An entity should reassess the classification of
property held at the date that it first applies the amendments
and, if applicable, reclassify property to reflect the conditions
that exist at that date. Retrospective application is only
permitted if it is possible without the use of hindsight. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from 1
January 2018. The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial statements.

HK(IFRIC)-Int 22, issued in June 2017, provides guidance on
how to determine the date of the transaction when applying
HKAS 21 to the situation where an entity receives or pays
advance consideration in a foreign currency and recognises a
non-monetary asset or liability. The interpretation clarifies that
the date of the transaction for the purpose of determining the
exchange rate to use on initial recognition of the related asset,
expense or income (or part of it) is the date on which an
entity initially recognises the non-monetary asset (such as a
prepayment) or non-monetary liability (such as deferred
income) arising from the payment or receipt of the advance
consideration. If there are multiple payments or receipts in
advance of recognising the related item, the entity must
determine the transaction date for each payment or receipt of
the advance consideration. Entities may apply the
interpretation on a full retrospective basis or on a prospective
basis, either from the beginning of the reporting period in
which the entity first applies the interpretation or the
beginning of the prior reporting period presented as
comparative information in the financial statements of the
reporting period in which the entity first applies the
interpretation. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation
prospectively from 1 January 2018. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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2.3

2.4

—tF+=-A=+—H
(BEBEFEREN  UARKIE)

Issued but not yet effective Hong Kong
financial reporting standards (continued)

HK(IFRIC)-Int 23, issued in July 2017, addresses the accounting
for income taxes (current and deferred) when tax treatments
involve uncertainty that affects the application of HKAS 12
(often referred to as “uncertain tax positions”). The
interpretation does not apply to taxes or levies outside the
scope of HKAS 12, nor does it specifically include
requirements relating to interest and penalties associated with
uncertain tax treatments. The interpretation specifically
addresses (i) whether an entity considers uncertain tax
treatments separately; (i) the assumptions an entity makes
about the examination of tax treatments by taxation
authorities; (iii) how an entity determines taxable profits or tax
losses, tax bases, unused tax losses, unused tax credits and tax
rates; and (iv) how an entity considers changes in facts and
circumstances. The interpretation is to be applied
retrospectively, either fully retrospectively without the use of
hindsight or retrospectively with the cumulative effect of
application as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date
of initial application, without the restatement of comparative
information. The Group expects to adopt the interpretation
from 1 January 2019. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Summary of significant accounting
policies
Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting
rights and over which it is in a position to exercise significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in
the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee, but
is not control or joint control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's
share of net assets under the equity method of accounting,
less any impairment losses. Adjustments are made to bring into
line any dissimilar accounting policies that may exist.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FEBTFEHEHBE @

policies (continued)
Investments in associates (continued)

The Group’s share of the post-acquisition results and other
comprehensive income of associates is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
statement of comprehensive income, respectively. In addition,
when there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share of any
changes, when applicable, in the consolidated statement of
changes in equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from
transactions between the Group and its associates are
eliminated to the extent of the Group’s investments in the
associates, except where unrealised losses provide evidence of
an impairment of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from
the acquisition of associates is included as part of the Group's
investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not
remeasured. Instead, the investment continues to be accounted
for under the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate or joint control over the
joint venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the
carrying amount of the associate and the fair value of the
retained investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.

When an investment in an associate is classified as held for
sale, it is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-
current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations.

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree
and the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for
control of the acquiree. For each business combination, the
Group elects whether to measure the non-controlling interests
in the acquiree that are present ownership interests and entitle
their holders to a proportionate share of net assets in the
event of liquidation at fair value or at the proportionate share
of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets. All other components
of non-controlling interests are measured at fair value.
Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms,
economic circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the
acquisition date. This includes the separation of embedded
derivatives in host contracts of the acquiree.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the
previously held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition
date fair value and any resulting gain or loss is recognised in
profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within
equity.

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of the
aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of
the Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree
over the identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities
assumed. If the sum of this consideration and other items is
lower than the fair value of the net assets acquired, the
difference is, after reassessment, recognised in profit or loss as
a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be
impaired. The Group performs its annual impairment test of
goodwill as at 31 December. For the purpose of impairment
testing, goodwill acquired in a business combination is, from
the acquisition date, allocated to each of the Group’s cash-
generating units, or groups of cash-generating units, that are
expected to benefit from the synergies of the combination,
irrespective of whether other assets or liabilities of the Group
are assigned to those units or groups of units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised.
An impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in
a subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with
the operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount
of the operation when determining the gain or loss on the
disposal. Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is
measured based on the relative value of the operation
disposed of and the portion of the cash-generating unit
retained.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Fair value measurement

The Group measures its equity investments at fair value at the
end of each reporting period. Fair value is the price that would
be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an
orderly transaction between market participants at the
measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on
the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal
market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or
liability. The principal or the most advantageous market must
be accessible by the Group. The fair value of an asset or a
liability is measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or liability,
assuming that market participants act in their economic best
interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable
inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the
lowest level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is unobservable
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

(BEBEFEREN  UARKIE)

policies (continued)
Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the
hierarchy by reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as
a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than
inventories and financial assets), the asset’s recoverable
amount is estimated. An asset’s recoverable amount is the
higher of the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s value in use and
its fair value less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash
inflows that are largely independent of those from other assets
or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset
belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in
those expense categories consistent with the function of the
impaired asset.

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is
estimated. A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been a
change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount of that asset, but not to an amount higher than the
carrying amount that would have been determined (net of any
depreciation/amortisation) had no impairment loss been
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the statement of profit or loss in
the period in which it arises.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FEBTFEHEHBE @

policies (continued)

Related parties 8 Hs

A party is considered to be related to the Group if: EAIA LR E AT IG5 BB A B 2 Ba B

7o

(@)  the party is a person or a close member of that person’s (@ BREALTATHALTIHEATIMAL
family and that person ZERBE
() has control or joint control over the Group; () HANE B A 1 R ok 2L R

%
(i) has significant influence over the Group; or iy HAEEHEBERTZEN &
(i) is a member of the key management personnel of (i) ArREBHAEEFARHNTE
the Group or of a parent of the Group; BEAER
or =
(b) the party is an entity where any of the following (b) BAALTRERTIEMMEHE2EE :

conditions applies:

() the entity and the Group are members of the same (i) ZEREAAEE AR —EB MK
group; =SNG

(i) one entity is an associate or joint venture of the (i) #Z E\LF_’;;@—F’EJ B(HE—H
other entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow EBHOEAR - WBAFIHER
subsidiary of the other entity); Lil=ENGTD) E’J tENAEIREE R

Al

(i)  the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the (i) ZEBRASEAR—F=71
same third party; BEANA

(iv)  one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and (ivy ZEBAFE=-FMAERR M
the other entity is an associate of the third entity; SEBARBE=THBER

=]

(v)  the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the (v) HZEBABRANEE NSRS
benefit of employees of either the Group or an BB E TR ZRIKEFR G
entity related to the Group; gPr—7

(vi)  the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a (vi) ZEREXEFTA T 8%
person identified in (a); s HEE ]

(vii) a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence (vii) ExﬁfrﬂZ}\:tﬂE ERER
over the entity or is a member of the key iﬁ?ﬁﬁ_}szﬁm B(I%ZE
management personnel of the entity (or of a BEQARDNEEE ﬁ}\é\ 3

parent of the entity); and
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(viii) the entity, or any member of a group of which it
is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or to the parent of the
Group.

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment, other than construction in
progress, are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and
any impairment losses. When an item of property, plant and
equipment is classified as held for sale or when it is part of a
disposal group classified as held for sale, it is not depreciated
and is accounted for in accordance with HKFRS 5. The cost of
an item of property, plant and equipment comprises its
purchase price and any directly attributable costs of bringing
the asset to its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as repairs and
maintenance, is normally charged to the statement of profit or
loss in the period in which it is incurred. In situations where
the recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount of the
asset as a replacement. Where significant parts of property,
plant and equipment are required to be replaced at intervals,
the Group recognises such parts as individual assets with
specific useful lives and depreciates them accordingly.

Depreciation is calculated to write off the cost of items of
property, plant and equipment, less their estimated residual
value, if any, using the straight-line method over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

—  Buildings situated on leasehold land are depreciated over
the shorter of the unexpired term of lease and their
estimated useful lives, being no more than 50 years after
the date of completion.

-  Plant and machinery 10 to 25 years

—  Other fixed assets 3 to 5 years
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24 FESHHERE )

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation
(continued)

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of the item is
allocated on a reasonable basis between the parts and each
part is depreciated separately. The useful life of an asset, its
residual value and the depreciation method are reviewed
annually.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or
retirement recognised in the statement of profit or loss in the
year the asset is derecognised is the difference between the
net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the relevant
asset.

Construction in progress

Construction in progress is stated at cost less impairment
losses.

Cost comprises the direct costs of construction as well as
interest expenses capitalised during the periods of construction
and installation. Capitalisation of these costs ceases and the
construction in progress is transferred to property, plant and
equipment when substantially all the activities necessary to
prepare the asset for its intended use are completed. No
depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress
until it is substantially ready for its intended use.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of
acquisition. The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to
be either finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives
are subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that
the intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period
and the amortisation method for an intangible asset with a
finite useful life are reviewed at least at each financial year
end.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (continued)

Intangible assets with indefinite useful lives are tested for
impairment annually either individually or at the cash-
generating unit level. Such intangible assets are not amortised.
The useful life of an intangible asset with an indefinite life is
reviewed annually to determine whether the indefinite life
assessment continues to be supportable. If not, the change in
the useful life assessment from indefinite to finite is accounted
for on a prospective basis.

Amortisation of intangible assets with finite useful lives is
charged to profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the
assets’ estimated useful lives as follows:

= Patents 9 years
- Customer relationship 10 years
- Customer contracts 1 year
Leases

Leases that transfer substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets to the Group, other than legal title, are
accounted for as finance leases. At the inception of a finance
lease, the cost of the leased asset is capitalised at the present
value of the minimum lease payments and recorded together
with the obligation, excluding the interest element, to reflect
the purchase and financing. Assets held under capitalised
finance leases, including prepaid land lease payments under
finance leases, are included in property, plant and equipment,
and depreciated over the shorter of the lease terms and the
estimated useful lives of the assets. The finance costs of such
leases are charged to the statement of profit or loss so as to
provide a constant periodic rate of charge over the lease
terms.

Assets acquired through hire purchase contracts of a financing

nature are accounted for as finance leases, but are depreciated
over their estimated useful lives.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Leases (continued)

Leases where substantially all the rewards and risks of
ownership of assets remain with the lessor are accounted for
as operating leases. Where the Group is the lessor, assets
leased by the Group under operating leases are included in
non-current assets, and rentals receivable under the operating
leases are credited to the statement of profit or loss on the
straight-line basis over the lease terms. Where the Group is the
lessee, rentals payable under operating leases net of any
incentives received from the lessor are charged to the
statement of profit or loss on the straight-line basis over the
lease terms.

Prepaid land lease payments under operating leases are initially
stated at cost and subsequently recognised on the straight-line
basis over the lease terms.

When the lease payments cannot be allocated reliably between
the land and buildings elements, the entire lease payments are
included in the cost of the land and buildings as a finance
lease in property, plant and equipment.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables
and available-for-sale financial investments. When financial
assets are recognised initially, they are measured at fair value
plus transaction costs that are attributable to the acquisition of
the financial assets, except in the case of financial assets
recorded at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with
fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an
active market. After initial measurement, such assets are
subsequently measured at amortised cost using the effective
interest rate method less any allowance for impairment.
Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and includes fees or costs
that are an integral part of the effective interest rate. The
effective interest rate amortisation is included in the statement
of profit or loss. The loss arising from impairment is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Available-for-sale financial investments

Available-for-sale financial investments are non-derivative
financial assets in unlisted equity investments. Equity
investments classified as available for sale are those which are
neither classified as held for trading nor designated as at fair
value through profit or loss.

After initial recognition, available-for-sale financial investments
are subsequently measured at fair value, with unrealised gains
or losses recognised as other comprehensive income in other
reserve until the investment is derecognised, at which time the
cumulative gain or loss is recognised in the statement of profit
or loss, or until the investment is determined to be impaired,
when the cumulative gain or loss is reclassified from other
reserve to the statement of profit or loss. Interest and
dividends earned whilst holding the available-for-sale financial
investments are reported as interest income and dividend
income, respectively and are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss in accordance with the policies set out for
"Revenue recognition” below.

When the fair value of unlisted equity investments cannot be
reliably measured because (a) the variability in the range of
reasonable fair value estimates is significant for that
investment or (b) the probabilities of the various estimates
within the range cannot be reasonably assessed and used in
estimating fair value, such investments are stated at cost less
any impairment losses.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The Group evaluates whether the ability and intention to sell
its available-for-sale financial assets in the near term are still
appropriate. When, in rare circumstances, the Group is unable
to trade these financial assets due to inactive markets, the
Group may elect to reclassify these financial assets if
management has the ability and intention to hold the assets
for the foreseeable future or until maturity.

For a financial asset reclassified from the available-for-sale
category, the fair value carrying amount at the date of
reclassification becomes its new amortised cost and any
previous gain or loss on that asset that has been recognised in
equity is amortised to profit or loss over the remaining life of
the investment using the effective interest rate. Any difference
between the new amortised cost and the maturity amount is
also amortised over the remaining life of the asset using the
effective interest rate. If the asset is subsequently determined
to be impaired, then the amount recorded in equity is
reclassified to the statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial
asset or part of a group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (i.e., removed from the Group’s consolidated
statement of financial position) when:

o the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have
expired; or
o the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows

from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a
third party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and
either (a) the Group has transferred substantially all the
risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of
the asset.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets (continued)

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash
flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through
arrangement, it evaluates if and to what extent it has retained
the risks and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the
Group continues to recognise the transferred asset to the
extent of the Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the
Group also recognises an associated liability. The transferred
asset and the associated liability are measured on a basis that
reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee
over the transferred assets is measured at the lower of the
original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum
amount of consideration that the Group could be required to

repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period
whether there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a
group of financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if
one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition
of the asset and that loss event have an impact on the
estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or the group
of financial assets that can be reliably estimated. Evidence of
impairment may include indications that a debtor or a group
of debtors is experiencing significant financial difficulty, default
or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the
probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate
with defaults.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHHEBE @

policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses individually whether objective evidence of impairment
exists individually for financial assets that are individually
significant, or collectively for financial assets that are not
individually significant. If the Group determines that no
objective evidence of impairment exists for an individually
assessed financial asset, whether significant or not, it includes
the asset in a group of financial assets with similar credit risk
characteristics and collectively assesses them for impairment.
Assets that are individually assessed for impairment and for
which an impairment loss is, or continues to be, recognised
are not included in a collective assessment of impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as
the difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the
present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future
credit losses that have not yet been incurred). The present
value of the estimated future cash flows is discounted at the
financial asset’s original effective interest rate (i.e., the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition).

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use
of an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss. Interest income continues to be
accrued on the reduced carrying amount using the rate of
interest used to discount the future cash flows for the purpose
of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and receivables
together with any associated allowance are written off when
there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and all
collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by
adjusting the allowance account. If a write-off is later
recovered, the recovery is credited in the statement of profit or
loss.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FEBTEREHME @

policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried
at fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the
amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated
future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of
return for a similar financial asset. Impairment losses on these
assets are not reversed.

Available-for-sale financial investments

For available-for-sale financial investments, the Group assesses
at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective
evidence that an investment or a group of investments is
impaired.

If an available-for-sale asset is impaired, an amount comprising
the difference between its cost (net of any principal payment
and amortisation) and its current fair value, less any
impairment loss previously recognised in the statement of
profit or loss, is removed from other comprehensive income
and recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

In the case of equity investments classified as available for sale,
objective evidence would include a significant or prolonged
decline in the fair value of an investment below its cost. The
determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged” requires
judgement. “Significant” is evaluated against the original cost
of the investment and “prolonged” against the period in
which the fair value has been below its original cost. Where
there is evidence of impairment, the cumulative loss —
measured as the difference between the acquisition cost and
the current fair value, less any impairment loss on that
investment previously recognised in the statement of profit or
loss — is removed from other comprehensive income and
recognised in the statement of profit or loss. Impairment losses
on equity instruments classified as available for sale are not
reversed through the statement of profit or loss. Increases in
their fair value after impairment are recognised directly in
other comprehensive income.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FESTHHEBE @

policies (continued)
Impairment of financial assets (continued)
Available-for-sale financial investments (continued)

The determination of what is “significant” or “prolonged”
requires judgement. In making this judgement, the Group
evaluates, among other factors, the duration or extent to
which the fair value of an investment is less than its cost.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as loans
and borrowings. The Group determines the classification of its
financial liabilities at initial recognition.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and bills payables,
other payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings and other liabilities.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or
loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as through
the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any
discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are
an integral part of the effective interest rate. The effective
interest rate amortisation is included in finance costs in the
statement of profit or loss.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FEBTEREHME @

policies (continued)
Financial liabilities (continued)
Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contract at the higher of: (i)
the amount of the best estimate of the expenditure required
to settle the present obligation at the end of the reporting
period; and (i) the amount initially recognised less, when
appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms
of an existing liability are substantially modified, such an
exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the
difference between the respective carrying amounts is
recognised in the statement of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and,
in the case of work in progress and finished goods, comprises
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Net realisable value is based on estimated selling
prices less any estimated costs to be incurred to completion
and disposal.

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation (legal or
constructive) has arisen as a result of a past event and it is
probable that a future outflow of resources will be required to
settle the obligation, provided that a reliable estimate can be
made of the amount of the obligation.
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24 FESHHEME NS

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Provisions (continued)

When the effect of discounting is material, the amount
recognised for a provision is the present value at the end of
the reporting period of the future expenditures expected to be
required to settle the obligation. The increase in the
discounted present value amount arising from the passage of
time is included in finance costs in the statement of profit or
loss.

Provisions for product warranties granted by the Group on
certain products are recognised based on sales volume and
past experience of the level of repairs and returns, discounted
to their present values as appropriate.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to
an insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short
maturity of generally within three months when acquired, less
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an
integral part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature
to cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on
a systematic basis over the periods that the costs, which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Where the grant relates to an asset, the fair value is credited
to a deferred income account and is released to the statement
of profit or loss over the expected useful life of the relevant
asset by equal annual instalments or deducted from the
carrying amount of the asset and released to the statement of
profit or loss by way of a reduced depreciation charge.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Employee benefits
(i) Short term employee benefits

Salaries, annual bonuses and staff welfare costs are
accrued in the period in which the associated services
are rendered by employees of the Group. Where
payment or settlement is deferred and the effect would
be material, these amounts are stated at their present
values.

(i) Contributions to defined contribution retirement plans

Contributions to local retirement schemes pursuant to
the relevant labour rules and regulations in the PRC,
Taiwan and Hong Kong are recognised as an expense in
profit or loss as incurred, except to the extent that they
are included in the cost of inventories not yet
recognised as an expense.

(i)  Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer of
those benefits and when it recognises restructuring costs
involving the payment of termination benefits.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or
directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation
authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period, taking into consideration interpretations and practices
prevailing in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period
between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FEBTFEHEHBE @

policies (continued)
Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary
differences, except:

o when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at
the time of the transaction, affects neither the
accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can
be controlled and it is probable that the temporary
differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the
extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available
against which the deductible temporary differences, the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can
be utilised, except:

o when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition
of an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a
business combination and, at the time of the
transaction, affects neither the accounting profit nor
taxable profit or loss; and

o in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred
tax assets are only recognised to the extent that it is
probable that the temporary differences will reverse in
the foreseeable future and taxable profit will be
available against which the temporary differences can be
utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it
is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be
available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
utilised. Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to the extent
that it has become probable that sufficient taxable profit will
be available to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be
recovered.
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A sERAE SN - LA A REEFIE)

2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is
realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax
laws) that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the

end of the reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if and
only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred
tax assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes
levied by the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in
each future period in which significant amounts of deferred tax
liabilities or assets are expected to be settled or recovered.

Revenue recognition

Revenue is recognised when it is probable that the economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when the revenue can be

measured reliably, on the following bases:

(i) Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised when the
significant risks and rewards of ownership have been
transferred to the buyer, provided that the Group
maintains neither managerial involvement to the degree
usually associated with ownership, nor effective control
over the goods sold. Revenue excludes value added tax
or other sales taxes and is after deduction of any trade

discounts.

(ii) Construction contracts

Revenue from construction contracts is recognised on the
percentage of completion basis, as further explained in
the accounting policy for “Construction contracts”

below.

(i) Services rendered

Revenue from services rendered is recognised on the
percentage of completion basis, as further explained in
the accounting policy for “Contracts for services”
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24 FESHHERE )

2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
(iv)  Interest income

Interest income is recognised in profit or loss as it
accrues using the effective interest method.

(v) Rental income from operating leases

Rental income receivable under operating leases is
recognised in profit or loss in equal instalments over the
periods covered by the lease term, except where an
alternative basis is more representative of the pattern of
benefits to be derived from the use of the leased asset.
Lease incentives granted are recognised in profit or loss
as an integral part of the aggregate net lease payments
receivable. Contingent rentals are recognised as income
in the accounting period in which they are earned.

Construction contracts

Contract revenue comprises the agreed contract amount and
appropriate amounts from variation orders, claims and
incentive payments. Contract costs incurred comprise direct
materials, the costs of subcontracting, direct labour and an
appropriate proportion of variable and fixed construction
overheads.

Revenue from fixed price construction contracts is recognised
using the percentage of completion method, measured by
reference to the proportion of costs incurred to date to the
estimated total cost of the relevant contract.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred to
date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed
progress billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from
contract customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract
customers.

Contracts for services

Contract revenue on the rendering of services comprises the
agreed contract amount. Costs of rendering services comprise
labour and other costs of personnel directly engaged in
providing the services and attributable overheads.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting

policies (continued)
Contracts for services (continued)

Revenue from the rendering of services is recognised based on
the percentage of completion of the transaction, provided that
the revenue, the costs incurred and the estimated costs to
completion can be measured reliably. The percentage of
completion is established by reference to the costs incurred to
date as compared to the total costs to be incurred under the
transaction. Where the outcome of a contract cannot be
measured reliably, revenue is recognised only to the extent
that the expenses incurred are eligible to be recovered.

Provision is made for foreseeable losses as soon as they are
anticipated by management. Where contract costs incurred to
date plus recognised profits less recognised losses exceed
progress billings, the surplus is treated as an amount due from
contract customers. Where progress billings exceed contract
costs incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised
losses, the surplus is treated as an amount due to contract
customers.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary
investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on
qualifying assets is deducted from the borrowing costs
capitalised. All other borrowing costs are expensed in the
period in which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in connection
with the borrowing of funds.

Research and development expenses

Expenditure on research and development is charged to profit
or loss as an expense when incurred.
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting 24 FEBTFEHEHBE @

policies (continued)
Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’'s memorandum and articles of
association grant the directors the authority to declare interim
dividends. Consequently, interim dividends are recognised
immediately as a liability when they are proposed and
declared.

Foreign currencies

The Company’s functional currency is Hong Kong dollars.
However, the consolidated financial statements of the Group
are presented in RMB, as the directors of the Company
consider that the major subsidiaries of the Company are all
presented in RMB and meanwhile this presentation is more
useful for its current and potential investors. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign currency
transactions recorded by the entities in the Group are initially
recorded using their respective functional currency rates
prevailing at the dates of the transactions. Monetary assets
and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the functional currency rates of exchange ruling
at the end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are recognised in
the statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary
items measured at fair value in a foreign currency are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when the fair
value was measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of
a non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated in line
with the recognition of the gain or loss on change in fair value
of the item (i.e., translation difference on the item whose fair
value gain or loss is recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss is also recognised in other comprehensive
income or profit or loss, respectively).
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2.4 Summary of significant accounting
policies (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries are
currencies other than the RMB. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are translated
into RMB at the exchange rates prevailing at the end of the
reporting period and their statements of comprehensive
income are translated into RMB at the weighted average
exchange rates for the year. The resulting exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income and
accumulated in the exchange reserve. On disposal of a foreign
operation, the component of other comprehensive income
relating to that particular foreign operation is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets
and liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the
closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into RMB
at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into RMB at the
weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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31 December 2017 H=—Z—+F+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk B sEBAE SN - LAA REEDIE)

Significant accounting judgments and
estimates

The preparation of the Group’s financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets
and liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the
disclosure of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these
assumptions and estimates could result in outcomes that could
require a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the
assets or liabilities affected in the future.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting
period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
within the next financial year, are described below.

(@)  Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated on a
straightline basis over the estimated useful life of each
asset, after taking into account the estimated residual
value. Management reviews annually the useful life of an
asset and its residual value, if any. Both the period and
methods of depreciation are reviewed annually. The
depreciation expenses for future periods are adjusted if
there are significant changes from previous estimates.

(b)  Impairments of assets

Management reviews the carrying amounts of assets at
the end of each reporting period to determine whether
there is any objective evidence of impairment. When an
indication of impairment is identified, the asset’s
recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable
amount of an asset is the greater of its net selling price
and value in use. In assessing value in use, management
prepares discounted future cash flows to assess the
differences between the carrying amount and value in
use and provides for impairment losses. Any change in
the assumptions adopted in the cash flow forecasts
would increase or decrease the provision for impairment
losses and affect the Group’s profit or loss and net
assets value.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually even
if there has no indication of impairment.
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(BEBEFEREN  UARKIE)

3. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(b)

(0

Impairments of assets (continued)

Impairment losses for bad and doubtful receivables are
assessed and provided based on the management’s
regular review of ageing analysis and evaluation of
collectability. A considerable level of judgement is
exercised by management when assessing the credit
worthiness and past collection history of each individual
customer. An increase or decrease in the above
impairment losses would affect the Group's profit or loss
and net assets value.

Impairment of prepayments to suppliers and provision for
onerous contracts

The Group makes non-cancellable advance payments to
raw material suppliers under purchase agreements which
are to be offset against future purchases. In the event
when the economic benefits expected to be received
under these purchase agreements are less than the
unavoidable costs of meeting the contractual
obligations; or the financial conditions of suppliers
deteriorate, management will consider whether such
advance payments to suppliers are impaired and make
necessary provision for the present obligations under the
agreements. The Group does not require collateral or
other security against its prepayments to suppliers.
Management performs ongoing evaluations of
impairment of prepayments to suppliers and provisions
for commitments that may become onerous due to a
change of market conditions and the financial conditions
of its suppliers. The evaluations take into account the
projected revenue, related expenses and other costs.
When the prepayments are not likely to be settled as
expected, the Group will make necessary provisions for
the present obligations under the agreements.
Meanwhile, provision for onerous contract will also be
made when the unavoidable costs of meeting the
obligations under the purchase agreements exceed the
economic benefits expected to be received under it. An
increase or decrease in the above provisions would
affect the Group’s profit or loss and net assets value.
Further details of the provision for impairment of
prepayments to suppliers and the provision for inventory
purchase commitment are given in note 18 and note 31
to the financial statements respectively.
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3. Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

(d)

jurisdictions.

Write-down of inventories

Net realisable value of inventories is the estimated selling
price in the ordinary course of business, less estimated
costs to completion and selling expenses. These
estimates are based on the current market condition and
the historical experience of manufacturing and selling
products of similar nature. It could change significantly
as a result of changes in technique and competitors’
actions in response to adverse industry cycles.
Management reassesses these estimates at the end of
each reporting period. As at 31 December 2017, the
Group provided for write-down of inventories amounting
to RMB15,202,000 (2016: RMB19,484,000).

Income taxes

The Group is subject to income taxes in various
Significant judgement is required in
determining the provision for income taxes. There are
transactions during the ordinary course of business, for
which calculation of the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain. Where the final tax outcome is different from
the amounts that were initially recorded, such

differences would affect profit or loss in future years.

Recognition of deferred tax assets, which related to tax
losses and deductible temporary differences, depends on
management’s expectation of future taxable profits that
will be available against which the tax losses or the asset
can be utilised. The outcome of their actual utilisation
may be different.

The carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to
recognised tax losses and deductible temporary
differences at 31 December 2017 was RMB34,763,000
(2016: RMB19,516,000). Further details are disclosed in
note 21 to the financial statements.
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Significant accounting judgments and
estimates (continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
() Provision for warranties

The Group provides warranties for its photovoltaic
modules for up to 25 years after sales have taken place.
Due to limited warranty claims history, management
estimates warranty based on the Group’s historical cost
data, industry data and an assessment of the Group’s
competitors’ history of warranty claims. The warranty
obligation of the Group will be affected not only by the
product failure rates, but also by costs incurred to repair
or replace failed products. If the actual product failure
rates and the costs of replacement or repairing of failed
products differ from the estimates, the Group will need
to prospectively revise the provision for warranties which
would affect profit or loss in future years. Further details
of the Group’s provision for warranties are given in note
31 to the financial statements.

Operating segment information

In a manner consistent with the way in which information is
reported internally to the Group’s most senior executive
management for the purposes of resources allocation and
performance assessment, the Group has identified four
reportable segments: (i) the manufacturing of, trading of, and
provision of processing services for polysilicon and
monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers
(“Segment A"); (ii) the manufacturing and trading of
photovoltaic modules (“Segment B"); (iii) the manufacturing
and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar cells (“Segment
C"); and (iv) the construction and operating of photovoltaic
power plants (“Segment D”). No operating segments have
been aggregated to form these reportable segments.
Comparative figures have been provided on a basis consistent
with the current year’s segment analysis. Revenue, costs and
expenses are allocated to those reportable segments with
reference to sales generated by those segments and the costs
and expenses incurred by those segments.
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(BRBBEEBEN  AARKGIE)

Operating segment information (continued)

4.

RESEER @

(a) Segment results, assets and liabilities () "HEE BEEKBE
For the purpose of assessing segment performance and RITEDERERE R D B EDE ﬁ
allocating resources between segments, the Group’s B ASBEERRITHREEAES
most senior executive management monitors the results, REAMEDHEE EE BE &
assets and liabilities attributable to each reportable BERBASEMBEHREEZIHE
segment on the basis as they are presented in the 4 o
Group's financial statements.
Inter-segment sales and transfers are transacted with DHMENHEEREENBRERNE=F
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to HEMANEEBRERBEITMEET
third parties at the then prevailing market prices. R
Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments HE-ZT LR F+=A
as provided to the Group’s most senior executive =+—HLEFERARN % E &= RITH
management for the years ended 31 December 2017 EEAERHMNEBAEETRE S
and 2016 is set out below: HrEREHWMT :
Segment A Segment B Segment C Segment D Total
2 8BA pag:i:} pan:i{d 23D @t
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
N T F LRl T F EEELpgdl — T F Eblpdol T F EElldl — T F
RME'000 [ECYVCIVON  RmE'000 JECIVCIVON  RME'000 NGV  RME'000 [EGIVCLVON  RME'000 [EGIVEZVO
ARETR PNGERwM AR%ETn PNSERW AR%TT PNl \R% T PNGERE AR%ET T PNSRw
Revenue from external customers RENREPH
Yo 1054333 652,487 2843331 2,230,621 73,491 71,424 28,461 66444 3999616 3,020,976
Intersegment revenue HHME K E 1,487,875 351,377 1,613,989 323,749 320,092 886,545 2,185 1310 3,424,141 1,562,981
Reportable segment revenue DECFE e 2502208 1003864 4457320 2554370 393583 957,969 30,646 67754 7423757 4,583,957
Reportable segment profit/(loss) AREHBFE/
(B#8) 11759 (236863) 29,666 14,652 1,140 8049  (18808)  (13244) 123757  (227,406)
Reportable segment assets AREDBEE 3,204,874 2,250,710 578,659 832,396 674,060 790,248 153,617 401,194 4,611,210 4,274,548
Reportable segment liabilities AREHPAMRE 2461204 1770469 690585 951218 302,067 41505 120935 259117 3575781 3,395,860
Other segment information HiHHRE
Interest income from bank deposits Eﬁ%ﬁf %8 F 8
YA 1,113 740 7,405 4,425 558 646 28 15 9,144 5,826
Finance costs REARK (49837) (51615  (45794)  (35860)  (15660)  (15960)  (10411)  (13667)  (121,702)  (117,102)
Depreciation and amortisation WEREE (169,516) (157,920) (17,958) (19,668) (8,838) (35,069) (823) (11,118) (197,135) (223,775)
Share of profits less losses of FERE D AR
associates 3} (14,996) (18,573) = = = = = = (14,996) (18,573)
Impairment losses on trade and ERESHERREM
other receivables W IER A
BAMHR = (35,273) (18,900) (994) = (350) = = (18,900) (36,167)
Reversal of write-down/(write-down) FEMAR S
of inventories (TF & #UR) 7,195 (825) = = (2,913) - = a3 4,282 (825)
Capital expenditure* BB 83,863 42,790 31,178 79,081 14,574 11,537 - 21672 129615 155,080
Investments in associates BEDNRAMERE 5,251 41,148 = = = = = S 5251 41,148
* Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and & BRARAXBEREDE BEREKENAR
equipment and intangible assets. mEEE -
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4. Operating segment information (continved) 4. RKE I HE X @
(b) Geographic information (b) b= & %}
Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and AEBME - KEREE HEBRN
equipment, lease prepayments, goodwill, intangible HE BE EREERREZRA
assets and interests in associates are located or operated MU RPESIARPELEE - TX
in the PRC. The following table sets out information BRI HASBREIARTFH
about the Group’s revenue from external customers and W RIEREBDENKIBEHER - BP
the Group’s non-current prepayments by geographical T 75 th LA 32 < & Sk 42 44 AR 755 40 3 B4
location. The geographical location of a customer is BARIE o
based on the location to which the goods were
delivered or the services were provided.
(i) Revenue from external customers (i) REINARF W=
2017 2016
—Z2—t%F —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR ARBETF T
Mainland China Hh R K 2,950,762 1,451,226
Export sales HOEE
— Japan -BXK 895,486 1,386,488
- Taiwan -BE 36,686 95,316
— Other Asian Regions - H i 115,368 80,826
- Europe - BUM 714 6,151
- America - EH 600 969
Sub-total NET 1,048,854 1,569,750
Total HET 3,999,616 3,020,976
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4. Operating segment information (continved) 4. RE I HEF @
(b) Geographic information (continued) (b) H[@EER (&)
(i) Non-current prepayments (i) FEREFEN KRIE
2016
=F 3 : —T-AF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tx ARETT
Mainland China Hh K e 14,245 33,626
Overseas 7 4
- Taiwan -8 55,298 57,740
Sub-total NET 55,298 57,740
Total HEt 69,543 91,366
() Information about major customers (0 FEEPHEH
For the year ended 31 December 2017, revenue from HEZZT—tF+-A=+—HLHF
major customers, each of whom amounted to 10% or E REXEEPHHKE  SEAE
more of the Group’s total revenue, is set out below: EEUW2E10% kA EE ST ¢
2017 2016
—E—tF —T—RF
RMB’'000 RMB’'000
AE®T T AR T T
Customer A BEPA
- From Segment A - R85 HA 24,835 15,179
- From Segment B - R85 BB 807,230 1,207,645
- From Segment C - R85 EBC = 14
Customer B = FB
- From Segment A - KRB 5 IBA 191,969 99,510
- From Segment B - R85 B 503,661 237,524
- From Segment C - R85 EC 35,191 =
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(BEBEFEREN  UARKIE)

5. Revenue 5. W=
The principal activities of the Group are the manufacturing, AEBFEXEBRZRIENRKIGREE &
trading and provision of processing services for polysilicon and LmiEE /HRnRE BEERREHSRE
monocrystalline and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/wafers, LA e K5 BE B8 & & e ERMIR
the manufacturing and trading of monocrystalline silicon solar % BEREBENGEEREE MR AAAE
cells, the manufacturing and trading of photovoltaic modules, B R REE R RELL -
the construction and operating of photovoltaic power plants.
Revenue represents the sales value of goods and electricity KRiERETEPFPEMRENNHEEECH
supplied to customers less value added tax or other sales taxes BREMIEMBEET RE S A KREH
and trade discounts and income from the provision of MIRBAEWA - FRERHSIHEEARK
processing services. The amount of each significant category of AR ESEHAT -
revenue recognised during the year is as follows:
2017 2016
—E—tfF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT
Sales of polysilicon and monocrystalline  $5& % & i & A5 88 8B &
and multicrystalline silicon solar ingots/ R Z &t i A
wafers 864,731 450,113
Sales of monocrystalline silicon solar cells $5% AFFEESE RiEE) 73,491 71,424
Sales of photovoltaic modules 84 & e R4 14 2,330,228 1,993,097
Construction and operating of 2 R A R E uh
photovoltaic power plants 28,461 66,444
Rendering of services R 702,705 439,898
3,999,616 3,020,976
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R BT 5E

31 December 2017 R=_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& 3B =EBR&E I+ LA RESI(E)

6. Other income and gains, net 6. HttWg ARz - B
2017 2016
—E—t& —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR T T
Other income Hfth e A
Government grants (note 33) XK # Bk (BT 3E33) 29,089 20,913
Interest income from bank deposits RITTERHF B A 9,144 5,826
Investment income from available-for-sale 7] it {1} & & & 89 1& & WA
investment = 6,205
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary HE—RHHNBRQE MK
(note 38) (B 5£38) 32,520 220
Gain on previously held equity interest REARRERYEERQTEAE
remeasured at acquisition-date EFTE2 =
fair value 8,819 =
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of U BE T B 2 7] B &9 8 B Wz
a subsidiary (note 37) (Bt 7%37) 159 -
79,731 33,164
Other (losses)/gains, net Hin (518 k. B8
Net foreign exchange loss SNIE B 18558 (2,105) (9,823)
Net loss on disposal of property, plant LEWE  BEREED
and equipment &5 8% &8 (1,053) (27,219)
Losses from sales of other materials $HE H A R B 18 (9,794) (40,925)
Others H fth 5,639 (1,788)
(7,313) (79,755)
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR KRBT 5F

31 December 2017 R—Z—tF+=-F=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fk 5B FEBAE SN - A A REEDIE)

7. Profit/(loss) before tax 7. BRBEAIFE(EEE)
The Group's profit/(loss) before tax is arrived at after charging: REBERBAFE (BB EMNR

2017 2016
—E—+tF AN S
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® T AREET T
(a) Staff costs* (including directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration
(note 9))
(a) BIXNA*(BIEEZEZTREZITEAEFHH(ME9))
Salaries, wages and other benefits #¥% « T& kK H &7 192,647 169,263
Contributions to retirement RARET B R
schemes 27,356 25,640
220,003 194,903
2017 2016
—E—tF —FB-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® Tt ARET T
(b)  Auditor’s remuneration
(b) ZEENBNS
Audit services Z R 2,641 2,790
Tax services 75 BR 7% 52 50
Other services B AR 335 225
3,028 3,065
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R BT 5E

31 December 2017 R=ZT—+tF+=A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

7.

(BEAFEREN  RARKIE)

Profit/(loss) before tax (continued) 7. BRBATFRE (EB)@

Other items
HEmIia B

2017 2016
—E—+tF AN S

RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T AR T T

Amortisation of lease prepayments 8 & & I~ 5k 18 # $5

(note 17) (MF5£17) 3,862 4,409
Depreciation’ (note 14) e (MsE14) 193,273 219,366
Provision for warranties* (note 31) R B & #&* (Mt:31) 28,446 22,306
Operating lease charges — LEHEL L - M

properties 1,778 1,290
Research and development costs it 7T & B 3k A 223,975 143,823
Impairment losses on trade and FE W E 5 BR R & H b Uk IE

other receivables Vo RIER= B 18,900 36,617
Net loss on disposal of PEME - BERREHNERE

property, plant and equipment F 1,053 27,219
Cost of inventories sold* B & FE KA

(note 23(b)) (Bt 5£23(b)) 2,831,712 2,360,477
Cost of service rendered? B 12 AR 75 B AR 510,031 331,422

# Cost of inventories sold and cost of services rendered include, in # BE_Z—+t&F+-_A=+—HLEFEH®

aggregate, RMB371,039,000 (2016: RMB376,519,000) for the
year ended 31 December 2017, relating to staff costs,
depreciation and provision for warranties which amounts are
also included in the respective total amounts disclosed
separately above or in note 7(a) for each of these types of

expenses.

EEFEXNARERERBEKRARIESM
BIRA MERRABRESEARE
371,039,000t (= T — N F£: A R ¥
376,519,0007T) ' ZA BN AR ZESE
BB R £ 7 ()5 R B e & E
FKIE 4R EE -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR KRBT 5F

31 December 2017 R—Z—tF+=-F=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Fk 5B FEBAE SN - A A REEDIE)

8. Finance costs 8. WERRK

2017 2016
—e—t% e
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARMF ARMTF T

Interests on bank and other loans wholly AR AF AN Z2EEFEHRITR

repayable within five years Hh & F 2 120,631 116,532
Interests on finance leases MEHEEF S 1,071 570
Total interest expenses on financial R A TFERB=EKS K

liabilities not at fair value through MBBEENFERAX

profit or loss k) 121,702 117,102

9. Directors’ and chief executive’s 9. EENBRESITHAEME
remuneration
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the vyear, BiE LR A RE B R AEH%E383(1)a)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b), b)  ORMEAR AR (BEESMEER)
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2 HMOIFE2HETHENFAEER RS TR
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of AEWBI€T :

Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AR F T

Fees e 3,383 2,950
Other emoluments: Hii < -

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind ¥ &  EBIMKE WA 5 256 449

Retirement scheme contributions PSRN R 34 68

290 517

3,673 3,467
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R BT 5E

31 December 2017 R=ZT—+tF+=A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

9.

Directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration (continued)

(BRBBEEBEN  AARKGIE)

9. EERK

it
a

BAEME @

il

2017
—E—+iF
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
in kind contributions
BEXFSE
EHREY
we Flzx BIRFFEIH ot
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T Rt AR®Tx AR T AR¥Tx
Executive directors HITESE
Tan Wenhua (i) EDE() 1,011 = = 1,011
Tan Xin (chief executive) (i) @2 (FTEAAE) (i) 937 - 16 953
Mr. WANG Junze (formerly E4#Z (RIEEZE®)
known as WANG Vikas
Chunwei) 504 256 18 778
Non-executive director FHITEE
Hsu You Yuan (iii) BT #h R G 619 - - 619
Independent non- BYFHTES
executive directors
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert B 104 = = 104
Fu Shuangye S 104 = = 104
Zhang Chun K& 104 = = 104
Total et 3,383 256 34 3,673
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR KRBT 5F

31 December 2017 R=_ZT—+tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk A EHEIN - LA REZIE)

9. Directors’ and chief executive’s 9. EERBSITHAEME®
remuneration (continued)
2016
—E—RF
Basic
salaries,
allowances Retirement
and benefits scheme
Fees in kind contributions Total
EAXE S -
EEE R EY)
e Flam RIRETEIE R BET
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
AREFTT ARBTTT AREFT ARBTT
Executive directors HITES
Tan Wenhua (i) EE=() 1,014 115 14 1,143
Tan Xin (chief executive) (i) B2 (1T B4EE) (ii) 513 105 28 646
Mr. WANG Junze FTHERBEER)
(formerly known as ke
WANG Chunwei) 497 229 22 748
Non-executive director FHITESE
Hsu You Yuan (iii) 5 % (i) 617 = 4 621
Independent non- BYFHITES
executive directors
Wong Wing Kuen, Albert F ok 103 = = 103
Fu Shuangye RS 103 = = 103
Zhang Chun iR A 103 = = 103
Total 4t 2,950 449 68 3,467
Notes: A -
0) Mr. Tan Wenhua resigned as chief executive of the Company (i) BYNELEABREIAQRRTHRAEAE B -F

with effect from 6 October 2016.

(ii) Mr. Tan Xin was appointed as chief executive of the Company
with effect from 6 October 2016.

(iii) Mr. Hsu You Yuan resigned as executive director and was
appointed as non-executive director of the Company with effect
from 29 June 2016.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the chief
executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during
the year.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R BT 5E

31 December 2017 R—Z—tF+-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk B sEBAE SN - LAA REEDIE)

10. Five highest paid employees 10. EEE=FMES
The five highest paid employees during the year included four FAREERTIMEERENZ (ZE—X
(2016: four) directors including the chief executive whose F:HR)EZTRREESTHRAE)  #E
remuneration are disclosed in note 9. The aggregate of the HFMARMEIRE - BT —R(ZF—~
remuneration in respect of the remaining one (2016: one) F:—RB)WEARAESHERITHAE
highest paid employee who is neither a director nor chief M= EENFMAENT
executive of the Company is as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF AN S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tx AR T T
Basic salaries, allowances and EXRF e EUREWN =
benefits in kind 625 615
Retirement scheme contributions RRET B 16 15
641 630
The remuneration of the remaining one (2016: one) highest BT —R(ZTE—RF: —R)BEaFMES
paid employee is within the following band: B & B DA T AR B
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A A&
Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z %1,000,000/% 7T 1 1
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR KRBT 5F

31 December 2017 R=—Z—tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ff 5 B FEBAE SN - A A REE DI E)

11. Income tax 11. FISH
(@) Income tax in the consolidated statement of profit or loss (@) HEBREAMGRMNRE:
represents:

2017 2016
ZZ-tF “F—RF
RMB'000 RMB’000
AR®T R ARBTT

Current tax - the PRC BEBE -
Provision for the year FEEE 5,856 13,442
Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFERETE 601 5
6,457 13,447
Deferred tax (note 21) EER R (P E21) (15,317) 3,995
Income tax (credit)/expense for the year FERGH(KR) /A% (8,860) 17,442

(b) A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit /
(loss) before tax at the statutory rates for the countries
(or jurisdictions) in which the Company and the majority
of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the tax expense at the
effective tax rates, is as follows:

FRA A D R E K E 5 M E D AR
BIR (kAEER)EEREMTED
BRELAIAE(BR)NBEMS - &
BEERHREAENHERIHEREN
T~

2017 2016

—E—tF —ERE

RMB'000 RMB'000

ARBT R ARET T

Profit/(loss) before taxation BREAFE/ (B8) 114,897 (209,964)

Tax at the statutory tax rate REERRGTENHE 28,724 (52,491)

Tax effect of non-deductible expenses AP ENHBEE 2,295 3,601

Effect of tax rates differential (note (i)) TR EN R E (HEI) 1,877 1,015

Effect of tax concessions obtained (note (i) B/ % % 8 2 69 & £ (F (i) (23,703) 10,463
Tax effect of unused tax losses and HABRNARYAREEER

temporary differences not recognised EREBNTBYE 9,908 58,674

Utilisation of unused tax loss and temporary &)/ B F & % R HE R

differences not recognised in previous AYAHEBBRE AT

years (28,562) (3,825)

Under-provision in respect of prior years BEFERETR 601 5

Tax charge at the Group effective rate BRASEERHEAENRIERS (8,860) 17,442

138 SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 EERIZRBRAE



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

B 75 R Y ot

31 December 2017
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R=ZF—tH+-_A=+—H

(BEAFEREN  RARKIE)

11. Income tax (continued)

(b)  (continued)
Notes:

()

(ii)

Hong Kong profits tax is calculated at 16.5% (2016:
16.5%) of the estimated assessable profits of the
Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong
during the year. No provision for Hong Kong profits tax
has been made as the subsidiaries incorporated in Hong
Kong either did not have any assessable profits subject to
Hong Kong profits tax or had accumulated tax losses
brought forward from previous years to offset the
assessable profits for the year.

The Company and its subsidiaries incorporated in the
Cayman Islands and the British Virgin Islands are not
subject to any income tax pursuant to the local rules and
regulations of their respective countries of incorporation.

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s
subsidiary incorporated in Germany is 15% for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (2016: 15%). No provision for
the German income tax has been made as the subsidiary
incorporated in Germany did not have any taxable profits
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

The statutory tax rate applicable to the Company’s
subsidiary incorporated in Ghana is 35% for the year
ended 31 December 2017 (2016: 35%). No provision for
the Ghana income tax has been made as the subsidiary
incorporated in Ghana did not have any taxable profits
for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

The income tax rate of the Company’s PRC subsidiaries is
25% except for the subsidiaries mentioned below:

Jinzhou Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd. (“Yangguang”) has
been accredited as “High and New Technology
Enterprise” by the relevant government authority in 2012
for a term of three years, and has been registered with
the local tax authority to be eligible to a reduced income
tax rate of 15%. Yangguang has renewed the “High and
New Technology” certificate in 2015 effective for the
three years from 2015 to 2017. Accordingly, Yangguang
was entitled to the 15% income tax rate for 2017 and
2016.

Jinzhou Huachang Photovoltaic Technology Ltd (“Jinzhou
Huachang”) has been accredited as “High and New
Technology Enterprise” by the relevant government
authority in 2014 for a term of three years, and has been
registered with the local tax authority to be eligible to a
reduced income tax rate of 15%. Jinzhou Huachang has
renewed the “High and New Technology” certificate in
2017 effective for the three years from 2017 to 2019.
Accordingly, Jinzhou Huachang was entitled to the 15%
income tax rate for 2017 and 2016.

1. TBH &

(b)

(&)
B &E

()

(ii)

FREAFNESHERRARE B
18 Ak S B B B A R B i 51 78 SR EE A
HH16.5% (ZF—71F  16.5% ) &t
HoBHREBTMELAK B R A
b4 T 0] JE 45 40 B 28 A 1S B B9 B RR
Tt ) B 2R 3B 1 6 2 AR AT R 51 B IE B
B E A ERE R - R E
ELBBFEHEE -

ARARERNAEHEREBR R
B EEMA M EABREES
B AE AR SZ B 5K 6 E S AR Rl K AR
BRSBTS

BE-_ZT—+tF+=-_A=+—8H1t
FE - ANR R E B MK S 8 BT
BAREANEERERIS% (ZE
—ARNF:15%) BARZEEERZE
MEZHMBRARARBEE_Z—+
F+ZA=+—HILEFEWEEM
FERTF B R EBIEREEE
HEBHECE—XRFE &)

BHE_Z—tF+-_A=+—HIE
FE AR B R0 AR EE AR S A B
BRBERNEEDER35% (ZF
— N4 1 35% ) ° TR X AR DD AR E
MARZHWMBEARRNBEE T —+t
Fr-A=+—HIEFEILEMERM
FEER A B - #RI0 A 1E HInA FTAS
BEEHE(CE—RF:E)-

KARHF BB QRSB
RAB25% -+ T B A AR :

M ReRA R A A (T8 % ]) i
R _FREEBRFERRTI®
MR RBE=F " AE
MEMHBEEER T8 EBRIZ
5% HEHNAER —F—F
FEBEREHISFHEIEE F
BMHBR=F BT HFRE_
T—tFF o Bt HMBAR=T
—tER_F-ANFARIS%HAE
Bt R -

BMEE KB EBR2E (M
HEENR T NEEFBRBNE
BEFIEFHHELEIHA - A H
—F WEREMREREERL &
A B BB IRIS%M B R &S
Be—T—+tF BMNEEEH &
FRIEIBEE BERHA=F BH=
E—+tHERET—NEI Bkt
BMNEERZ=ZT—LFR=FT—X
FAMR15% TS B R -
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR KRBT 5F

31 December 2017 R=—Z—tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ff 5 B FEBAE SN - A A REE DI E)

11. Income tax (continued)

(b)  (continued)
Notes: (continued)
Solargiga Energy (Qinghai) Co., Ltd. (“Qinghai”) has been
accredited as “High and New Technology Enterprise” by
the relevant government authority in 2016 for a term of
three years, and has been registered with the local tax
authority to be eligible for a reduced income tax rate of
15%. Accordingly, Qinghai was entitled to the 15%
income tax rate for 2017 and 2016.

Jinzhou Yangguang Jinmao Photovoltaic Technology Co.,
Ltd.* (formerly known as Jinzhou Jinmao Photovoltaic
Technology Co., Ltd.*)(8% M5 ¥ 88 EKBLE AR A
A - RIS SR N SRR R BHR B BR 2 B)(“Jinzhou Jinmao™),
has been accredited as “High and New Technology
Enterprise” by the relevant government authority in 2016
for a term of three years, and has been registered with
the local tax authority to be eligible to a reduced income
tax rate of 15%. Accordingly, Jinzhou lJinmao was
entitled to the 15% income tax rate for 2017 and 2016.

Jinzhou Yangguang Motech Renewable Energy Co., Ltd
(“Jinzhou Motech”) has been accredited as “High and
New Technology Enterprise” by the relevant government
authority in 2017 for a term of three years, and has been
registered with the local tax authority to be eligible to a
reduced income tax rate of 15%. Accordingly, Jinzhou
Motech was entitled to the 15% income tax rate for
2017 (2016: 25%).

12. Dividends

The board does not recommend to declare a final dividend for
the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: Nil).

13. Earnings/(loss) per share attributable to
equity holders of the company

(a) Basic earnings/(loss) per share

The calculation of basic earnings/(loss) per share is based
on the profit attributable to the ordinary equity holders
of the Company of RMB107,462,000 (2016: loss of
RMB239,149,000) and the weighted average of
3,211,780,566 (2016: 3,211,780,566) ordinary shares of
the Company in issue during the year.

(b) Diluted earnings/(loss) per share

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/
(loss) per share amounts presented for the years ended
31 December 2017 and 2016 in respect of a dilution as
the Group had no dilutive potential ordinary shares in
issue during the years ended 31 December 2017 and
2016.
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F UWEREMRBEREEL  FE
BRMIZIS%H RS TER -
Bt BREER-_E—+FER=
T NFARIS%AITEH R -

8% 0 B ¢ 88 L IR B A BR A 7] (AT
BHRMBEBELERABRER QA
(Jinzhou Yangguang Jinmao
Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd.*,
formerly known as Jinzhou Jinmao
Photovoltaic Technology Co., Ltd.*)
(TSBMBEBRDR S —NFEREH
BNERETIE B ¥
i REA=F  WEREMHEBHEH
B e BERBIRIS%E B X
NEAEH - Bt SMNBRR=F
—tFER B RFARISRHAE
TR B -

RN BE KB e R AR A A (4%
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Fio B SBMEER T —+t&Fa
RIS%BMEHLEHR(ZFT — R F:
25% ) °

12. K&
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TERESITEAEGIBEARKE
107,462,000 (= F — X F : T,E%)\
R #239,149,0007T) JA & F A A R
E%’*ﬁ‘aﬁﬂxbuﬁéiiﬁﬁx%{
3,211,780,566/% ( — 2 — N F:
3,211,780,5668% ) &
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REBEEZFT—tFR-F—R"F+=
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
B 7% ¥ 3k B &

31 December 2017 R=T—+tF+=A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 5 A sEBAZE 4N » LA A REEFI(E)

14. ME BERRXRE

14. Property, plant and equipment

Plant,
machinery
Construction and Motor Furniture
in progress Buildings  equipment vehicles and fittings Total
B e RAREE
EEIR L ES SET] "E £E Mt
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥TRE AR%¥Trn ARBTr ARBTrn AR%BTR AR%TxR
Cost: A
At 1 January 2017 R=F—+t&—HF—H 217,905 466,737 2,038,015 26,535 23,168 2,772,360
Exchange adjustments PE 5B = = = - (18) (18)
Additions NE 64,964 11,424 25,719 1,019 1,364 104,490
Acquisition of a subsidiary WiE—RHEA A = 117,058 112,376 2,668 247 232,349
Disposals & (10,865) - (77,433) (3,880) (5,535) (97,193)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HRBRAE = (13,394) (245,703) = (34) (259,131)
Transfer B (154,088) 47,337 106,375 - 376 -
At 31 December 2017 R-ZF—tF
+=ZA=+—~H 117,916 629,162 1,959,349 26,342 19,568 2,752,337
Accumulated depreciation RAMERBESSE:
and impairment losses:
At 1 January 2017 —T—+&—A—H (70,370) (86,060) (878,643) (20,873) (20,093)  (1,076,039)
Exchange adjustments &N AR = = = = 18 18
Depreciation for the year FEME = (24,302) (165,707) (1,169) (2,095) (193,273)
Acquisition of a subsidiary U B8 — [ B B8 22 ) = (29,846) (45,320) (1,549) (193) (76,908)
Written back on disposals i & 8 Bl = = 56,301 2,239 5,067 63,607
Disposal of a subsidiary & — R & A B - 3,308 57,931 = 28 61,357
Transfer B (1,113) = 1,113 = = =
At 31 December 2017 RZT—+F
+=—A=+—8 (71,483) (136,810) (974,325) (21,352) (17,268)  (1,221,238)
Net book value: REFEE
At 31 December 2017 RZZ—tF
T=HET—E 46,433 492,352 985,024 4,990 2,300 1,531,099
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR KRBT 5F

31 December 2017 R=_E—t+F+=-H=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk A EHEIN - LA REZIE)

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Construction
in progress

EEIR
RMB’000

14

Buildings

BF

RMB’000

ARBTT ARETRT

E-BRERIZE®
Plant,
machinery
and Motor  Furniture and
equipment vehicles fittings Total
5 - aR KA KEE
S E "E RE Fo
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000

AREBTT ARETRT ARBTT AR®TR

Cost: BA:
At 1 January 2016 R=ZFT—X~"E—A—H 43,829 458,184 2,143,429 24,050 23,796 2,693,288
Exchange adjustments BE 5 R = = = = 17 17
Additions NE 117,804 8,255 20,569 2,270 1,923 150,821
Disposals & @13) - (65,763) - (2,799) (68,975)
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—HKBARA (2,791) - - - - (2,791)
Transfer B2 59,476 298 (60,220) 215 231 =
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RF

+=-A=+—H 217,905 466,737 2,038,015 26,535 23,168 2,772,360
Accumulated depreciation R ERBERS:

and impairment losses:

At 1 January 2016 RZT—RF

—H—8 — (73,169) (783,102) (20,080) (20,806) (897,157)
Exchange adjustments AR = = = = (19) (19)
Depreciation for the year FEME = (12,891) (203,697) (793) (1,985) (219,366)
Written back on disposals 5 By 2 ] = = 37,786 = 2,717 40,503
Transfer R (70,370) = 70,370 - - -
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF

+=—A=+—8 (70,370) (86,060) (878,643) (20,873) (20,093) (1,076,039)
Net book value: IREEE :
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RF

+=-A=+—H 147,535 380,677 1,159,372 5,662 3,075 1,696,321

The net carrying amounts of the Group’s fixed assets held
under finance leases included in the total amounts of property,
plant and equipment (note 32) at 31 December 2017 were
RMB13,406,000 (2016: RMB14,896,000).

As at 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings were secured by certain of the
Group's property, plant and equipment (note 28), which had
an aggregate net book value of RMB335,713,000 (31
December 2016: RMB596,885,000).

SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 aERIZIRBIR A A

R-_TE—+&E+-_A=+—H st A%
BEREBRENAEBERERERERS
K E B E 2 REFE A AR 13,406,000
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31 December 2017 R=ZT—+tF+=A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk B sEBAE SN - LAA REEDIE)

14. Property, plant and equipment (continued)

Substantially all of the Group’s property, plant and equipment
is located in Mainland China.

The Group has yet to obtain property ownership certificates for
certain buildings included in property, plant and equipment
with an aggregate net book value of RMB292,760,000 as at
31 December 2017 (31 December 2016: RMB283,321,000).
Notwithstanding this, the directors are of the opinion that the
Group owned the beneficial title to these buildings as at 31
December 2017.

Property, plant and equipment leased out under
operating leases

The Group leases out a limited portion of land and buildings
under operating leases. The leases typically run for a period of
five years, with an option to renew the leases upon expiry at
which time all terms are renegotiated. None of the leases
includes contingent rentals.

The Group’s total future minimum lease payments under
non-cancellable operating leases are receivable as follows:

14.

ME -BERRZRE®
KERMBAROWE  BERREHNE
B AR o

REBRNKERSE T AYME  BER&ZE
MNEFHNEEMBEEE R-_T—tF+=
A=+—H ZEEFNEEFEBLEAA
R #292,760,000t (= T — N & + — A
=+—H: ARK%283,321,0007T) ° #A M
BEERE AEER_ZT—+tF+ A
=+ —HEBZEEFNE=RFEE -

BREKLHEELENDE BER
&
AEBRBELEREHER B LW RE
FoREME-—RAPRF  AIREREE
BEREHEE FAKIBREERENE
BHoREHELTBREXAES -

AEBRBETAHELLHERENRR R
EEERBENT :

2017 2016

—E-tF —E-RF

RMB’'000 RMB’000

AR® T ARBTT

Within 1 year —F R 68 117
After 1 year but within 5 years —FRERAER = 68
68 185

ANNUAL REPORT 2017 &% 143



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

BT #RAR IR

31 December 2017

RZZF—tF+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ff 5 B FEBAE SN - A A REE DI E)
15. Intangible assets 15. B &EE
Customer Customer
relationships contracts Patents Total
EFBER EFEH =5 R
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTRK AR®BTR AR¥®TRT AR¥TR
Cost: XN

At 1 January and 31

R=ZZF—tF—HF—H

December 2017 kE+—_A=+—H 185,230 2,411 67,228 254,869
Accumulated amortisation REFTEHERBEEIS !
and impairment losses:
At 1 January and 31 RZE—tF—H—H
December 2017 E+=ZA=+—8 (185,230) (2,411) (67,228)  (254,869)
Net book value: BREFE:
At 31 December 2017 RZTE—LF
+=A=+-H§ - - - -
Customer Customer
relationships contracts Patents Total
BEFHBE BEFEAHK = #a
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARETTT ARBTT AR®FTT ARBTT
Cost: JoN
At 1 January and 31 RZZT—X~"F—HA—AH
December 2016 Ft+=—A=+—8H 185,230 2,411 67,228 254,869
Accumulated amortisation R ##E RIBEEISE !
and impairment losses:
At 1 January and 31 RZTE—R"RF—H—H
December 2016 Et+Z—A=+—H (185,230) (2,411) (67,228) (254,869)
Net book value: REFE
At 31 December 2016 RZZE—RF
+=—A=+—H = - - -

BEECRBE_T——F+-_A=1t—
BIEFEBHRE-

The intangible assets were fully impaired during the year
ended 31 December 2012.
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31 December 2017 R=_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& 3B =EBR&E I+ LA RESI(E)

16. Goodwill 16. B8
2017 2016
—E—+tF AN S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AR T T
Cost: A
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—Bk+=-—A=+—H 208,237 208,237
Accumulated impairment losses: RETREREE
At 1 January and 31 December R—A—BEKk+=-—A=+—H (208,237) (208,237)
Carrying amount: BRTE B :
At 31 December R+=ZRA=+—H = =
The goodwill was fully impaired during the year ended 31 HEERBE_ZT——+=-A=+—HL
December 2012. FETBERE -
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31 December 2017 R=—Z—tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ff 5 B FEBAE SN - A A REE DI E)

17. Land lease prepayments 17. Tt HEEFENFTKIE
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T ARBTFT
Cost: A
At 1 January w—A—H 141,453 137,194
Additions NE 25,126 4,259
Acquisition of a subsidiary g — B QA 23,335 -
Disposal of a subsidiary HE—MWERQR (19,641) -
At 31 December RTrZ2F=—E 170,273 141,453
Accumulated amortisation: ReEt#es
At 1 January R—H—8 (21,403) (16,994)
Amortisation for the year FAEE (3.862) (4,409)
Acquisition of a subsidiary Wi — B QA (2,666) -
Disposal of a subsidiary o E — B AR 3,891 -
At 31 December RITr=F=+—E (24,040) (21,403)
Net book value: BREFE:
At 31 December R+=-—A=+—H 146,233 120,050

Lease prepayments represent the

payments made on the

acquisitions of the lands held under operating leases mainly for
production plants. All the lands are located in Mainland China

with a lease period of 50 years.

As at 31 December 2017, certain of the Group’s interest-
bearing bank borrowings were secured by certain of the
Group's lease prepayments (note 28), which had an aggregate

net book value of RMB48,835,000 (31

RMB50,108,000).

December 2016:
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31 December 2017 R=F
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

18.

19.

—tF+=ZA=+—H

(BEAFEREN  RARKIE)

Prepayments for raw materials

In order to secure a stable supply of polysilicon materials, the
Group entered into short-term and long-term contracts with
certain raw material suppliers and made advance payments to
these suppliers which are to be offset against future
purchases. Prepayments for raw materials where the Group
expects to receive the raw materials more than twelve months
after the end of the reporting period are classified as non-
current assets and to receive within one year are classified as
current assets. There is no prepayment for raw materials made
to a related party as at 31 December 2017 (31 December
2016: Nil).

As at 31 December 2014, management reassessed the
prepayments for potential impairment and identified one of the
suppliers, from which the Group failed to purchase the agreed
guantities of polysilicon under the long-term supply contract,
and therefore provided a provision of RMB70,369,000.

Based on the updated assessment by management for the year
ended 31 December 2017, no further impairment or reversal
of impairment was made during the year ended 31 December
2017. The movement in the impairment provision during the
year merely represented exchange adjustments.

Investments in associates

18.

19.

= A B TR A RRE
ﬁ%ﬁﬁ%iy%hﬁﬁﬂ{ﬁ &
ETREMHEEBITLENRERHSHNILR
ZEHREBINBENRIE  ZEFABRA
BREEREN AEEEHRRENHEE
E&+:ﬂﬁuiﬁmﬁﬁﬂﬂmﬁﬁﬂﬁ
NRBSER/IERBDEE - LK —FAIE
F?TZ##E?F?$ﬁ*+%ETTmAIE’“*E¢%uw§té§F§°

R=_ZFE—+tF+-_A=+—8" Mﬂiﬁ%
BANEMBBENRBE(ZZE—XR"F+=
B=+—8:&)-

R-ZE—NF+_-_A=+—"H BEELCYH

FENRENBEREZFEL TG LB ®
wﬁ$ HEER  AEBEARBRERAHE
BEHOMEEEETHENZSE  THEK
ME A R #70,369,0007T &) 5 #5 ©

BEEEEREEZE-—Z—tF+=-_A=+—
BEFEEFNFGE RBEE_T—LF
TZA=+—HEFERERREE T

EHEEFE

Share of net assets

REBEBRBEORE - FAORBEREESHES
fE X, 3% -

REEARNRE

2017 2016

—E—+tE —E—REF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR® Tt AR T

5,251 41,148
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

19.

R=ZF—tF+=_HA=+—H
(BRmBEEREIN

Investments in associates (continued)

The following list contains the particular of the associates,

which are unlisted corporate entities:

Form of business

AARESIE)

19.
T

= G

Place of

establishment Registered and paid-in

REEQNTNERE @

HIBERBNFE  ERFLT AR

B g -

Percentage of
ownership
interest
attributable

Name of associate structure and business capital to the Group Principal activities
AEEERS
BENR AR EBEBEA EIZRAE S S AMRESAELX HEEEBIL TEXK
Jinzhou Chengguang New Incorporated The PRC/ RMB10,000,000 49 Construction of photovoltaic
Energy Technology Co., ERiig2Ava Mainland China AR #10,000,0007C power plants
Ltd. ("Chengguang”) HE B AR BENXARE
0 M358 S 3 AR R
BRAR (KD
Jiangsu Oriental Huida New Incorporated The PRC/ Registered capital of 30 Construction of photovoltaic
Energy Technology Co., a1l B 2 Mainland China RMB20,000,000 power plants
Ltd. (“Huida") BB K R and paid-in capital BERREW
TH#F R BEM R of RMB4,700,000
BRAR(EE]D AMERARYE
20,000,0007T &% B & &
A A\ R #4,700,0007T
Both of the above associates are accounted for using the L 2 EEE R R P AR NGRS WS
equity method in the consolidated financial statements. &k AARR -

148 SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED & EERIZRBRAE



Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements
IR R BT 5E

31 December 2017 R-_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk B sEBAE SN - LAA REEDIE)

REBERANRE®
EBHEDAOHBANEREET SN

19. Investments in associates (continued) 19.

Summarised financial information of the material associates,

adjusted for any differences in accounting policies, and REEAERBEGAEUBHRERAFEAES R
reconciled to the carrying amounts in the consolidated BHEAT
financial statements, is disclosed below:
Chuanghui Chengguang Huida
ES wx EE
2017 2016 2017 2016 2017 2016
CE-+f EeblpGEl —CT-+F PGl T+ F T—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB'000
ARETT NGRS \R%ETT NGEAN ARETT N

Gross amounts of BENRREE
the associates

Non-current assets ERDEE = 261,107 42,046 42,047 245 =
Current assets MEEE - 39,913 4 11 4,849 -
Current liabilities mBEE = (141,915) (32,088) (32,087) (1,565) =
Non-current liabilities EnBAE = (58,993) = = = =
Net assets BEFE = 100,112 9,962 9,971 3,529 =
Revenue g - 41,720 - - 450 -
Loss for the year FEBE = (50,193) (9) 2) (1,171) -
Total comprehensive LHEBANBE

income = (50,193) (9) (2) (1,171) =
Reconciled to the Group's AL BN 2

interests in the INSIE: Fogafis

associates
Gross amounts of net BEARBEEF

assets of the associates [EE:ES = 100,112 9,962 9,971 3,529 =
The Group's effective AEEERER

interests = 37% 49% 49% 30% =
The Group's shares of net AN B E(H

assets of the associates N BEFE = 37,041 4,881 4,886 1,149 -
Unrealised profits on THRXZHAE

downstream BE

transactions = = (779) (779) = =
Carrying amounts in the REMBREA

consolidated financial HEREA

statements - 37,041 4,102 4,107 1,149 -
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B B A EBEE N - LA AR K FIE)

20. Available-for-sale investments 20. IHEERE
2017 2016
—ZE—+tF ZE—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥T R ARBETF T
Unlisted equity investments, FEMRAEKE
at fair value: BRFE -
In Mainland China BB A b 2,430 =
2,430 =
Available-for-sale investments represents an investment in a AHEERERH —RAAIMN—HEE - A
company, which is stated at cost less any impairment as there RRBEMMISER  WEERKANREE
is no market price available. Al (A o
As at 31 December 2017, no impairment loss was provided (31 RZE—tF+ZA=+—8  BEEEAH
December 2016: Nil). Bt (ZE—R"F+=ZA=1+—H:&)-
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31 December 2017 R=_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& 3B =EBR&E I+ LA RESI(E)

21. Deferred tax 21. EEBIE
The components of deferred tax assets/(liabilities) recognised in REETBRARERANEERBEE
the consolidated statement of financial position and the (BBE)MNEERFAEHAT

movements during the year are as follows:

Losses

available for

Depreciation offsetting

Fair value Provision allowance in against

adjustment on for doubtful excess of Provision Unpaid future

Deferred business debt and related for social taxable
income  combination inventories depreciation warranties securities profits Others Total

A%

EBA0H RERR HERR AXAHE EHBFE
BEWA ATE FEERE BAHNRFE RARE RE HHNER Hity £
RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB000

ARBTT ARETT ARBTT ARETRE ARETT ARETT ARBTT ARETT ARETT

At 1 January 2016 RZT—RF
—A—A 2,321 (2,855) 527 - 11,611 5,196 3,550 310 20,660
(Charged)/credited to profit or RigE (k) /
loss (note 11) A (1) (409) 73 336 (69) 4,501 (5,196) (3,550) 319 (3,995)
At 31 December 2016 RZFE—R
+-A=+-H 1,912 (2,782) 863 (69) 16,112 - = 629 16,665
At 1 January 2017 R-T—tF
—A—H 1,912 (2,782) 863 (69) 16,112 = = 629 16,665
(Charged)/credited to profit or RIE GIR) /S
loss (note 11) RPNGEARD (1,173) 72 2,175 2) 5,767 = 8,475 3 15,317
At 31 December 2017 R-F—+&F
+=ZA=+-—-H 739 (2,710) 3,038 (71) 21,879 - 8,475 632 31,982
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31 December 2017
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

21.

22.

R=Z—t&+=-A=+—H
(Br R BEFHEEN  AARKSIE)

Deferred tax (continued)
Deferred tax assets not recognised

At 31 December 2017, the Group has not recognised deferred
tax assets in respect of unused tax losses of RMB474,761,000
(31 December 2016: RMB684,912,000) and RMB176,888,000
(31 December 2016: RMB145,964,000) attributable to its
subsidiaries in Mainland China and Hong Kong, respectively,
and certain deductible temporary differences of
RMB236,053,000 (31 December 2016: RMB300,719,000), as it
is not probable that future taxable profits against which the
losses or deductible temporary differences can be utilised will
be available in the relevant tax jurisdictions and entities.

Included in the unrecognised tax losses, RMB176,888,000 (31
December 2016: RMB145,964,000) may be carried forward
indefinitely and the remaining balance will expire at various
dates up to 2022.

Deferred tax liabilities not recognised

At 31 December 2017, taxable temporary differences relating
to the undistributed profits of certain subsidiaries of the Group
established in the PRC amounted to RMB13,424,000 (2016:
RMB11,735,000). No deferred tax liabilities have been
recognised in respect of the withholding tax that would be
payable on distribution of these retained profits as the
Company controls the dividend policy of these subsidiaries and
it has been determined that it is probable that profits from
these subsidiaries will not be distributed in the foreseeable
future.

Other non-current assets

Other non-current assets represent the deductible input value-
added taxes (“VAT”) that are not expected to be utilised
within one year. These deductible input VATs are arisen from
the purchases of the property, plant and equipment for a
photovoltaic power plant, which are eligible for deduction
within the whole life of the power plant in Mainland China.

SOLARGIGA ENERGY HOLDINGS LIMITED 5 aERIZIRBIR A A

21.

22.

IE 3 B IH (@)
MARERELENIEEE
N_B—+FE+-_A=+—8 A&EELE
HOBIRPREKEREBONE R AR
474,761,000 (ZZE—"EFE+ A =+ —
H: A R #684,912,0000T) & A R #&
176,888,000c(ZZE — ~"FE+ - A=+ —
B : AR #145,964,00070) &) FE 16 & 8) B F3
BHEBLETONREREEZEEARE
236,053,000t (ZE —R"F+=-A=+—
H : AR #300,719,0007T) i 2 iE i 7 18 &
E RRAHBRBEAEERREETAA
RE @ A R R EER R A B LA (L &) B s 1B sk AT 41
B B A EE o

RERMIEEE T M AR176,888,0007T
(ZE2E—XRE+-_A=Z=+—8B: ARK
145,964,0007T) A & R Hi 45 88 - A5 N &
ET__FWARBEER -

HWABRELEHIBEE

RZTBE—+F+_-_A=+—8 BAEER
FERAZNE THERRARD RS EE BN
JERTE R EREAARY13,424,000L (=F
— NI AR#¥11,735,0000T) - BEE B SR
ZERBABEEMNOBENH BERRTMIELZ
REEGE BREREARGEHZENERQ R
HREBR  MEBRTEZEWEBRRIRA
RARDIEFBEHOEE DK -

HtERBEE

EAb R EERBH A RE—FNFAL
A I TR R (TSR B )) o i AR
BREBLHRBE AL REHONE -
B RSB EHEE AT AAREHT
B HBRIE I -
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IR R BT 5E

31 December 2017 R—Z—tF+-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk B sEBAE SN - LAA REEDIE)

23. Inventories 23. 78

(@) Inventories in the consolidated statement of financial (a) BAEVBMRARBEERRE:
position comprise:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T AR F T
Materials and supplies MR R & 156,661 319,706
Finished goods UK 5 262,072 370,527
Less: Write-down of inventories to net W T E MR E R #
realisable value I FE (15,202) (19,484)
403,531 670,749
(b)  The analysis of the amount of inventories sold is as by BENHFEEIWNOAT:
follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
ARE T ARET T
Carrying amount of inventories sold EEFTEMNERHEE 2,835,994 2,359,652
Write-down of inventories 17 & MU - 825
Reversal of write-down of inventories 7 & WO, 3] 5 (4,282) -
2,831,712 2,360,477
24. Trade and bills receivables 2. EWESRARERE
2017 2016
—E—+iF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T T AR T
Trade receivables FEUW B B R 1,345,780 526,041
Bills receivables FE W F & 376,178 17,117
Less: Impairment B R E (73,350) (57,248)
1,648,608 485,910
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31 December 2017 R=—Z—tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ff 5 B FEBAE SN - A A REE DI E)

24. Trade and bills receivables (continued) 24. ERWESRIAREE®
RFEHEEER MG RERBEHEEOER
BESRFNEENERKRIZEZHH TN

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables (net of
allowance for doubtful debts) at the end of reporting period

based on invoice date is as follows: T
2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR® T AREET T
Within 1 month —@EAA 672,937 266,672
1 to 3 months —Z==1@A 358,121 40,796
4 to 6 months /=S E A 233,068 22,913
7 to 12 months +tE+ =@ A 298,998 125,723
Over 1 year il —F 85,484 29,806
1,648,608 485,910

The Group normally allows a credit period of 30-90 days to its REE BB TEFI0EOAMNEER- B

customers. However, regarding domestic photovoltaic module
sales, some trade receivables are granted longer credit periods
of up to 180 days depending on the construction period of
photovoltaic power plants. In addition, 10% of the total
amount of receivables are retained as warranties in some
domestic contracts, and will generally be recovered in around
one year. As a result, the trade receivables turnover days of
module sales are generally longer.

The movements in the allowance for doubtful debts during the
year are as follows:

STHBERZAMFHEE - B0 BAEIRKAE K
FHARNBUWEERNIRBER  RREEH
& E180K o UbSI - TR B B IE IR R AR
BII0%ER—LBASRZERE  WWHE
RE—RE-—FARKE - itk - AHHEEZ
EKRESERFBAER —REK -

FARKBREZSNOT

2017 2016

—E—tF —EB-RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

ARE T AR T

At 1 January n—H—H 57,248 25,813
Exchange adjustments i (1,260) 1,618
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) BRI EE KL (H5E7) 18,900 29,817
Amount written off as uncollectible 58 & A A Y Bl 2 IR (1,538) -
At 31 December R+=ZA=+—H 73,350 57,248
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(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A sERAZE 4N - LA REEFI(E)

24. Trade and bills receivables (continued) 24. ERESRAREE ®

Included in the above provision for impairment of trade
receivables is a provision for individually impaired trade
receivables of RMB73,350,000 (2016: RMB57,248,000) with a
carrying amount before provision of RMB73,350,000 (2016:
RMB57,248,000).

The individually impaired trade receivables relate to customers
that were in financial difficulties or were in default in principal
payments and none of the receivables is expected to be
recovered.

The ageing analysis of trade and bills receivables that are
neither individually collectively considered to be impaired is as
follows:

FEKRE S ERFBRERELEERRED
FEWE 5 R A& E A R¥73,350,0007T (=
T —NF : AR¥57,248,00070) @ E B AT
BRTE A A AR #73,350,0007T (=T — /4 ¢
A R #57,248,0007T) °

18 311 B 9 18 UK '8 55 P ok B T Il 8 07 IR 36 o
AEEEASNTFPEH  HHZZ R
I8 % A Y E e

I £ 18 5l 3 H R AR R IRE ) U E 5 BR 5K
MEBEORESTOT

2017 2016

—E—+tF AN S

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T AR T T

Not past due I % 18 A 1,368,439 272,491
Less than 1 month past due wmE LR —1EA 90,543 8,677
1 to 3 months past due m—==@A 118,350 30,997
4 to 6 months past due BmAEIY E N (E A 13,609 88,632
7 to 12 months past due BEtEE+ (@A 10,516 55,620
Over 1 year past due BE—F A E 47,151 29,493
1,648,608 485,910

As at 31 December 2017, bills receivables had been pledged as
security to banks for acquiring interest-bearing bank
borrowings amounting to RMB219,749,000 (31 December
2016: RMB4,000,000), for issuing bills payable to suppliers
amounting to RMB53,196,000 (31 December 2016: Nil), and
for issuing letters of guarantee amounting to RMB20,000,000
(31 December 2016: Nil).

Receivables that were past due but not impaired relate to a
number of customers that have a good track record with the
Group. Based on past experience, management believes that
no impairment is necessary in respect of these balances as
there has not been a significant change in credit quality and
the balances are still considered fully recoverable. The Group
does not hold any collateral over these balances.

R-ZE—+F+-A=+—08 EREECZ
BEHRIEABRITHRBITHFEERARE
219,749,000t (ZE —RF+ A=+ —
B : AR #4,000,0007T) & 3 # & - LA
TR LR R 215 A R #553,196,0007T (=
E—RNE+_A=+—"HBH:E)RARK
20,000,000 (ZE—ARF+A=+—H:
)R ERK -

BHETERENEEFAERNEERS Z %
ERUHEFERENEPER -REBEUELR
B ARGEEERUEEANE ARA/ZX
SHeDrAaEEm EEEMEEHBERZ
FHEBETIRRE - ARBEAERZFERET
BEMERSR -
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31 December 2017 R=—Z—tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ff 5 B FEBAE SN - A A REE DI E)

25. Prepayments, deposits and other 25. RE -ReERHMENR
receivables MIE

2017 2016
—E—+tF AN S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR®T T ARBTFT
Prepayments for raw materials R AR B TE 5 5RIB 142,686 160,384
Deductible value-added tax A HUR B E T 180,412 229,614
Other receivables H b & W 5K I8 31,029 53,098
Less: Impairment R E (6,800) (6,800)
347,327 436,296

The movements in the allowance for other receivables during FRNEMERRBNBEESSHEOT

the year are as follows:

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR TR ARBTT
At 1 January mn—H—H 6,800 -
Impairment losses recognised (note 7) B MR E 18 2k (i 57) - 6,800
At 31 December R+t=ZA=+—8H 6,800 6,800
Included in the above provision for impairment of other o dtt E b AT R TR (B B B A B BIRL(E Y
receivables is a provision for individually impaired other H b & W R IE B B B A R #66,800,0007T (=
receivables of RMB6,800,000 (2016: RMB6,800,000) with a T —NF : AR %6,800,0007T)  H & & Al
carrying amount before provision of RMB6,800,000 (2016: FREE A AR ¥6,800,000C (ZF — /R F ¢
RMB6,800,000). A R #6,800,0007T) °
Except for those other receivables already impaired, the REMEMENEKRFKIEIN U ESEANE
financial assets included in the above balances related to 128 1R 5 0 TE A KR 1Y B 75 4B E A BRI M R D
receivables for which there were no recent history of default 8 IMEE T &S -

and no fixed term of repayment.
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31 December 2017 R=_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (f& 3B =EBR&E I+ LA RESI(E)

26. Pledged deposits EEAEN
Certain of the Group’s bank deposits were pledged to secure REBAETRITERERAEBERARTT
bank loans and other banking facilities granted to the Group ERREMBITREELER - HINOT :
as follows:
2017 2016
—E—+tF AN S
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tx AR T T
Pledged as security for bank loans EHRIERBRITERNER R 176,296 321,064
Others Hity 42,801 63,597
219,097 384,661
The effective annual interest rate for pledged deposits with BEZZ—t+tF+_A=+—HLEFEE B
banks was 1.5% for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2016: BRTRITNEFEARNERENXRIS5E (=
1.49%). T—RNF : 1.49E) -
27. Cash and cash equivalents RekBReEEY
2017 2016
—E-tF A
RMB’'000 RMB'000
AR TR ARBTT
Cash and bank balances ] e RIRTT R 191,185 293,628

Cash and bank balances totalling RMB135,549,000 (31
December 2016: RMB197,454,000) as at 31 December 2017
are denominated in RMB. The RMB is not freely convertible
into other currencies, however, under Mainland China’s
Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and Administration of
Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign Exchange
Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB for
other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign
exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short term time deposit
rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are deposited
with creditworthy banks with no recent history of default.

R-ZE—+E+-_A=+—HBHHEL RRTT
e A H A R%135,549,0000T (Z T — /N F
+ZA=+—H: AR%197,454,0007T) LA
ARESE - NARETATEHMEREEME
B o SRTM - AR B AP B HNE B I R A BE
EERNEEERTE  AEBEEHESEBR
HERITIEARE LB EINE A EITINE
jﬁ%c

RITHEESRIE A B RITEFRN R LIFEF =
REOAE - EHERAFRBR A —RE=E
B RFAREENARRSFERME - LA
A FE B 52 B E BT RN R ERERA B o SRITHE
HIEEEREREFAOHL BRREHA
ERRFHIRTT
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31 December 2017

28. Interest-bearing borrowings

RZZF—tF+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

AEHE

(BB BEBEIN

AARESIE)

28.

2017

—E-tF

Effective
interest
rate (%)
BRI =E(%)

Current:
Bank loans — secured
Bank loans — guaranteed

Current portion of
long-term borrowings

Bank loans - secured

Bank loans — guaranteed

wE
RITEN - HEM
RITER - 2ER

REGEHRD
BD

RITER - HEM

RITER - EER

Third parties - guaranteed F=H-BER
Total &
Non-current: E

Bank loans — secured
Bank loans — guaranteed
Third parties — guaranteed

Total

(@ The bank borrowings are secured,

RITENR - HER
RITER - EER
£z -BER

2.3744-7.14
2.5-7.14

1.6-3.3

1.6-6

Maturity
g

2018
2018

2018

2019-2020

among which

2016
—E-REF

Effective

interest
RMB’000 rate (%) Maturity RMB’000
AR T BRI 38 ARETT
1,024,880 4-7.8 2017 1,105,045
895,763 1.3734-8 2017 763,458
= 5.39 2017 15,000
= 5.225 2017 33,000
1,679 3.3-6.15 2017 120,364
1,922,322 2,036,867
= 539 2018-2027 179,000
124,758 3.3 2018-2020 780
124,758 179,780

@ RWRITEERAEER EHPARE

RMB1,024,880,000 (2016: RMB1,299,045,000) was 1,024,880,000 T (=T —/RF : AR

secured by certain of the Group’s bills receivables, 1,299,045,0007T) JA AN & E BR m JF (B

property, plant and equipment and land lease A AN R #604,297,000T (= & — X

prepayments with the net book value of F: A R #650,993,0000T) M & T &

RMB604,297,000 (2016: RMB650,993,000). WRE W% BERRBAKL LM
HEBEMNRIBEEEM -

(b)  Certain subsidiaries’ borrowings are guaranteed by other by EBTHWBRARNEBEEDAASEEEAm

subsidiaries of the Group.
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BT ¥R IR

31 December 2017 R-_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk B sEBAE SN - LAA REEDIE)

28. Interest-bearing borrowings (continued) 28. ;TEEE @

2017 2016
—B—tF ZTFAF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR Tx AR T T

Analysed into: DT

Bank loans repayable: ATEENRITENR:
Within one year or on demand —FREIEERK 1,920,643 1,916,503
In the second year B _F — 16,000
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZERF BREEEWE — 55,000
Beyond five years B A F = 108,000
1,920,643 2,095,503
Other borrowings repayable: ATEENEMEER:
Within one year —FR 1,679 120,364
In the second year F= 122,994 364
In the third to fifth years, inclusive FZERF REERERSE 1,764 416
126,437 121,144
2,047,080 2,216,647
29. Trade and bills payables ENHESRIRRREE

2017 2016
—E—+iF —E—RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR T ARETT
Trade payables ERE SRR 611,729 546,813
Bills payables JE N R 443,807 181,434
1,055,536 728,247
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31 December 2017 R=—Z—tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Ff 5 B FEBAE SN - A A REE DI E)

29. Trade and bills payables (continued) 29. ERESRARREE®@

(@)  The ageing analysis of trade and bills payables at the end (a) MNBEHBEER EAESEIN
of the reporting period based on invoice date is as ZENRKRREZAEOTAOT
follows:

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR T ARBTT

Within 1 month —fEAR 413,818 311,257
1 to 3 months —=={@A 285,633 119,240
4 to 6 months mZENEA 292,278 218,125
7 to 12 months +Z+=@A 18,226 61,451
Over 1 year il —F 45,531 18,174
1,055,536 728,247

(b) As at 31 December 2017, the Group's bills payables of by MZZTE—+tF+-_A=+—8 &%
RMB95,700,000 were secured by Group’s bills E A R #95,700,0007T &9 & {7 22 #& A
receivables of RMB53,196,000 (31 December 2016: Nil) AEB AR 53,196,000 (=F
(note 24). —RNFETZA=T—H: & NEKE

B AEE (T 5E24) -
30. Other payables and accruals 30. HttENRIERETHAX
2017 2016
—E—tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ T AREETF T

Other payables and accrued expenses b JE A FRIE K FE ET R X 67,040 78,831

Other tax payables H b JE A B 18 23,444 13,103

Receipts in advance T8 W kIR 43,850 23,588

Dividends payable JE A5 PR B 142 151

134,476 115,673
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31 December 2017 R=ZT—+tF+=A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A sERAZE 4N - LA REEFI(E)

31. Provisions

31. &%

Provision for

inventory
Provision for purchase
warranties commitments Total
FERE
RARE EERE AE
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT ARBFIT AR T T
At 1 January 2016 RZZE—RF—H—H 61,887 46,250 108,137
Provisions made P 1ERE 18 22,306 = 22,306
Exchange adjustments bE 5 38 & = 3,158 3,158
At 31 December 2016 RZE—RF
+=-A=+—8© 84,193 49,408 133,601
At 1 January 2017 RZT—tF—H—H 84,193 49,408 133,601
Provisions made FIT 1 7 45 28,446 - 28,446
Exchange adjustments & H & = (2,869) (2,869)
At 31 December 2017 RZT—+F
+=-—A=+—H 112,639 46,539 159,178

The Group’s photovoltaic modules were typically sold with a 2
or 5-year warranty for defects in materials and workmanship
and a 10-year and 25-year minimum power output warranty,
against declines of more than 10% and 20%, respectively, of
initial power generation capacity from the date of delivery. The
Group has the obligation to repair or replace solar modules,
under the terms of the warranty policy. The Group maintains
warranty reserves to cover potential liabilities that could arise
under these warranties.

A subsidiary of the Group entered into a long-term supply
contract (the “Supply Contract”) with one of its suppliers in
2010. According to the current terms of the Supply Contract,
the subsidiary shall need to pay a total of non-refundable
advance payments of US$34,500,000 and to purchase the
agreed quantities of polysilicon for the period from 2012 to
2020 with a total amount of US$348,000,000.

AEBARXREFHER—RHEARNMNA
HRB2FHSFWHRIEZERATLRA - LAKRI0
FRUFHZBEENBHREZ - DRRFES
B TREETESNRVILSEEERI0% KR
20% - REBERABREKGR  ANEBERTY
KIGREMA M ETHERELR - AEBRER
ARELNEEZSERAETNEEARE -

AEBE-—BWEBAREEEERZ —KR_F
—ZFITURBAHESH(HESGLH] - B
BHEESANREGTR  ZMBARERZ
T FE T -_ZTFHEMEINATATRLOMN
¥8 {1 7 1B A ££34,500,000% 7t - B EIET
HEMNZ HE - 8% 5348,000,000%E 7T ©
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31 December 2017 R=—Z—tF+=-A=+—H
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (Bk BB iERR &SN » U AR ¥ 51{E)

31. Provisions (continued)

As at 31 December 2017, the subsidiary has made a non-
refundable prepayment of US$11,500,000 to the supplier, but
it did not purchase the agreed quantities from the supplier for
2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2017 with amounts of
UsS$18,375,250, US$13,200,000, US$25,800,000,
Us$42,000,000, US$41,000,000 and US$154,000,000
respectively as stipulated in the Supply Contract. As of the
date of this report, the supplier has issued invoices to the
subsidiary for the above purchase commitments for the years
ended 31 December 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and
2017.

As of 31 December 2017, the subsidiary recognised a provision
for impairment of RMB75,143,000 (31 December 2016:
RMB79,776,000) (note 18) for the non-refundable prepayment
and a provision of RMB46,539,000 (31 December 2016:
RMB49,408,000) for the onerous contract. After taking into
consideration all the relevant factors, the directors of the
Company determined that it is not necessary to make any
further provision for the contingent losses from the Supply
Contract during the year ended 31 December 2017.
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31.

BEw

RZE—+FE+_A=1+—H ZMBERA
[ 44 JRE 7 S {51 71 ] AR (2] A9 FE 1+ 3k I8 11,500,000
EncBUERBERAOIIENR=F—=
F ZE2—=F - ZF—NHF - ZT—HF"
ZE-REFERZT—tFRRBEEEERE
E W B 2 95 3 B #18375250% -
13,200,000 JT * 25,800,0003% 7T * 42,000,000
2 JT ~ 41,000,000 7t }154,000,000% T ° A
RFERH ZEEBER LB ERER
ZHBRAABEHEEZE T ——F - —F—=
F ZF2—MOF - ZFT-—HF ZFT-—RFR
T tF+ A=t BHLFENBRE-

R-ZE—+F+-B=+—8 ZWBLA
ERTAEEMNEMNFERRBREREBEAR
#75,143,000(Z T —A"FE+ A =+—
H: AR#79,776,0007T) (M 5£18) - St &
BG4 mREE AR46,539,000C (= F
—~"FE+=-A=+—H: AR®¥49,408,000
o) ZMBARMEIRE R AT EH M ER
B AT BB T B K S 18 BT £ H 4 B 165 5% A 16 3K
EITERER KEEMEHEBREER K
NEEEREHE_E—t&E+-A=+—
BIEFEDRREREONIAEBITIRE
o] H 3 4 o
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B 75 R Y ot

31 December 2017
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R=ZF—tH+-_A=+—H

(BEAFEREN  RARKIE)

32. Finance lease payables

The Group leases certain of its plant and machinery for
Segment A. These leases are classified as finance leases and
have remaining lease terms ranging from one to three years.

As at 31 December 2017, the total future minimum lease
payments under finance leases and their present values were
as follows:

32.

MEHEEMNRE
ARERDBAREE THERBE - %%
HAESEARAHRE HNBpAMN T 2=

S

RZB—tF+-A=+—H0 REMEHE
ERRMRERENREELERENT

Minimum lease payments

Present value of minimum

lease payments

BREEAESR BEEAESREE
2017 2016 2017 2016
—E—+F TE—tF RS
RMB’000 RMB’'000 RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR T BNGERWHE \R% Tt BN R
Amounts payable: FET & %58
Within one year —FR 8,519 6,071 8,242 5,812
In the second year F_F 1,864 8,519 1,598 7,599
In the third year, inclusive FE=F(BREE=F) = 2,864 = 2,429
Total minimum finance lease B & & &K
payments s g 10,383 17,454 9,840 15,840
Future finance charges KRR EE R (543) (1,614)
Total net finance lease REE T EESRIE
payables R 9,840 15,840
Portion classified as current REARBAERD
liabilities z52) (8.000) (5,000)
Non-current portion B 5 1,840 10,840
33. Deferred income 33. EEWA

Various government grants have been received by the Group
for generating export sales, participating in high-tech industry
and constructing various manufacturing and photovoltaic
power plants in Jinzhou, Liaoning Province, and Xining,
Qinghai Province, the PRC.

Those government grants related to assets are recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position initially as
deferred income and are amortised to profit or loss as other
income over the useful lives of the assets.

AEERELARAHE HEFHERTER
EhEEEABMASEARERERS @R
HERR B I AR Bk i 15 1 [R) B BUR ARG

% 5 B B A R O U 8 B R )N AR B B %
MRKRPERSELZRA - WIREEREM
FHRESNBEREMEA -
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31 December 2017 RA=Z
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

—tF+=-A=+—H
(BEBEFEREN  UARKIE)

34. Retirement benefit schemes

Employees of the Group’s PRC subsidiaries are required to
participate in a defined contribution retirement benefit scheme
administered and operated by the local municipal government.
The Group’s PRC subsidiaries were required to make
contributions to the scheme at 20% of the employees’ salaries
per annum to fund the retirement benefits of the employees.

The Group is required to participate in defined contribution
retirement schemes administered and operated by Bureau of
Labour Insurance of Taiwan for employees employed in
Taiwan. Under the schemes, the employer is required to make
contributions to the schemes at 6% of the employees’ relevant
income. Contributions to the schemes vest immediately.

The Group also operates a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme
(the “MPF scheme”) under the Hong Kong Mandatory
Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for employees employed
under the jurisdiction of the Hong Kong Employment
Ordinance. The MPF scheme is a defined contribution
retirement plan administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are each
required to make contributions to the plan at 5% of the
employees’ relevant income, subject to a cap of monthly
relevant income of HK$30,000. Contributions to the MPF
scheme vest immediately.

The Group has no other material obligation for the payment of
retirement benefits associated with the schemes beyond the
contributions described above.

g8y R R

ﬁ%@¢ﬁ%%@ﬁﬁémﬁﬁmmﬁﬁﬁ
[FEBEREHNTBHIBAENE - K
SEHEMREBA Mﬁﬁﬂi%MN%mﬁ

SRR 7%1@,%\ BRARBHREHES -

AEEBASENREGENESB2NBAES
TREREE R E RN TEMETRKRTE -
RiIEZESFE EEZEAZREERABRALN
6% M & E) 1 4R 3 o R AT 21 E H A9 4 SR AD
BFER B -

AEBTEREBERERHIMELTE S K
fl REXEBRRBGOAMEENRERY
SRR E ((REEE]) - BES
APEIRERMHRENRAAE  ABYRTEAE
B-mEeriRERINEEERBRE
EHEBWARS% A BIELHK - AEA
18 B8 1 A30,0008 7T & LR © A58 T8 £ 71 &
TEH R RENE 58 -

Bk bt tsRoh - REEBAR N ZFATE
BERNERABHNAREEMEREL-

35. Share capital 35. R
Authorised and issued share capital EE R B EITRA
2017 2016
—E-tF —E-RF
No. of shares '000 No. of shares ‘000
ROEE Tr 5 & B T
Authorised: BE
Ordinary shares of HK$0.1 SREEOB T 5,000,000,000  HK$500,000  5,000,000,000  HK$500,000
each LAk
Equivalent to HER RMB450,000 RMB450,000
Ordinary shares, issued and ERTRAZZER:
fully paid:
At 1 January and 31 R—A—BR 3,211,780,566 RMB276,727 3,211,780,566 RMB276,727
December +-A=+—-H
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B 75 R Y ot

31 December 2017
(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated)

R=ZF—tH+-_A=+—H

(BEAFEREN  RARKIE)

36. Reserves

(1)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
The share premium is distributable.

General reserve fund

Pursuant to the relevant PRC laws and the articles of
association of the Company’s subsidiaries incorporated in
the PRC, these PRC subsidiaries are required to transfer
a minimum of 10% of their distributable profits after
taxation based on their PRC statutory financial
statements to the general reserve fund until the balance
of the fund is at least half of the paid-in capital of the
relevant subsidiaries. The amounts allocated to this
reserve are determined by the respective boards of
directors with reference to the minimum requirement.

For the entities concerned, the general reserve fund can
be converted into capital in proportion to the equity
holders’ existing equity holdings, provided that the
balance after such conversion is not less than 25% of
the registered capital.

Capital reserve

The capital reserve comprises the fair value of shares
allotted and issued over the subscription costs and share
options granted to employees of the Group.

Exchange reserve

The exchange reserve comprises all exchange differences
arising from the translation of the financial statements
of Group companies to presentation currency. The
reserve is dealt with in accordance with the accounting
policy set out in note 2.4.

Other reserve

The other reserve mainly represents the differences
between considerations of acquisitions of equity interests
from non-controlling equity owners and carrying amount
of proportionate net assets.

36. f#fE

(1)

=]

W0 i B
B EERNERXASHERRDE
MRE - BROBEN TOIK

—RiEEE
REABTBEERRARAR NG BEE
MACZH M B AR M EMERAR
It 55 o BB B 2 B 28 # H P BA E Bt
BRERMRABRHE A 2R E&D
0%BHRE—RHFRBS EEXFHB
THHBEDVERENB QR EMRAR
—F¥RLE-BEEFERK2BHRER
K& BEIEEZREBENTE -

RERERMS  —REGSTRE
SRAARRNFRLEANLHBAE
KoHERBEERTIBLOREMER
H25% ©

RN
ERNFERRERBETTASEESR
HY P {7 iR 780 R BB A AN O B 0 A AR T
BENBRENRFE-

bE 5 e 1
EXREEEMERREARENE

BREZJNEEMELNELEZR -
RIEEHILM 2 AR S &5 BUR R o

H 5%
HifERERERAFEGIEREES
ABERENKERRLHIREEE
FENREEZFEHERE -
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31 December 2017 R-_ZT—+F+=-A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A sERAE SN - LA A REEFIE)

37. Business combination

37. £ 456t

On 31 March 2017, Jinzhou Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd.* RZF—+tF=A=+—H BINEKXER
("Jinzhou Yangguang”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of ERAR (BEIFMBEX])  AARZMEE
the Company, entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”) iéﬁﬁ% Al HEERSERMDAERA

with Liaoning Oxiranchem, Inc.* (“Liaoning Oxiranchem”) to Al(MEERS DI (&l - Al

purchase a 63% equity interest of Jinzhou Chuanghui New
Energy Co., Ltd.* (“Jinzhou Chuanghui”) at a consideration of
RMB53,000,000. On 31 March 2017, to facilitate the
completion of the Agreement, Jinzhou Yangguang and PEAITE
Liaoning Oxiranchem entered into a debt settlement agreement 48 7 ok
for purpose of settlement of certain indebtedness and other

liabilities in relation to Jinzhou Chuanghui.

58 SN63% PE HE -

MEMEE -

B8 98 N B BT B

BABR AT ([8ME=E]D
K& & A R ¥53,000,000
T -RZE—+tF=A=+—H BAFfER

+ B I B S 0 E
AR EIBEENE TER

R VERKE

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of BNBIER KRB AN RREENBERN
Jinzhou Chuanghui as at the date of acquisition were as ’Ajﬂ%fﬁﬁ T
follows:
Fair value
recognised on
acquisition
W g
WD FEE
RMB’000
ARBTFT
Property, plant and equipment ME - BB REE 155,441
Land lease prepayments TR E TR RIE 20,669
Inventories FE 189
Trade and bills receivables BUREZERRERE 680
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEfFRIE « 12 e K H h fE R 5RIE 35,992
Current tax recoverable BV B AT U4 [0 76 18 63
Cash and bank balances Re RRITET 11,229
Interest-bearing borrowings HEEE (85,000)
Trade payables JE 1 R X (16,690)
Accruals and other payables FE S S & H Ath B A 3Kk (38,193)
Total identifiable net assets at fair value AHRFEELATESE 84,380
Satisfied by: AT WA
The fair value of the original 37% equity interest in R UEE B W IKEH R E37%
the acquiree as at the acquisition date RAE=O R TE 31,221
Debt settlement B EH 53,000
Bargain purchase gain on acquisition of a subsidiary U BERT B A 7] 5 8 8 B Iz 159

* for identification only
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31 December 2017 R=ZT—+tF+=A=+—H

(Expressed in Renminbi unless otherwise indicated) (B 3 A sERAZE 4N - LA REEFI(E)

37. Business combination (continued) 37. ¥¥&68tw
The values of assets and liabilities recognised on acquisition WEKAMERNEERAGBEIHEAT
are their estimated fair values. The fair values of property, B -AEBEHMBERNYE BE &K
plant and equipment, and lease prepayments made for the UEREEEHEETRHAE T MEHOEEEN
lands held under operating leases recognised as a result of the RENRAFEDIEREMEGE -
business combination are based on their market values.
An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of BB BB S RN AOT ¢
Jinzhou Chuanghui is as follows:
RMB’000
AR T T
Cash and bank balances acquired Re RRITET 11,229
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents including in  BREKBEESZEEBMFRARBKEE
cash flows from investing activities FEAZEER 11,229

Since the acquisition, Jinzhou Chuanghui contributed no
revenue and caused a loss of RMB12,264,000 to the
consolidated profit of the Group for the year ended 31
December 2017.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
period, the revenue of the Group and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been RMB3,999,616,000 and
RMB84,188,000, respectively.

38. Disposal of a subsidiary

On March 31 2017, lJinzhou Yangguang Energy Co., Ltd.*
("Jinzhou Yangguang”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company, entered into an agreement (the “Agreement”)
with Liaoning Oxiranchem, Inc.* (“Liaoning Oxiranchem”) to
sell a 100% equity interest in Golmud Solargiga Energy Electric
Power Co., Ltd.* (“Golmud Solargiga”) for a selling price of
RMB155,400,000. On 31 March 2017, to facilitate the
completion of the Agreement, Jinzhou Yangguang and
Liaoning Oxiranchem entered into a debt settlement agreement
for purpose of settlement of certain indebtedness and other
liabilities in relation to Golmud Solargiga.

> for identification only

38.

BREAR BE-ZT—tF+t-A=+—
BEE @MAERAASEERKE B
rAEBzEANEBERBRERARK
12,264,000 °

WZEBEHRFNELE  ARERAFE
Mk SR AEEZFEMNBGD R RBARE
3,999,616,0007T & A K #84,188,0007T °

HE—BKNEAR
R-ZT—+tF=A=+—8 " 8EMNBEXER
BRAR(MBMBEX]) AR ZEERE
MEBEAR BEZERILERGERA A
(EERFDIumE (&l ABE
BEBAEGXERENERAA (KBRS
J1)100% % # - & {8 & A R #155,400,000
T - R-_ZTE—+tFE=ZA=+—"H BHE®R
Bzt NG MEER T ERE
HipE - UEREBRRAEXEENE TE
BAMEMEE -
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38. Disposal of a subsidiary (continued) 38. HE—RBMNBAT @
The following table summarises the carrying value of net asset TERBMRBAG L EBRHNFEERT
of Golmud Solargiga as at the date of disposal: &:
2017
—E—+tF
RMB’000
AR¥ T
Net asset disposed of: FTEEEEFTE
Property, plant and equipment lER & 197,774
Land lease prepayments T AR & BT RIA 15,750
Other non-current assets HtIERBEE 13,642
Trade and bills receivables EWE FERRER 9,878
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables BT FIR -« e Kk E fth FE IR 72,794
Current tax recoverable B EA A] 45 (21 56 18 209
Cash and bank balances Re RBITHEST 1,194
Interest-bearing borrowings FEEE (186,500)
Trade payables EBRE SRR (1,809)
Accruals and other payables JE &t 5 2 R H b JE A< 5RIE (52)
122,880
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary & — B A A s 32,520
155,400
2017
—E—tfF
RMB’000
AR TR
Satisfied by: AT WA
Debt settlement B EA 152,016
Cash consideration HReNRE 3,384
155,400
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in HEE-—HWHBEAREHRNRE e RREEE
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is as follows: ERE ST
2017
—E—tfF
RMB’'000
AR¥ T
Cash and bank balances disposed of EHERE RRITER (1.194)

Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents in respect SHEHE—FHHBARAFHENEE R
of the disposal of a subsidiary ReZEWFRE (1,194)
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39. Notes to the consolidated statement of 39. ZEHERERM =

cash flows
(a) Major non-cash transactions (@) BEXRIFBRERH
During the year, the Group did not enter into finance FRN AEEVTEREEREKAS
lease arrangements in respect of property, plant and FREREBENYE  WERZER
equipment with any capital value at the inception of the VREHERHE(ZZE—XRF: AR
leases (2016: RMB16,840,000). 16,840,0007T) °
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing b) BMEGHELENAEBEE (L
activities
Interest-bearing
bank and other Financial
borrowings lease payable
STEEITER mEHAE
N H & PE 3 5K 1E
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBTFT AR T T
At 1 January 2017 W-E—+&—HF—H 2,216,647 15,840
Changes from financing cash flows BERSRENE L (68,067) (6,000)
Increase arising from acquisition A U5 B BT 28 & =) i 38 40
of a subsidiary 85,000 =
Decrease arising from disposal ES AN N s
of a subsidiary (186,500) =
At 31 December 2017 RZTE—LF
T=H=ET—E 2,047,080 9,840
40. Capital commitments 40. EXRERE
Capital commitments that relate to purchase of property, plant FHEBEME BERKBER-_ZT—tFK
and equipment outstanding at 31 December 2017 and 2016 ZE—ARFETZA=t—HHEREEBTR
not provided for in the financial statements are as follows: EHMBHREABEONEREAEDT
2017 2016
—E-—t#F —E-RHF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR®T T AR T
Contracted but not provided for BRI ERETIRE® 4,278 3,279
Authorised but not contracted for EEBEERETLN 332,202 =

336,480 3,279
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-—t

41. Operating lease commitments 4

At 31 December 2017 and 2016, the total future minimum
lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are
payable as follows:

REHE&ARE
RZE—+FER_T—RNE+_A=1+—
B BETUHECEHE BRASEE
MHREEENRAENT

2017 2016

—E—+tF —E—RF

RMB’000 RMB’000

AR¥T T ARBTT

Within 1 year —FR 854 910
After 1 year but within 5 years —FREAFNA 454 372
After 5 years hFig 1,016 1,214
2,324 2,496

The Group is the lessee in respect to a number of properties
held under operating leases. The leases typically run for an
initial period of two to twenty years, with an option to renew
each lease upon expiry when all terms are renegotiated. None
of the leases include contingent rentals.

42. Related party transactions 42,

In addition to the transactions and balances disclosed
elsewhere in the financial statements, the Group had the
following material related party transactions:

(@) Key management personnel remuneration

Key management personnel receive compensation in the
form of salaries, housing and other allowances, benefits in
kind, discretionary bonuses and retirement scheme
contributions. Details of key management personnel
remuneration are disclosed in note 9. Total remuneration
is included in “staff costs” as disclosed in note 7(a).
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42. Related party transactions (continued) 42. BB R X B (8
(b) Transactions with associates and entities (b) ERBf =N A RANA BEE AT
controlled by directors of the Company MNEBZANRS
2017 2016
—F—+tF —T—RF
RMB’000 RMB'000
AR T ARBTFT
Sales of goods to: HEEMT :
the associates of the Group PN SE )R /N] 770 7,147
the entities controlled by the RNAREZEFHREEHILFRM
directors of the Company or = ) B
close members of director’s
family - 283
770 7,430
Purchases of goods and services MTIAEFEEEMRRE
from:
the associates of the Group NEFEEEE QT = 30
the entities controlled by the RAREFREETMNIIRA
directors of the Company or Pl B & B2
close members of director’s
family 1,390 2,507
1,390 2,537
Note: B &
In the opinion of the directors, the transactions between the Group EEZRR AEEEER ST HANRSRE R
and the related parties were conducted in the ordinary and usual REEEBBRPIREFTHEGRIET TEK
course of business and on normal commercial terms, the pricing terms RIIR R E R TS5 1E B -

were at the prevailing market prices.
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42. Related party transactions (continued)
(c) Outstanding balances with related parties

42. BEE R B o)

(c) BEEHETT < A M K18 R 45 &R

2017 2016
—E—+tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR¥ TR ARBTFT
Trade and bills receivables: EWE SERRER :
the associates of the Group NS E )R /N] 900 19,894
the entities controlled by the RAREZEEFRESHLFRA
directors of the Company or = ) H B
close members of directors’
family 12 7
912 19,901
Prepayment and other T8 -SRI K Hfh fE U FRIE
receivables:
the entities controlled by the RAREFREETHIRA
directors of the Company or Vel R E B2
close members of directors’
family 1,207 2,707
1,207 2,707
Trade payables: JENE SR
the entities controlled by the RAGIESFHRESTHARM
directors of the Company or PR E A
close members of directors’
family 2,132 22,010
2,132 22,010

Note:

The above balances are unsecured, non-interest-bearing and repayable
on demand. Trade receivables from and trade payables to related
parties were repayable or to be settled on the respective credit terms.
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43. Financial instruments by category 43.

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial
instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as

follows:

2017

Financial assets

RERNESWHBEIAR
RBEMEEEE 2 EN B TANEEE
m

—E-t#&

MEEE

Loans and
receivables Total
B K EWRIE st
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR® T ARMF T
Trade and bills receivables W E 5 R RER 1,646,608 1,646,608
Financial assets included in FTABMRIE  Re REAM
prepayments, deposits and other FEUGRIB R B 75 & &=
receivables 31,029 31,029
Pledged deposits [REZEEREE 219,097 219,097
Cash and cash equivalents ReRASEFEEBY 191,185 191,185
2,089,919 2,089,919
Financial liabilities s asE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
LA #8 8% B A
SIBRM BT B & et
RMB’000 RMB’000
AR¥ TR AR¥ TR
Trade and bills payables ERNEZERARER 1,055,536 1,055,536
Financial liabilities included in other T A A B FRIB R BT X
payables and accruals (note 30) #8175 & & (M1 5E30) 45,524 45,524
Interest-bearing bank and other AERTRAMEBEER
borrowings 2,047,080 2,047,080
Finance lease payables B &S ENRIB 9,840 9,840
3,157,980 3,157,980
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43. Financial instruments by category (continved) 43. REHE S WE K T B @)

The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial

RBESHREER  SRUBTANKEE

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as m
follows:
2016 N &
Financial assets MG E
Loans and
receivables Total
B FE W SRR HEt
RMB'000 RMB’'000
ARBEF T ARBTFT
Trade and bills receivables FEH&T%EE &—J—TJ% 485,910 485,910
Financial assets included in FTABMNRIE  Re RHME
prepayments, deposits and other & IEE’JWWQE
receivables 46,298 46,298
Pledged deposits [REEEEEE 384,661 384,661
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBESEFEY 293,628 293,628
1,210,497 1,210,497
Financial liabilities MBaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost Total
LA 55 B AR
| BR 8 B1 75 & & 4t
RMB’000 RMB’000
ARBEFTT AREET T
Trade and bills payables ERNESERARER 728,247 728,247
Financial liabilities included in other T AEAh BRI R X
payables and accruals (note 30) 7 81 75 B & (B 5£30) 62,482 62,482
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITRAMEES
borrowings 2,216,647 2,216,647
Finance lease payables mEMREEMNRE 15,840 15,840
3,023,216 3,023,216
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44. Financial risk management objectives and 44. B EBREE B N R XK

policies

The Group's primary objectives when managing capital are to
safeqguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern,
so that it can continue to provide returns for shareholders and
benefits for other stakeholders, by pricing products and
services commensurately with the level of risk and by securing
access to finance at a reasonable cost.

Exposure to credit, liquidity, interest rate and currency risks
arises in the normal course of the Group’s businesses. The
Group’s exposure to these risks and the financial risk
management policies and practices used by the Group to
manage these risks are described below.

(a) Credit risk

The Group's credit risk is primarily attributable to cash at
banks and trade and bills and other receivables. Cash at
banks are placed with financial institutions that have
sound credit ratings and the Group considers the credit
risk to be insignificant.

In respect of trade and bills receivables, individual credit
evaluations are performed on all debtors on a case-by-
case basis. These evaluations focus on the debtors’ past
history of making payments when due and current
ability to pay, and take into account information specific
to the debtor as well as pertaining to the economic
environment in which the debtor operates. Trade
receivables are normally due within 30 to 90 days from
the date of billing. Normally, the Group does not obtain
collateral from debtors.

The Group's exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each debtor. The
default risk of the industry and country in which debtor
operates also has an influence on credit risk but to a
lesser extent. At the end of the reporting period, the
Group has a certain concentration of credit risk as 23%
(2016: 24%) of the total trade receivables were due
from the Group’s largest customer, and 48% (2016:
61%) were due from the five largest customers of the
Group.

Further quantitative disclosures in respect of the Group's
exposure to credit risk arising from trade and bills
receivables are set out in note 24.

AEBEERESNEZENRRERRKT
B EE m MRTE BAR A RIZ A B2 R AEAS /L
B RELREBASERESELSE EERK
RIBHEBRESEMERTA AR

AEEMAENEES RPES - MERRIH
PR R B AR E ) HEER o REEAE
B B8 R B DA B A &= B it B O % 5 TR B T R
A BREREEBRRREMNSHINOT -

() EERR

AEENEERRIZRERITES
AR FE W B 5 BR R e SR AR A e K fth &
WHIR - RITREF RN ARERR
BEEAGEERRAGRIFEETAN
SRR -

REBESRRARER AEETIR
BRI ERERFEEEEANEE
A ZETEERTREBABEN
FHN RS RBERMNRED e
EZEBEBAFRENENREBEALE
HWEHEBEERE BRE SRR —
MR BRE A HAAE30E908 W E 8 - —
BinE  AEBETEE B AWK
e

AEBNEERBRFEFEZSER AN
BRIBETE - BHEAKENTER
FTEBRRNRZRBRTEEERRE
—ERE BREERE - RREHME
HEH AEEBEETEEEFRHRA
S RAEBEKRE ZERBETE23%
(ZE—RF:24% ) REAEERZA
BEEMRAK BA8% (Z T — /N &F:
61%)BIZRAEAEBMARTEFHRK °

ERAREELAREESIRARE
EmMEAENEERRNE - FTHE
BN E24 -
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44. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk

As detailed in note 2.1, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by RMB348,600,000 as at 31
December 2017. The liquidity of the Group is primarily
depending on its ability to maintain adequate cash flows
from operations, to renew its short-term bank loans and
to obtain adequate external financing to support its
working capital and meet its obligations and
commitments when they become due. Management is
taking certain actions to address these conditions in
accordance with the Group’s policy of regularly
monitoring its current and expected liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient
reserves of cash and adequate committed lines of
funding from major financial institutions to meet its
liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.
These actions include negotiating with banks to renew
the short term loans and to explore the availability of
alternative sources of financing. Further details of these
actions and bank loans concerned are set out in note
2.1.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, which are based on
contractual undiscounted cash flows (including interest
payments computed using contractual rates or, if
floating, based on rates current at the end of the
reporting period) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay.
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B

(BREEEBEN AARKIE)

44. Financial risk management objectives and 44. B REBREE B 0 R BER @)
policies (continued)

(b)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Carrying

amount at
31 December
Wt=A

= =1
REE
RMB000
ARETR

(b) RBEZER @&

2017
“E-tE
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow

AFRAHAER

More than More than

Within 1year but 2 years but
1 year or less than less than ~ More than
on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years

—FRg BB-F BBRE
AR REEAR  EBORRE  EOREE BALE
RMB*000 RMB*000 RMB000 RMB000 RMB'000
ARBTR  ARETn ARETR ARETx  ARET:z

Short-term bank loans BHRTER 1,922,322 (1,969,402)  (1,969,402) - - -
Long-term bank and other loans RAFTREMER 124,785 (139,410) (7,180) (130,370) (1,860) -
Trade and other payables EABARARE
AN 1,101,060 (1,101,060  (1,101,060) - - -
Finance lease payables BEREEMTR 9,840 (10,383) (8,519) (1,864) - -
3,157,980 (3,220,255) (3,086,161) (132,234) (1,860) =
2016
ZE-RF
Contractual undiscounted cash outflow
KRS OB LR
More than More than
Carrying Within 1 year but 2 years but
amount at 1 year or less than less than More than
31 December Total  on demand 2 years 5 years 5 years
®’+=A
=+-Bf —ERg B BB M
RHE BE ZERAN  EOREE  EIRILF BRRF
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETT ARETT ARETT ARBTR AR%TT ARET:R
Short-term bank loans RHRTER 2,036,867  (2,083374)  (2,083,374) - - -
Long-term bank and other loans RARTRABER 179,780 (285,385) (57,701) (25,712) (77.864)  (124,108)
Trade and other payables ENESRRREM
JEft 508 790,729 (790,729) (790,729) = = =
Financial guarantee to an associate RYBE R MABER - (31,450) (31,450) - - -
Finance lease payables REREENFE 15,840 (17,454) (6,071) (8,519) (2,864) -
3,023,216 (3,208,392) (2,969,325) (34,231) (80,728) (124,108)
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44. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(©)

Interest rate risk

Except for bank deposits and RMB wealth management
products with stable interest rates, the Group has no
other significant interest-bearing assets. Accordingly, the
Group’s income and operating cash flows are
substantially independent of changes in market interest
rates. Details of the effective interest rates for bank
deposits are disclosed in notes 26. The Group's interest
rate risk arises mainly from borrowings. Borrowings
obtained at variable rates and at fixed rates expose the
Group to cash flow interest rate risk and fair value
interest rate risk, respectively. The Group does not use
derivative financial instruments to hedge its interest rate
risk.

(i) Interest rate profile

The following table details the interest rate profile
of the Group’s net borrowings at the end of the
reporting period.

MEEEEER N RBX®

(©)

IESER
BREREMNEZMRITEIAMARKIEY
Emih AEETEEMEKRTEE
Eo Bt ZIS%E’\M&)\&%&%%iEi
MEABLEAZMSEN gz &
EHBRTEREBRNENFHBR W&
26 EE - AEBEMNFERRKEZ R
BiEE - ZERTFTREEFEAER D
RASEIR & W F E R kA FEF R
BB AEBYEFERITEMEIA
i 2 F R @R o

(i) MR
TRANAKRERNBEREEE
B & &AM R -

2017 2016
—8-t% o -
Effective Effective
interest rate CUUELVON interest rate RMB'000
BRF= AR®TR ER A% ARETT
% %
Variable rate borrowings BEREE
Short-term bank loans BEARTER 2.22 366,640 3.09 621,458
Long-term bank and other loans ~ RH3ER1T R E M & 6.12 120,000 5.36 179,000
486,644 800,458
Fixed rate borrowings EEEE
Short-term bank loans BARTER 6.45 1,555,678 6.30 1,415,409
Long-term bank and other loans ~ RHIRTREMER 3.13 4,758 330 780
1,560,436 1,416,189
Total borrowings BEAE 2,047,080 2,216,647
Fixed rate borrowings as a EEREEEEAEN
percentage of total Botk
borrowings 76.2% 63.9%
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44. Financial risk management objectives and 44. B REBREE B 0 R BER @)
policies (continued)

(c) Interest rate risk (continued) () HM=[E (&)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BERESM
The Group
rEH
2017 2016
—E—tF —ET—RF
Increase/ Effect on Increase/ Effect on
(decrease) in profit/(loss) Effect on (decrease) in profit/(loss) Effect on
interest rate for the year equity interest rate for the year equity
HEE HEE
MEEFH - FE (FE) Hiks MEEHA FHE/(EEB) HER
(& &) k-2 Y &2 ("~ &) ob-% - -
% RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR Tt AR T ARBFT AR T T
1 (4,866) (4,866) 1 (7,810) (7,810)
(1) 4,866 4,866 (1) 7,810 7,810
The sensitivity analysis above indicates the N EGRESTETR - BREAME
instantaneous change in the Group's profit/(loss) BENREHEAAEREE I
for the year and equity that would have arisen A R S B E AR B R TE R B
assuming that the change in interest rates had 7% T EATEESF R R RE - &K
occurred at the end of the reporting period and SEFEFNB (BB kEx
had been applied to the exposure to interest rate RERES c —F—RNEMNDIT
risk for the financial instruments in existence at T AERBELEHETT o
that date. The analysis has been performed on the
same basis as 2016.
(d) Currency risk (d)  HNEE = B

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases, bank loans and cash and bank
deposits that are denominated in a foreign currency,
i.e. a currency other than the functional currency of the
operations to which the  transactions relate. The
currencies giving rise to this risk are primarily the United
States Dollar, Euros, the Hong Kong Dollar, the Japanese
Yen and the Chinese Yuan. Management does not
expect any significant impact from movements in
exchange rates since the Group uses the foreign
currencies collected from customers to settle the
amounts due to suppliers.

AEBEAZWIINERR  EEHRB N
SN (BN XX S ARRE RO K A5 T aE B ¥ 2A
SNOEE) FHEMHE RIRE - R1THE
FARRE RRITER - EEZRAR
MEBITEREXT BT BT A
B R rh BT - & 3R fE 3 T TR B I R
SERENEATE REARALE
B {E A B &P WERH INE TS (B A
& 7 FRIR o
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44. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

(d) Currency risk (continued)
(i) Exposure to currency risk

The following table details the Group’s exposure
at the end of the reporting period to currency risk
arising from recognised assets or liabilities in the
consolidated statement of financial position (after
elimination of intercompany receivables and
payables) denominated in a currency other than
the functional currency of the entity to which they

44, B EBREEBE N RBE@®

(d) SMNERBz (&

(i)

HMEE R B2

TRANAEERBERNHEE
B AR RS E R - S E R R
AERE RGN G
ERER&EE B RE (KH
2 7] ) B WK TR e AN SRR R )
BRNEEXBEMESL °

relate.
Exposure to foreign currencies (expressed in Renminbi)
HERR(AARBTIE)
2017 2016
“E-tE ZE-RE
United United
State Hong Kong Japanese Chinese States Hong Kong Japanese Chinese
Dollars Euros Dollars Yens Yuans Dollars Euros Dollars Yens Yuans
E B BT RE HE T eI B BT HE HE T
RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000 RMB'000
ARETR ARETR ARETR ARETRT ARETT BNESTNG SN SN S WU S
Trade and other KB SEAR
receivables Efb YR 6,349 5376 = = = 3554 726 = = =
Cash at bank and in BARTERS
hand 9,636 1,014 816 1,158 484 19,611 350 879 - 2,346
Bank and other loans  HRITREMER (138,499) (58,436) = = (120,000) (289,045) (60,426) = = (120,000)
Trade and other ERBSEIR
payables H N (585) (#1,720) (391) (1,193) - (945) (44) (1,941) (996) -
(123,099) (93,766) 425 (35) (119,516) (266,825) (59,394) (1,062) (996) (117,654)
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44. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (continued)

44,

BERBREEENREBE®

(d) Currency risk (continued) (d)  HMEE = B2 (48)
(i) Sensitivity analysis (i) BERESM
The following table indicates the instantaneous TRETASBERRNRERFELS
change in the Group's profit/(loss) for the year and HHAES KRB ERA g
accumulated losses in equity in response to REWEE  MBMAKEFEAR
reasonably possible changes in the foreign B/ (BRLrESZREBRL
exchange rates to which the Group has significant IH R BN & &) o
exposure at the end of the reporting period.
2017 2016
—E—tfF —E-RE
Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in foreign Effect on in foreign Effect on
exchange profit/(loss) Effect on exchange profit/(loss) Effect on
rates for the year equity rates  for the year equity
HEE HEF
Bxt#/ B/ (HE) bap -0 ER EA S FIE(B18) YR
(T &) 07 B (R &) -2 b2
% RMB’000 RMB’000 % RMB'000 RMB'000
ARBTRT AR¥BTR ARBFTT ARETR
United States Dollars X7 10 (12,310) (12,310) 10 (26,805) (26,805)
(10) 12,310 12,310 (10) 26,805 26,805
Euros BT 10 (9,377) (9,377) 10 (5,944) (5,944)
(10) 9,377 9,377 (10) 5,944 5,944
Hong Kong Dollars BT 10 43 43 10 (106) (106)
(10) (43) (43) (10) 106 106
Japanese Yens (=RE 10 (4) (4) 10 (100) (100)
(10) 4 4 (10) 100 100
Chinese Yuans T 10 (11,952) (11,952) 10 (11,765) (11,765)
(10) 11,952 11,952 (10) 11,765 11,765

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
foreign exchange rates had been applied to re-
measure those financial instruments (excluding
intercompany receivables and payables which are
eliminated in the consolidated financial
statements) held by the Group which expose the
Group to foreign currency risk at the end of the
reporting period. The analysis excludes differences
that would result from the translation of the
financial statements of Group companies into the
presentation currency. The analysis has been
performed on the same basis as 2016.

FREDTIRZ KA A RE
REPEMAELEBARES
HR & B 4 8 B AREINER
SHZEN B TACIRIEGRA
B 75 3 2k R HE 8H B9 2 ) ] R KRR
BREMNRIE) - TS BEE
AEEVBREAVUEREREE
FTEENZER - —E— 809
R AN R Y E AT o
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44. Financial risk management objectives and 44. M REBREE B B R BER @)

policies (continued)
(e) Capital management

The Group actively and regularly reviews and manages
its capital structure to maintain a balance between the
higher shareholder returns that might be possible with
higher levels of borrowings and the advantages and
security afforded by a sound capital position, and makes
adjustments to the capital structure in light of changes
in economic conditions.

The Group monitors its capital structure on the basis of
a gearing ratio. For this purpose, the Group defines
gearing ratio as total borrowings to total share capital
and reserves.

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2017 and 2016 were

(e)

AEEBEGEHRRINERLERNES
B ESEREKTAARTERESK
REH - A RIBREE A AR H A
BEMREMETEREGFE - XA
EEBEBENBEMBHEENERE -

AEBNEERBLERERHEEARE
Bo-tME AKEKEEREL
XEBREREERBRRYTERARFEE
B EE R o

KRB+ ER-—F—~<E+=A

as follows: =+t—BEWEEABLLEMAT
2017 2016
—E—+tE AN S
note RMB’000 RMB'000
B =E AR® Tt AR F T
Current liabilities: REEME:
Bank loans RITER 28 1,922,322 2,036,867
1,922,322 2,036,867
Non-current liabilities: kRBEE:
Bank and other loans RITREMER 28 124,758 179,780
124,758 179,780
Total borrowings EEHE 2,047,080 2,216,647
Share capital % < 276,727 276,727
Reserves 18 673,612 533,769
950,339 810,496
Gearing ratio EEABLE 215.4% 273.5%

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries are
subject to externally imposed capital requirements.
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45. Events after the reporting period 45. REMEREE
No significant events after the reporting period are noted. MEHBESBERNSHEE -

46. Statement of financial position of the 46. & T B AR R &K

Company
Information about the statement of financial position of the R IRE B & 8 B AR B B AR OR R /9 & 1
Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: mr
2017 2016
—E-tF —E-RF
RMB’000 RMB’'000
AR® TR ARET T
Non-current assets EREBEE
Investments in subsidiaries KRB RARMKEE 1,352,661 1,478,500
Current assets REBEE
Cash at banks and in hand WITRFHERES 480 529
480 529
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables H th FE {5 308 4,413 3,759
4,413 3,759
Net current liabilities REEETFE (3,933) (3,230)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERRBAEE 1,348,728 1,475,270
Net assets BEEZEE 1,348,728 1,475,270
Capital and reserves EXREE
Share capital & A< 276,727 276,727
Reserves (note) & (M EE) 1,072,001 1,198,543
Total equity DB 1,348,728 1,475,270
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46. Statement of financial position of the 46. A7) B BN TR @)
Company (continued)

Note: B =
Share Exchange Accumulated Total
premium reserve losses equity
IR 10 % B 5 REE e i ERBEHE
RMB'000 RMB’'000 RMB’'000 RMB'000

ARBETT ARETRET ARETT ARETRT

Balance at 1 January 2016 R=-B—-RE—HA—H
Y & 64 1,731,645 (60,995) (590,291) 1,080,359
Changes in equity for 2016: TE-XREHNEEED:
Loss for the year FEBIE - - (2,194) (2,194)
Other comprehensive income H 2wk A = 120,378 = 120,378
Total comprehensive income 2EBA B = 120,378 (2,194) 118,184
Balance at 31 December 2016 R=—ZFB-XxE+=A
and 1 January 2017 =E+—BR=ZZE—tF
—B— B 1,731,645 59,383 (592,485) 1,198,543
Changes in equity for 2017: TE-LFEHNEEEE:
Loss for the year FEEE = - (2,181) (2,181)
Other comprehensive income Hih2EKA
- (124,361) - (124,361)
Total comprehensive income 2HERARE - (124,361) (2,181) (126,542)
Balance at 31 December 2017 R=-—Z—t&+=A
=+t —-BH&EER 1,731,645 (64,978) (594,666) 1,072,001
47. Approval of the financial statements 47. W EBEIRE
The financial statements were approved and authorised for ErepglN S \E=-A -+ —HZEXL
issue by the board of directors on 21 March 2018. A B B IR R E o
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